



Secondary Succession in Tropical Dry Forests

Drivers and Mechanisms of Forest Regeneration

Géraldine Derroire

Bangor University College of Natural Sciences School of Environment, Natural Resources and Geography & Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Faculty of Forest Sciences Southern Swedish Forest Research Centre, Alnarp

Doctoral Thesis Bangor, United Kingdom & Alnarp, Sweden - 2016 Acta Universitatis agriculturae Sueciae 2016:66

Cover: Tropical dry forest of Santa Rosa, Costa Rica (photo: Géraldine Derroire)

ISSN 1652-6880 ISBN (print version) 978-91-576-8634-3 ISBN (electronic version) 978-91-576-8635-0 © 2016 Géraldine Derroire, Bangor & Alnarp Print: SLU Repro, Alnarp 2016

Secondary Succession in Tropical Dry Forests. Drivers and Mechanisms of Forest Regeneration

Abstract

Secondary succession is a complex process involving numerous factors acting across scales. Understanding secondary succession in tropical dry forests is important for the conservation and restoration of this highly threatened biome. My research aims to improve knowledge of the trajectories and drivers of secondary succession in this biome, and the underlying mechanisms. I used a combination of literature synthesis, observational and experimental approaches to study plant-plant interactions and community changes during succession.

Through review of published studies, I showed that established trees have a mainly positive effect on the seed dispersal, survival and germination of the subsequent generation of woody plants. However, the balance between positive and negative effects is more complex at the seedling establishment stage and can be influenced by the precipitation regime. Meta-analyses of chronosequence studies showed an increase in tree and shrub species richness with succession and a slow convergence of successional forest species composition with that of old-growth forests. Using survey of young woody plants establishing under isolated trees in pastures, I showed that the attributes of the trees influence the functional composition of the regeneration assemblages but are only weakly related to their taxonomic composition. The position of isolated trees in the landscape is also influential, but this is complex and sitespecific. Through extensive sampling of leaf functional traits of sapling communities in secondary forests of different successional age, I found that community functional composition shifts from conservative towards acquisitive strategies of resource economics, through both species turnover and intraspecific variation of trait values. Five of the measured traits also showed directional changes with tree ontogeny. Lastly, an experimental test of seed fate showed that leaf litter reduced seed removal in successional forests. Seed germination rate was higher in successional forests compared with open sites and generally benefited from the presence of litter. Overall, this research suggests a higher predictability of successional trajectories when studied through functional rather than taxonomic composition. It also shows heterogeneity in successional trajectories among tropical dry forests that require further study.

Keywords: biodiversity, community assembly, Costa Rica, environmental gradients, facilitation, plant functional traits, regeneration niche

Author's address: Géraldine Derroire, Bangor University, School of Environment, Natural Resources and Geography, Deiniol Road, Bangor, Gwynedd, LL57 2UW, UK *E-mail:* g.derroire@bangor.ac.uk

Contents

List	List of Publications			
Abb	reviations	11		
1	Introduction	13		
1.1	Importance of tropical secondary forests	13		
1.2	Secondary succession in tropical forests	15		
	1.2.1 Models of forest succession: determinism and stochasticity	15		
	1.2.2 Factors influencing secondary succession in tropical forests	16		
	Abiotic environmental factors	16		
	Surrounding landscape	1/		
	Initial vegetation	18		
1.3	Importance of plant-plant interactions for succession	19		
	1.3.1 Types of plant-plant interactions	19		
	1.3.2 Core processes for deterministic niche-based models of			
	succession	20		
1.4	Species-based and functional trait-based approaches			
	1.4.1 From context-specific accuracy to global comparisons	21		
	1.4.2 Functional traits and plant strategies	22		
	1.4.3 Variation of functional trait values within and among species	24		
1.5	Tropical dry forests	26		
	1.5.1 Definitions, distribution and state of conservation	26		
	1.5.2 Highly seasonal environment	28		
	1.5.3 Specificities of regeneration in tropical dry forests	30		
	1.5.4 Changes during succession in tropical dry forests	32		
1.6	Ecological restoration in tropical forests	33		
2	Objectives	37		
3	Material and methods	41		
3.1	Study area and study sites	41		
3.2	Data acquisition	44		
	3.2.1 Systematic review of the literature	44		
	3.2.2 Observational approach: vegetation survey	44		

	Pape	r II: species diversity and composition	45	
	Pape	r III: species and functional compositions	46	
	Pape	Five originated energy of	47	
	3.2.3		47	
	3.2.4	Environmental conditions	49	
3.3	Data a	analysis	49	
	3.3.1	Meta-analysis	49	
	3.3.2	Ordination	50	
	3.3.3	Regression	50	
4	Main	results and specific discussion	53	
4.1	Effect	s of established trees on woody regeneration	53	
	4.1.1	Positive versus negative interactions at each stage of		
		regeneration	53	
	Effec	ets on seed dispersal	53	
	Effec	ts on post-dispersal survival of seeds	53	
	Effec	ts on seed germination	54	
	Effec	ets on seedling establishment	54	
	4.1.2	Support for the stress gradient hypothesis	55	
4.2	Chan	ges in species diversity and composition during succession	56	
	4.2.1	Resilience of species richness and convergence of species		
		composition	56	
	4.2.2	Factors affecting the rates of changes	58	
4.3	Isolate	ed trees as nuclei of regeneration in pasture	59	
	4.3.1	Effect of the surrounding landscape	59	
	4.3.2	Effect of isolated trees	59	
4.4	Comn	nunity assembly during succession	61	
	4.4.1	Changes in functional composition with succession	61	
	4.4.2	Importance of intraspecific variation of functional trait values	62	
	Intra	specific variation along the successional gradient	63	
	Intra	specific changes due to ontogeny	63	
4.5	The ir	ifluence of changing abiotic and biotic environmental conditions		
	during	succession on the fate of seeds	63	
	4.5.1	Influence on seed removal	64	
	4.5.2	Influence on seed germination	67	
5	Gene	ral discussion	69	
5.1	Predic	ctability of successional trajectories	69	
5.2	Differe	ence in successional trajectories between tropical dry forests	71	
5.3	Implication for ecological restoration of tropical dry forests 72			
6	Critic	al assessment and future research	75	

6.1	Critical assessment of my PhD research	75
6.2	My short-term research priorities	79
6.3	Recommendations for future research	80
7	Conclusion	83
Refe	rences	85
Ackr	nowledgments	109
Appendices 111		111
	Appendix 1. Characteristics of the species tested in the stud	y of seed fate. 112
	Appendix 2. Characteristics of the three sites used in the stu	dy of seed fate.
		113
	Appendix 3. Effect of litter treatment and site on microclimate	atic conditions
	in the study of seed fate.	113

List of Publications

This thesis is based on the work contained in the following papers, referred to by Roman numerals in the text:

- I Derroire, G., Tigabu, M., Odén P.C., Healey, J.H. (2016). The effects of established trees on woody regeneration during secondary succession in tropical dry forests. *Biotropica*, 48(3), pp. 290-300.
- II Derroire, G., Balvanera, P., Castellanos-Castro, C., Decocq, G., Kennard, D.K., Lebrija-Trejos, E., Leiva, J.A., Odén, P.C., Powers, J.S., Rico-Gray, V., Tigabu, M., Healey J.R. (2016). Resilience of tropical dry forests – a meta-analysis of changes in species diversity and composition during secondary succession. *Oikos*, doi: 10.1111/oik.03229.
- III Derroire, G., Coe, R., Healey, J.H. (2016). Isolated trees as nuclei of regeneration in tropical pastures: testing the importance of niche-based and landscape factors. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, doi:10.1111/jvs.12404.
- IV Derroire, G., Powers, J.S., Hulshof, C.M., Cárdenas Valera, L.E, Healey, J.H. Functional strategies change through species turnover and intraspecific variation in tropical dry forest succession (manuscript under review).

Papers I, II and III are reproduced with the permission of the publisher Wiley-Blackwell.

Preliminary results of a study of the influence of changing abiotic and biotic environmental conditions during succession on the fate of seeds (referred to as the study of seed fate) are also presented and discussed in the thesis. The contribution of Géraldine Derroire (GD) to the papers included in this thesis was as follows:

- I GD reviewed the literature, carried out the analysis and wrote the first version of the paper. All co-authors contributed to editing the paper. GD was responsible for most of the correspondence with the journal, with advice from John Healey (JH). The overall contribution of GD is estimated to be 95%.
- II GD designed this study with advice from JH, reviewed the literature, corresponded with authors of published papers to obtain data, carried out the meta-analysis and wrote the first version of the paper. All co-authors contributed to editing the paper. GD was responsible for most of the correspondence with the journal, with advice from JH and input from co-authors. The overall contribution of GD is estimated to be 95%.
- III GD designed this study with advice from JH and collected the data with Roberto Espinoza. GD did the statistical analysis with advice from Richard Coe. GD wrote the first version of the paper and all co-authors edited it. GD was responsible for most of the correspondence with the journal, with advice from JH. The overall contribution of GD is estimated to be 95%.
- IV GD designed the study with advice from JH, Jennifer Powers and Catherine Hulshof. GD was responsible for data collection with help from Luis Cárdenas Valera, Daniel Perez Aviles, Christina Smith and Erick Calderon Morales. GD carried out the chemical analyses and the statistical analysis. GD wrote the first version of the paper and all co-authors edited it. The overall contribution of GD is estimated to be 95%.

Abbreviations

ACG	Área de Conservación de Guanacaste
AIC	Akaike information criterion
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
DBH	Diameter at breast height
FAO	Food and agriculture organisation
FRA	Global forest resources assessment
GLM	Generalised linear model
LA	Leaf area
LCC	Leaf carbon concentration
LDMC	Leaf dry matter content
LNC	Leaf nitrogen concentration
LPC	Leaf phosphorous concentration
PCA	Principal component analysis
PIC	Phylogenetically independent contrast
RDA	Redundancy analysis
SLA	Specific leaf area

1 Introduction

1.1 Importance of tropical secondary forests

Most of the tropical forests of the future are expected to be "secondary forests regenerating after previous clearing" (Wright & Muller-Landau, 2006). The current extent of tropical secondary forests is difficult to estimate, partly because of differences in definition of secondary forest. For the Global Forest Resources Assessment (FRA), the Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations (FAO) uses the designation of "other naturally regenerating forest" for any non-planted forests with clear "visible signs of past or present human activity" (FAO, 2010). The FRA 2010 estimated that these forests account for 57% of the world's total forest area (FAO, 2010), and more than 80% of the tropical countries that provided data reported an area of "other naturally regenerating forests" exceeding that of primary forest (Chazdon, 2014). However, the definition used by the FAO is broad: it encompasses both degraded forests (after logging activity for instance) and forests re-establishing after another land use, two types of forests differing greatly in their structure, composition and dynamics (Putz & Redford, 2010; Chazdon, 2014). For the present study, I use "secondary forests" to refer exclusively to forests establishing after previous deforestation (Wright & Muller-Landau, 2006; Putz & Redford, 2010), which Chazdon (2014) prefers to call "second-growth" or "regenerating forests" to avoid ambiguity. To refer to forests with no signs of human activity, I prefer the more neutral term of "old-growth forests" to the terms "mature forests", "primary forests" or "pristine forests".

Because of the importance of their current and estimated future extent, it is important to understand the ecology of tropical secondary forests and their potential for biodiversity conservation and provision of ecosystem services. Secondary forests have an important role to play for the provision of regulating and supporting ecosystem services¹. They have a high capacity for carbon sequestration in biomass: Martin et al. (2013) estimated that tropical secondary forests can recover 83% the aboveground biomass stock of old-growth forest in 85 years (based on 326 secondary forest plots) and Poorter et al. (2016) estimated that neotropical secondary forests can recover 90% in an average of 66 years (based on 28 forest sites). Poorter et al. (2016) also found that the average aboveground carbon uptake rate over the first 20 years was 11 times that of old-growth forests (based on 44 sites). Belowground biomass stock seems to be slower to recover: Martin et al. (2013) found that it reaches only 50% of the stock of old-growth forests after 80 years (based on 76 plots). Trends for soil carbon are less clear: Martin found a very weak correlation between soil carbon and successional age, with soil carbon stocks in secondary forests similar to those in old-growth forests (185 plots), whereas Don et al. (2011) estimated that secondary forests store 9% less carbon in their soil than old-growth forests, using a definition of secondary forest that includes managed and partially exploited forests (71 studies). Although the provision of other ecological services has been less studied and not quantitatively synthesised, Chazdon (2014) reviewed evidence of their importance for many hydrological functions (such as evapotranspiration) and nitrogen fixation.

For biodiversity, several quantitative reviews show the capacity of secondary forests to recover levels of richness of animal and plant species similar to those of old-growth forests within a few decades. On the basis of 39 studies considering mainly insects and vertebrates, Dunn (2004) found that the animal species richness of tropical secondary forests can reach that of oldgrowth forests after two to four decades. Martin et al. (2013) estimated this recovery time to be five decades for tree species (based on 204 secondary forest plots) and to be more than a century for epiphyte species (based on 65 secondary forest plots). The rates of recovery of animal and plant species composition are however slower than species richness (Dunn, 2004; Martin et al., 2013). Reviewing 65 studies, Dent and Wright (2009) showed that many animal species of old-growth forests can colonize secondary forests, but some highly specialised ones do not. These results, together with the predictions of Wright and Muller-Landau (2006) for future forest cover, support the potential of secondary forests to mitigate species extinction due to deforestation but suggest that secondary forests cannot fully replace old-growth in term of biodiversity conservation (Chazdon, 2014).

^{1.} as defined by the Millennium Ecosystem Assessment (2003)

1.2 Secondary succession in tropical forests

1.2.1 Models of forest succession: determinism and stochasticity

Succession has been a major focus of plant community ecology for more than a century (McIntosh, 1999), yet the processes underlying assembly of secondary forests continue to be actively researched (Norden et al., 2015). The early view of Clements (1916) of deterministic and convergent succession towards a single state of equilibrium (monoclimax hypothesis), was highly holistic (Finegan, 1984) and drew an analogy between the development of an ecosystem and that of an organism. The relay floristics model (Egler, 1954), close to Clements' view, describes a successive replacement of species during succession, based on facilitation of the establishment of later successional species by earlier ones (facilitation model of Connell and Slatyer, 1977). Other more individualistic and reductionist models consider that all groups of species are present from the beginning of succession and successively assume dominance (the initial floristic composition model of Egler, 1954): either species of late succession become dominant by tolerating environmental conditions in which early successional species cannot survive (tolerance model of Connell and Slatyer, 1977), or species dominant earlier in succession inhibit the establishment of later ones (inhibition model of Connell and Slatyer, 1977) leading to "arrested succession". These deterministic models are all based on the idea that trade-offs between plant traits promote success in different stages of succession (Huston & Smith, 1987). The deterministic character of succession was challenged as early as the 1920s by Gleason (1926) who introduced the notion of unpredictability. Lawton (1987) proposed a model of succession based only on random survival of established species and colonisation by new species, paving the way for the neutral theory of community assembly (Hubbell, 2001). Although deterministic niche-based and neutral models have often been treated as mutually exclusive explanations for observed patterns of succession, a growing body of literature shows the importance of the integration of the two (Chave, 2004; Tilman, 2004; Gravel et al., 2006; Norden et al., 2015). The alternative stable states model combines elements of both: it states that an ecosystem can follow one of several possible successional trajectories, depending on past events and the timing of arrivals of organisms combined to some random events (Young et al., 2001; Temperton & Hobbs, 2004). However, its general applicability to forest ecosystems has recently been challenged (Newton & Cantarello, 2015).

Moving away from the opposition between deterministic and neutral models of succession, the focus of research has shifted towards understanding the relative contribution of deterministic events and stochastic ones (Norden *et*

al., 2015) and assessing the factors affecting successional trajectories (Chazdon, 2003). The aim is now to understand if, and under what circumstances, secondary communities converge towards the state of the vegetation before disturbance or lead to alternative stable states (Young *et al.*, 2005; Norden *et al.*, 2009).

I therefore define forest succession as the set of changes (in structure, composition and functioning) occurring in an entire forest following a previous non-forested state, without making an *a priori* inference about its predictability. I focus on secondary succession, the form of succession that occurs on land where legacies of the previous ecosystem (such as soil or propagules) are still present, as opposed to primary succession (Chazdon, 2003). Forest re-establishing on land previously used for agricultural activities is the most common type of successional forests in the tropics (Chazdon *et al.*, 2007).

1.2.2 Factors influencing secondary succession in tropical forests

In this section, I present the multiple interacting factors that influence successional trajectories in tropical forests, at scales ranging from the region to the community. They first affect the early stages of succession, which in turn modify biotic and abiotic conditions for the later stages, and therefore have long-term effect on secondary forests (Figure 1). I provide examples from both wet and dry tropical forests (the distinct characteristics of tropical dry forests are highlighted in section 1.5).

Abiotic environmental factors

Several abiotic environmental factors can influence trajectories of secondary succession at scales ranging from the region to the site. The climate of the region affects successional trajectories: quantitative reviews have shown that precipitation regime affects the rate of aboveground biomass recovery (Becknell *et al.*, 2012; Poorter *et al.*, 2016) and the relative importance of vegetative *versus* seed reproduction (McDonald *et al.*, 2010). Soil properties of the site can affect the structure, dynamics, and species richness and composition of successional forests (Gehring *et al.*; Finegan & Delgado, 2000; Ceccon *et al.*, 2003; Ceccon *et al.*, 2004; Powers *et al.*, 2009).



Figure 1. Conceptual framework of the factors influencing succession in tropical forests. Surrounding landscape and past and present management are not considered to be abiotic environmental factors but they act at spatial and temporal scales that partially overlap with these. Boxes encircled by a black line are the factors acting from the beginning of succession (discussed in this section).

Surrounding landscape

The composition of the surrounding landscape is important: nearby forests (old-growth forests and riparian vegetation) act as a source of seeds that can colonize the successional site (Chazdon, 2014). The distance to the nearest forest and area of forest in the landscape influences the structure and species diversity (Slocum & Horvitz, 2000; Griscom *et al.*, 2009; Sovu *et al.*, 2009; Duarte *et al.*, 2010; Gomes Reis Lopes *et al.*, 2012). The direction of the forest relative to the dominant winds can also affect the relative proportion of seeds with different dispersal syndromes dispersed into successional forests (Janzen, 2002; Castillo-Nunez *et al.*, 2011). Scattered trees and live-fences improve seed dispersal in the landscape by acting as stepping stones and corridors for animal dispersers (Estrada *et al.*, 1993; Chazdon *et al.*, 2011).

Past and current management

Past and current management affects successional trajectories. The type of land use before its abandonment has an effect on the structure and rate of biomass accumulation, the species richness and composition, and the relative proportion of dispersal syndromes of the plants in successional forests (Ferguson et al., 2003; Larkin et al., 2012; Martin et al., 2013). This is due to several reasons: different past land uses have different impact on the soil (e.g. compaction, erosion, fertility) (Maass et al., 1988; De Wilde et al., 2012). The vegetation present at the time of abandonment also differs between past land uses (this point is developed in the next paragraph). The duration and intensity of the previous land use are also important factors (Pereira et al., 2003; Sovu et al., 2009). Fire, used for management purposes or accidental, occurring before or after the abandonment of the previous land use decreases species richness and changes the species composition by favouring fire-tolerant species and species capable of resprouting (Rico-Gray & Garcia-Franco, 1992; Marod et al., 2002; Hooper et al., 2004). When fire is especially intense it can severely reduce regeneration by destroying the soil seed bank and killing roots (Kennard et al., 2002). Grazing occurring in successional forests decreases biomass and species accumulation (Griscom et al., 2009), alters species composition (Stern et al., 2002) and can also have the beneficial effect of grass control (Blackmore & Vitousek, 2000; Janzen, 2002; Stern et al., 2002; Larkin et al., 2012). Lastly, restoration activities also affect successional trajectories (see section 1.6).

Initial vegetation

The vegetation in situ at the beginning of succession influences the establishment of woody vegetation. Grasses, and especially highly productive exotic species planted in pasture sites, have an overall negative effect on the regeneration of woody plants. Because of their high seed dormancy capacity, some herbaceous species can remain dominant in the soil seed bank a long time after the beginning of succession (Martins & Engel, 2007; Maza-Villalobos et al., 2011b). In many cases, grass reduces or removes the capacity of woody species to establish by competing with them for resources (Cabin et al., 2000; Cabin et al., 2002b; Ferguson et al., 2003; Hooper, 2008; Griscom et al., 2009; Thaxton et al., 2012; Wolfe & Van Bloem, 2012). Moreover, grass is a highly combustible fuel biomass and can increase the risk of fire incidence and its intensity (D'Antonio & Vitousek, 1992; Blackmore & Vitousek, 2000). However, in some cases, grasses can provide suitable conditions for woody species establishment (Hardwick et al., 1997; Esquivel et al., 2008). Woody vegetation present at the beginning of succession, such as isolated trees in pastures and remnant trees in land under shifting cultivation, can enhance regeneration of woody species (Guevara *et al.*, 1992; Carrière *et al.*, 2002b; Schlawin & Zahawi, 2008) through resprouting (Kammesheidt, 1999; Sampaio, 2007), input of seeds (directly or through attraction of animal dispersers) (Guevara *et al.*, 1986; Slocum & Horvitz, 2000; Carrière *et al.*, 2002a; Chazdon, 2014) and amelioration of microclimate (Duarte *et al.*, 2010). Remnant trees can have long-lasting effects (at least 20 years after beginning of succession) on the species diversity and composition of secondary forests through their impact on the regeneration process (Sandor & Chazdon, 2014).

1.3 Importance of plant-plant interactions for succession

In this section, I present the different types of plant-plant interactions and explain their importance for succession. I do not review empirical evidence of plant-plant interactions during succession as this is done for tropical dry forests in paper I and summarised in section 4.1.

1.3.1 Types of plant-plant interactions

Plant-plant interactions are processes by which a plant influences the establishment and fitness of other plants, positively (facilitation) or negatively (competition). They can have an effect on ecological processes and patterns from the individual to the landscape scale (Bruno *et al.*, 2003), and are therefore important in structuring plant populations and communities (Bertness & Callaway, 1994).

Competitive interactions have been much more studied yet facilitative interactions have received increasing interest since the 1990s (Michalet & Pugnaire, 2016). Facilitation and competition often co-occur in the same community and the balance between these processes is complex (Callaway & Walker, 1997). It can depend on the intensity of abiotic constraints: Grime (1979) suggested that competition was more important in high productivity environments. Conversely Bertness and Callaway (1994) made the hypothesis that facilitation was more important in environments with high abiotic stress or high consumer pressure. This hypothesis, called the stress gradient hypothesis, has been supported by a number of meta-analyses (e.g. Lortie and Callaway 2006; He et al. 2013) but challenged by other studies (Maestre et al., 2005; Soliveres & Maestre, 2014; Butterfield et al., 2016), and empirical evidence suggests that beyond a threshold of harshness of environmental conditions competition can overtake facilitation and result in a negative net effect on plant performance (Maestre & Cortina, 2004; Siles et al., 2010). The outcome of plant-plant interactions can also depend on the life stages (Callaway & Walker, 1997): suitable conditions for the younger stages of a plant's regeneration cycle

can be unsuitable for its adult stage (Grubb, 1977) and the outcome of plantplant interactions can change from facilitative to competitive during the life of a plant. Finally, Ganade *et al.* (2008) suggest that there can be an interplay of the stress gradient hypothesis and the effect of life stage.

Another way of looking at plant-plant interactions is to consider the mechanisms underlying them. Direct interactions happen through modification of the abiotic environment (light, temperature, soil moisture, chemical or physical properties) whereas indirect interactions happen through a third organism (*e.g.* herbivore, pollinator, seed disperser, mycorrhizal fungus or soil microbe) (Callaway, 1995; Bruno *et al.*, 2003; Callaway, 2007).

1.3.2 Core processes for deterministic niche-based models of succession

Plant-plant interactions are central to deterministic niche-based models of succession. The model of Clements (1916) and the facilitation model of Connell and Slatyer (1977) are based on an amelioration of environmental conditions by early successional species (*i.e.* species that establish and dominate at early stages of succession) for late successional species, whereas the tolerance and inhibition models (Connell & Slatyer, 1977) are based on negative interactions. The realised niche is often viewed as the set of environmental conditions in which a species can establish, considering biotic interactions with other species (Bruno *et al.*, 2003). Facilitation can therefore result in an expansion of the realised niche and competition in a reduction (Bruno *et al.*, 2003; Callaway, 2007; Bulleri *et al.*, 2016).

The nurse plant effect, defined as facilitation of the recruitment of plants under the canopy of other plants (Callaway & Walker, 1997; Rodríguez-Echeverría *et al.*, 2016), is commonly observed during succession in tropical forests. Shrubs, such as the nitrogen fixing *Leucaena leucocephala* in Puerto Rico (Molina Colon & Lugo, 2006; Santiago-Garcia *et al.*, 2008; Wolfe & Van Bloem, 2012) and *Chromolaena odorata* in West Africa (Kassi N'Dja & Decocq, 2008), or trees, such as several species of *Mimosa* or *Guazuma ulmifolia* in Mesoamerica (Romero-Duque *et al.*, 2007; Lebrija-Trejos *et al.*, 2008; Williams-Linera *et al.*, 2011), can facilitate the establishment of other species under their cover. On the other hand, the inhibition of woody species by grass after abandonments of pasture sites (described in section 1.2.2) is an example of negative interactions.

1.4 Species-based and functional trait-based approaches

1.4.1 From context-specific accuracy to global comparisons

The taxonomic approach, giving a central role to the species, has long been the main approach adopted in community ecology (McGill et al., 2006). This approach focusses on species-specific requirement and pairwise interactions between species (McGill et al., 2006). It is particularly valuable for conservation, restoration and management. It allows emphasis to be placed on species that are seen as having high conservation value, such as highly threatened (IUCN, 2015) or emblematic species (Clark & May, 2002; Sergio et al., 2006), identification of geographical priorities for conservation (Myers et al., 2000; Jenkins et al., 2013) and guiding of management practices (such as species choice by practitioners). However, the species-based approach has several limitations. (1) It relies on the assumption that the species level is the most appropriate level to understand plant ecology, in other words that most of the variation of traits related to plant fitness and function is greater between species. This is challenged by the hypothesis of phylogenetic conservatism suggesting that higher taxonomic levels can be more relevant (Ackerly, 1999), and by an increasing number of studies showing substantial variation in trait values within species (this point is detailed in section 1.4.3). (2) The speciesbased approach reaches its limits of practicality in species rich ecosystems, such as tropical forests. (3) The highly context-specific and locally-contingent understanding of ecological processes resulting from this approach impedes comparison between sites and assessment of general patterns of community assembly and functioning (Duarte et al., 1995; Simberloff, 2004; McGill et al., 2006).

Non-taxonomic approaches are based on the idea that species are not functionally unique entities (Duarte *et al.*, 1995). Using the characteristics of plants, rather than their taxonomic identity, to classify them and understand their function is not a new approach (Garnier *et al.*, 2016). This approach has developed over the last century, notably with the work of Raunkiaer (1934), Grime (1979) and Noble and Slatyer (1980) and has gained momentum in the last two decades with the increasing number of studies based on functional traits². Functional traits are defined as "any morphological, physiological or phenological feature measurable at the individual level" (Violle *et al.*, 2007) and relate to the function and fitness of organisms (Lavorel & Garnier, 2002; McGill *et al.*, 2006; Violle *et al.*, 2007). They can provide mechanistic answers

². See the post of Brian McGill on the blog Dynamic ecology

⁽https://dynamicecology.wordpress.com/2015/07/01/steering-the-trait-bandwagon/)

to questions ranging from the individual and population scales, such as those relating to predicting the performance and fitness of plants (Reich et al., 2003; Wright et al., 2010), to the ecosystem scale, such as assessing ecosystem functioning (Tilman et al., 1997; Diaz & Cabido, 2001; Lavorel & Garnier, 2002) and services (Diaz et al., 2007). At the community scale, the functional trait-based approach provides information about community assembly. Mean trait values can be used to understand how environmental gradients structure plant communities (Lohbeck et al., 2013; Fortunel et al., 2014). Characteristics of the distribution of traits in a community can help in assessing the importance of abiotic environmental filtering (expected to produce under-dispersed trait distribution), and competition, leading to niche differentiation between species (hypothesis of "limiting similarity", expected to produce over-dispersed trait distribution) (Chesson, 2000; Cornwell et al., 2006). However, competition can also result in under-dispersed trait distribution (as does abiotic environmental filtering) through "equalizing mechanisms" (Chesson, 2000). Consideration of different types of traits (resource acquisition traits *versus* regeneration traits) and the types of null model used to test hypotheses can help distinguish between these different mechanisms (Grime, 2006; Bernard-Verdier et al., 2012).

By providing an approach based on a limited number of traits, as an alternative to a high number of species, the functional trait approach reduces the dimensionality and complexity of plant communities (McNamara *et al.*, 2012; Laughlin, 2014). Furthermore, most traits can be measured in any plants worldwide while the set of species present in a community is dependent on the local species pool. As a result, the great value of the trait-based approach is the potential for global comparisons to determine which trends of plant community responses to, and effects on, their environment are common among plant communities globally, and which are more locally specific (Duarte *et al.*, 1995; Reich *et al.*, 1997; McGill *et al.*, 2006).

1.4.2 Functional traits and plant strategies

The identification of plant strategies which summarise the capacity of plant species to establish and reproduce in a given environment (Grime, 1979), is an approach to using functional traits that further reduces dimensionality (Laughlin, 2014). Discrete classifications of species according to their resource requirements, such as guilds (Root, 1967) and functional groups (Cummins, 1974), have progressively lost their importance with the increasing emphasis on continuous spectra of strategies (Laughlin, 2014). In the framework of Grime (1979), species' strategies are located inside a triangle with its three corners being competitive, stress-tolerance and ruderal strategies respectively

(the "C-S-R triangle theory"). The exact position of a species in the triangle is defined by its traits and corresponds to its relative tendency to fit each of these strategies; "generalist" species are located in the centre.

The exploration of correlations among functional traits allows the identification of the main axes defining the patterns of trait variations and, potentially, the trade-off between strategies (Laughlin, 2014). Westoby (1998) proposed a three dimensional scheme based on just three functional traits: specific leaf area (SLA), height of the plant at maturity and seed mass (the "LHS" scheme). These traits represent three main axes of trait variation termed: resource economics, stature and regeneration (Garnier et al., 2016). In a recent study on the largest sample of plant species ever analysed, Díaz et al. (2016) considered six important traits related to growth, survival and regeneration and showed that most of their variation was accounted for by just two axes: the first being defined by plant and propagule sizes (with short species tending to have small propagules) and the second related to leaf resource economics (explained below). Although the intrinsic number of axes of variation in functional traits remains an open question, Laughlin (2014) found it to be higher than the three proposed by Westoby (1998). Laughlin (2014) used a variety of methods to estimate dimensionality of three different datasets and found that their median dimensionality ranged between four and six. He recommends the use of traits of several organs and the consideration of additional types of traits, such a phenological and life-history traits.

The axis of trait variation that has been developed and tested with most empirical evidence is that of leaf resource economics. This is the axis that I focus on in paper IV. Wright et al. (2004) showed the evidence for a main axis of leaf functional traits across plants worldwide, which has been called the leaf economics spectrum. At one end of this spectrum are productive strategies with a fast return on investment of resources in leaves characterized by high leaf nutrient concentrations, high metabolic rates and short leaf lifespan, also called acquisitive strategies (Reich, 2014). At the other end, conservative strategies, with a slow return on investment, are characterized by low metabolic rates, and expensive leaf construction and defence costs allowing a longer leaf lifespan. There is also evidence for one main axis representing variation in such economics strategies for other plant organs: stems (Reich et al., 2003; Chave et al., 2009) and roots (Prieto et al., 2015; Roumet et al., 2016). Reich (2014) propose the integration of the economics spectra of organs into a whole-plant economics spectrum defined by the variation between slow/conservative and fast/acquisitive strategies, although empirical results show decoupling of these spectra (Baraloto et al., 2010b). In line with the hypothesis of Grime (1979) that there is a positive correlation of the capacities of a species to acquire

different resources, Reich (2014) provides evidences for the association of these spectra with all resources gradients (light, water, nutrients); acquisitive strategies being advantageous in high resource environments and conservative strategies enhancing survival in low resource environments.

1.4.3 Variation of functional trait values within and among species

Although functional traits are defined as features measured at the scale of individuals (Violle *et al.*, 2007), most functional trait-based studies in community ecology overlook the variation in trait values occurring within species (Violle *et al.*, 2012), following the idea that "to be useful to community ecology, traits should vary more between than within species" (McGill *et al.*, 2006). Standard protocols recommend sampling a limited number of individuals per species in standardised environmental conditions (Cornelissen *et al.*, 2003; Perez-Harguindeguy *et al.*, 2013) and calculating a mean value per species from these which is used to calculate functional diversity indices of communities (Laliberte & Legendre, 2010; Mouchet *et al.*, 2010). However, this approach is increasingly challenged and there is growing recognition of the importance of intraspecific variation of functional trait values (Lepš *et al.*, 2011; Violle *et al.*, 2012; Laughlin & Messier, 2015).

Several studies have shown that variation of trait values within species is not negligible compared with variation between species. Siefert *et al.* (2015) carried out a meta-analysis of 629 plant communities worldwide for 36 functional traits and showed that intraspecific variation accounted for an average of 25% of the total trait variation within communities and 32% of the total trait variation across communities. For tropical forests, Messier *et al.* (2010) and Hulshof and Swenson (2010) partitioned the variance of trait values for commonly measured leaf functional traits across nested scales³. Messier *et al.* (2010) found that intraspecific variance accounted for 48% of the total variance of trait values for SLA and leaf dry matter content (LDMC), and Hulshof and Swenson (2010) found that the contribution of intraspecific variance ranged from 35 to 68% of the total variation (for leaf area, dry mass, SLA and leaf water content).

Intraspecific variation of functional trait values can result from both the genetic variation between individuals and the capacity of a genotype to express different phenotypes (Violle *et al.*, 2012; Garnier *et al.*, 2016). The latter can occur as a response to variation in environmental conditions in space or in time (*e.g.* between seasons, Gotsch *et al.*, 2010) (Violle *et al.*, 2012), which is called

³. *N.B.* The results of such studies partitioning the variance of trait values across scales are highly dependent on methodological choices (sampling design and number and order of nested levels considered) (Messier *et al.*, 2010) and therefore need to be compared with caution.

phenotypic plasticity (Valladares *et al.*, 2006). Genetic variability and phenotypic plasticity are difficult to disentangle without experimental studies, but doing so is not essential for community studies because both mechanisms can be a response to environmental conditions (Violle *et al.*, 2012), although over different time scales (natural selection by past conditions over a long evolutionary time scale for genetic variability and changes at the scale of the life of an individual for phenotypic plasticity). The phenotypes expressed by a given genotype can also change with the development of a plant (ontogeny) (Thomas & Winner, 2002; Niklas & Cobb, 2008; Spasojevic *et al.*, 2014).

The importance of considering intraspecific variation for studies of community ecology is supported by both theoretical arguments and empirical evidence. Treating species' functional trait values as discrete single values (e.g. by using species mean value) gives average information on the environmental requirements of species (Violle et al., 2012). Considering it as the withinspecies distribution (i.e. the distribution of trait values measured on different individuals of the same species) provides information on a species' capacity to establish and thrive in different conditions of resource availability and interactions with neighbouring plants (Violle et al., 2012; Laughlin & Messier, 2015). This latter approach provides a better assessment of the niche of a species, which is important in community ecology to understand mechanisms of species coexistence and community assembly. Including intraspecific variation of functional trait values can therefore provide a better understanding of abiotic and biotic drivers of community assembly (Violle et al., 2012). This is supported by empirical evidence: several studies have shown that intraspecific variation can be important in explaining community variation along environmental gradients (e.g. Lepš et al., 2011; Carlucci et al., 2015). Furthermore, observed patterns in interspecific variation, such as trait correlations (Laughlin & Messier, 2015) or direction of change along environmental gradients (Albert et al., 2010; Lepš et al., 2011; Kichenin et al., 2013), do not necessarily hold for intraspecific variation. These are reasons in favour of a change from a species-based to an individual-based approach to community ecology. Ultimately this could lead to species identity having a much diminished importance (Messier et al., 2010). However, there are good theoretical and empirical reasons for considering both interspecific and intraspecific variation, which is the approach I use for paper IV. (1) Phylogenetic conservatism of trait values predicts that individuals that are phylogenetically close should have close trait values, therefore it supports the importance of the species and higher phylogenetic levels (Ackerly, 1999). (2) Many studies show that the interspecific level is the one where the highest variation is found (e.g. Markesteijn et al., 2007; Hulshof and Swenson, 2010;

Powers and Tiffin, 2010). (3) A sampling approach based solely on individuals would require the measurement of traits on all individuals in a community (Violle *et al.*, 2012), which is difficult in practice. It is important to move from the use of a single trait value per species across all communities to a separate value per species per community (Baraloto *et al.*, 2010a; Lepš *et al.*, 2011). At present there is an urgent need for studies that identify the circumstances under which it is important to consider intraspecific variation, such as that of Spasojevic *et al.* (2016).

1.5 Tropical dry forests

1.5.1 Definitions, distribution and state of conservation

There are several definitions of tropical dry forests. Mooney et al. (1995) merely define tropical dry forests as "forests occurring in tropical regions where there are several months of severe, even absolute, drought". Most definitions are based on a range of mean annual precipitation, e.g. 250-2000 mm (Murphy & Lugo, 1986), 400-1700 mm (Gerhardt & Hytteborn, 1992), 500-2000 mm (Holdridge, 1967; Becknell et al., 2012) or 700-2000 mm (Sanchez-Azofeifa et al., 2005), and some definitions also use a minimum mean annual temperature, 17 °C (Holdridge, 1967) or 25 °C (Sanchez-Azofeifa et al., 2005). As well as these two, Holdridge (1967) based his definition on a third variable, the annual ratio of potential evapotranspiration to precipitation (> 1). Other definitions consider a minimum number of dry months⁴, e.g. three (Sanchez-Azofeifa et al., 2005), four (Becknell et al., 2012) or ~ six (Gerhardt & Hytteborn, 1992). For the present study, I define tropical dry forests as forests with a mean annual precipitation of 500-2000 mm, a mean annual temperature > 17 °C and at least three dry months (monthly precipitation < 100 mm).

Although the seasonality of precipitation is a major environmental factor affecting the ecological processes of both tropical dry forests and savannas, they are distinct vegetation types differing in their structure and ecology (Dexter *et al.*, 2015; Veenendaal *et al.*, 2015). In the Neotropics, they also have distinct floristic compositions (Pérez-García & Meave, 2006; Dexter *et al.*, 2015). While tropical dry forests are dominated by trees, and have a relatively closed canopy and a higher aboveground biomass, savannas are more open and are characterised by the presence of an abundant grass layer (Pennington *et al.*,

⁴ There is generally no precipitation during the dry months. Many definitions of tropical dry forests do not specify a definition of dry month. Sanchez-Azofeifa *et al.* (2005) define it as a month with < 100 mm precipitation.

2000; Pennington et al., 2006; Pennington et al., 2009; Veenendaal et al., 2015), usually of species with a C4 photosynthetic pathway (Dexter et al., 2015). Tropical dry forests and savannas can occur under similar climatic conditions and therefore often co-exist in the same area (Pennington et al., 2006; Pennington et al., 2009). Their structural and floristic differences are, however, the results of distinct environmental drivers that have shaped the evolution of their distinct floristic assemblages (Furley, 2007). Fire is considered to be the major environmental factor responsible for the differences in the ecology of these two vegetation types: while natural fire is an essential part of the ecology of savannas, tropical dry forests usually do not experience fire, except when caused by human activities (Hughes et al., 2013; Dexter et al., 2015). As a consequence of their different environmental drivers, forest and savanna plant species have different sets of trait values. Savanna species are generally more tolerant of fire due to adaptions such as thick and corky bark, protected buds, and large investment in carbohydrate reserves and high root biomass allowing them to quickly resprout after a fire. In contrast, forest species usually lack these adaptations but have a faster growth rate enhancing their competitiveness in the denser forest environment, as well as the ability to regenerate under a closed canopy (Hoffmann, 2000; Pennington et al., 2000; Furley, 2007; Pennington et al., 2009; Hoffmann et al., 2012).

A number of studies have shown that savannas can transition to forests in the absence of fire, or conversely that forests can become savannas under the influence of anthropogenic fires (Hoffmann et al., 2012; Veenendaal et al., 2015). Savannas and tropical dry forests can therefore be seen as alternative stable states governed by fire (Veenendaal et al., 2015). Hoffmann et al. (2012) propose two types of threshold for the transition between savannas and forests: the fire-resistance threshold characterised by the accumulation of bark that avoids stem death, and the fire-suppression threshold reached when the canopy cover is sufficient to exclude the fire-prone grass layer. Since savanna tree species accumulate bark more quickly than forest species, and forest species form a closed canopy more quickly than savanna species, Hoffmann et al. (2012) state that species traits are important in influencing the transition between the two vegetation types. Moreover, the amount of resource available also affects this transition: resource-rich sites can allow both the fire-resistance and the fire-suppression thresholds to be reached more quickly (Hoffmann et al., 2012), explaining why forests generally occur on more fertile soil than savannas (Pennington et al., 2000; Linares-Palomino et al., 2003; Pennington et al., 2006). Fire and soil fertility are therefore the two main interacting abiotic factors affecting the occurrence of forest or savanna in seasonality dry tropical climates (Veenendaal et al., 2015).

Tropical dry forests⁵ represent 42% of the extent of the world's tropical forests (Murphy & Lugo, 1986). Miles et al. (2006) estimate that they cover a total of more than 1 million km² across the three tropical regions, the majority of which is in the Neotropics $(66.7\%)^6$. Because of their attractive climate for human activities, they have been extensively deforested (Murphy & Lugo, 1986; Maass, 1995) and their current extent covers only a fraction of their original one (Aronson et al., 2005). At the end of the 1980s, Janzen (1988) declared that tropical dry forest was "the most endangered major tropical ecosystem". Unfortunately, tropical dry forest continues to be endangered; Miles et al. (2006) estimated that 97% of the current area of tropical dry forest is subject to one or more of the following threats: climate change, forest fragmentation, fire, conversion to agriculture and human population growth. Despite these threats, much less research has been conducted in tropical dry forests compared with moister ones (Sanchez-Azofeifa et al., 2005; Vieira & Scariot, 2006b; Quesada et al., 2009). A good understanding of how their environmental characteristics affect their dynamics is therefore important for their conservation and restoration.

1.5.2 Highly seasonal environment

"The dry forest may appear uniformly green during the rainy season, but during the dry season this homogeneity changes into a complex mosaic of tens of habitat types distinguished by the different drying rates of different soils and exposures, different ages of succession, and different vegetation types." (Janzen, 1988, p. 131)

The strong seasonality of precipitation is the most characteristic feature of tropical dry forests (Mooney *et al.*, 1995). The alternation of a dry season with virtually no rain, high irradiance and high evaporative demand and a wet season with high precipitation controls the timing of vegetative and reproductive processes (Murphy & Lugo, 1986; Janzen, 1988; Holbrook *et al.*, 1995; Quesada *et al.*, 2009; Maass & Burgos, 2011), leading to striking differences in the forest environment between seasons (Figure 2). In tropical dry forests, the factors limiting plant performance therefore change between seasons from water-limitation during the dry season to light-limitation during the wet season.

⁵ sensu Holdridge (1967)

 $^{^{6}}$ N.B. Miles *et al.* (2006) restrict their definition of forest to areas with at least 40% tree cover, which is likely to exclude most savanna and miombo areas.



Figure 2. Contrasting green leaf cover between seasons in tropical dry forest. Photos taken from *mirador Tierras Emergidas* (Santa Rosa, Costa Rica) on 10/05/14 (dry season) and 01/07/14 (wet season) (photos Géraldine Derroire).

Most growth of tropical dry forests trees occurs during the wet season (Lopezaraiza-Mikel et al., 2013). The consequence of this limited duration of the growing period is a generally lower net primary productivity than in moister forests (Murphy & Lugo, 1986; Vieira & Scariot, 2006b). Several plant strategies linked to greater tolerance of water limitation during the dry season coexist in tropical dry forests (Giraldo & Holbrook, 2011): woody plants have leaf phenological patterns ranging along a gradient of deciduousness (Frankie et al., 1974; Opler et al., 1980b; Borchert, 1994). The patterns of correlation between leaf phenological habit (i.e. evergreen or deciduous character) and other plant functional traits is still insufficiently understood (Hulshof et al., 2013). Some studies show that deciduous trees have leaf trait values associated with the acquisitive end of the leaf economics spectrum (Sobrado, 1991; Pringle et al., 2011), while other studies show a great overlap of functional trait values between deciduous and evergreen trees (Brodribb & Holbrook, 2004; Powers & Tiffin, 2010). The relationship between rooting depth of trees and their leaf phenology is also variable (Giraldo & Holbrook, 2011). The seasonal

changes in canopy openness resulting from tree deciduousness lead to contrasted microclimatic conditions in the understorey (Parker *et al.*, 2005; Lebrija-Trejos *et al.*, 2011).

The seasonality of precipitation also influences reproductive phenology. There is a peak of flowering in each season (Justiniano & Fredericksen, 2000; Frankie *et al.*, 2004) and the timing of flowering depends on resource allocation between vegetative and reproductive processes (Borchert, 1983; Singh & Kushwaha, 2006) and on the pollination agent (Frankie *et al.*, 2004). The timing of fruiting is mainly linked to the dispersal syndrome: seeds dispersed by wind (anemochory) or gravity tend to be produced during the dry season while fleshy-fruited zoochorous species fruit mainly during the rainy season (Ray & Brown, 1994; Sobral Griz & Machado, 2001; Vieira & Scariot, 2006b; Vieira *et al.*, 2008). Most seeds remain dormant until the beginning of the wet season when there is a peak of germination, as found by Garwood (1983) in the seasonal tropical moist forest of Barro Colorado Island. Seedlings emerging early in the wet season can experience a longer growth period before the next dry season, which reduces their mortality (Van Schaik *et al.*, 1993; Khurana & Singh, 2001; Vieira & Scariot, 2006b).

1.5.3 Specificities of regeneration in tropical dry forests

The soil seed bank of tropical dry forests has a low density of accumulated seeds of woody species (Skoglund, 1992; Janzen, 2002). Seeds tend to germinate in the year following their production (Janzen, 2002). Seeds are also lost due to predation, desiccation or fire (Skoglund, 1992; Janzen, 2002; Kennard *et al.*, 2002; Maza-Villalobos *et al.*, 2011b). The soil seed bank therefore has a limited role in the re-establishment of forests through natural processes after another use of the land (Janzen, 2002; Kennard *et al.*, 2002; Lemenih & Teketay, 2005; González-Rivas *et al.*, 2009; Maza-Villalobos *et al.*, 2011b), and secondary succession is generally dependent on other sources of propagules.

Anemochory is a more important mode of seed dispersal in tropical dry forests than in moister ones (Gentry, 1995; Janzen, 2002). Vieira and Scariot (2006b) reported percentages of anemochorous species in several neotropical dry forests ranging from 30% to ~ 60% whereas this percentage was less than 20% in wet and moist forests. Anemochorous species are particularly important for secondary succession because their seeds can travel longer distances in fragmented landscapes and open areas than seeds of zoochorous species (Cubiña & Aide, 2001; Janzen, 2002; Castillo-Nunez *et al.*, 2011). They also tend to be less prone to desiccation than seeds of fleshy fruits (Vieira & Scariot, 2006b), which increases their survival in open areas.

Vegetative reproduction through resprouting is an important mode of regeneration in tropical dry forests (Ewel, 1977; Vieira & Scariot, 2006b). Resprouts can benefit from a more developed root system than seedlings, which allows better acquisition of soil resources, and, in some cases, from reallocation of carbohydrates stored in the roots, which can increase growth and survival rates in the early stage of establishment (Kennard *et al.*, 2002). This mode of regeneration is therefore the one most commonly observed after disturbance events that leave stumps or belowground stem or root tissue, although the importance of vegetative regeneration depends on the precipitation regime and the intensity of disturbance (Sampaio *et al.*, 1993; Kennard *et al.*, 2002; McDonald *et al.*, 2010).

Several authors have suggested that the gap dynamics model, which emphasises the importance of canopy gaps for regeneration in tropical wet forest, may not apply to tropical dry forests (Quesada et al., 2009; Lebrija-Trejos et al., 2010a; Lévesque et al., 2011). Several reasons are proposed for this difference. (1) Because of their more open canopy, light availability may be less limiting for seedling establishment in tropical dry forest, and the shade provided by the canopy may actually improve seed germination and seedling survival rate (Hardwick et al., 1997; Teketay, 1997; Hoffmann, 2000; Cabin et al., 2002a; McLaren & McDonald, 2003a; McLaren & McDonald, 2003b; Vieira et al., 2006; Santiago-Garcia et al., 2008; Wolfe & Van Bloem, 2012). (2) Resprouting is often considered to be a more common regeneration mode in tropical dry forests, as shown by Ewel (1977) who compared wet and dry forest sites in Costa Rica and Puerto Rico, and supported by many study reporting high rates of resprouting in tropical dry forests (as reviewed by Vieira and Scariot, 2006b). Reviewing a number of studies in tropical dry forests, McDonald et al. (2010) also showed that resprouting was more common in the drier sites. (3) Tropical dry forests are expected to have a lower rate of canopy gap formation then moister forests. Dickinson et al. (2001) found a low occurrence of tree uprooting in tropical dry forests, which they attributed to higher stability of trees due to their shorter stature, higher root-toshot ratio, lower epiphyte load and lower frequency of storms. However, other evidence from tropical dry forests may actually support the effect of canopy gaps on regeneration. Dechnik-Vazquez et al. (2016) found a higher number of individuals and species of seedlings in gaps than under closed canopy, but no difference in species composition. Diamond and Ross (2016) found that the seedlings in canopy gaps generally belonged to late-successional species.

1.5.4 Changes during succession in tropical dry forests

The structure of tropical dry forests changes quickly in the early stages of secondary succession. Based on a quantitative review of 44 studies, Becknell *et al.* (2012) showed a rapid increase in aboveground biomass in the first two decades of succession followed by a slower increase. Similar trends have been found for crown area and basal area (Sovu *et al.*, 2009; Lebrija-Trejos *et al.*, 2010a; Dupuy *et al.*, 2012). The rate of increase of components of forest structure depends on soil characteristics (Powers *et al.*, 2009), distance to old-growth forests (Gomes Reis Lopes *et al.*, 2012) and the intensity of disturbance caused by the previous land use (Molina Colon & Lugo, 2006; Romero-Duque *et al.*, 2007). Becknell *et al.* (2012) showed that aboveground biomass recovered within three to five decades. The amount of biomass depended on the mean annual precipitation of the area, with higher biomass in moister areas, but the time needed to reach it did not. I do not review here the changes in species richness and composition because this is the subject of the meta-analysis presented in paper II and summarized in section 4.2.

These structural changes have obvious consequences for the forest microclimate, yet they are rarely quantified. The only study of which I am aware is that of Lebrija-Trejos *et al.* (2011), who studied a 60-year chronosequence in Mexico. They found that understorey light levels and air and soil temperatures decreased while relative humidity increased, during succession. Soil water availability showed an initial increase followed by a decrease, probably as a result of increased transpiration of canopy trees. More studies on the changes in environmental conditions during succession are needed.

In comparison with moister tropical forests, aboveground biomass generally accumulates at a lower absolute rate in tropical dry forests (Ewel, 1977; Poorter *et al.*, 2016). However, because the quantity of biomass and basal area in old-growth forests is also lower in drier forests (Murphy & Lugo, 1986; Poorter *et al.*, 2016), the time needed to recover the structure of an old-growth forest in tropical dry forest can be similar to that in moister forests (Quesada *et al.*, 2009; Poorter *et al.*, 2016).

Because of their generally lower structural complexity, the difference in understorey light levels between the early and later stages of succession is smaller in tropical dry forests than in moister forests, and the changes in temperature and humidity may be stronger drivers of change in plant communities during succession (Lebrija-Trejos *et al.*, 2010b; Lebrija-Trejos *et al.*, 2011). As a result, the change in plant strategies during succession is expected to differ between tropical dry and moister forests (Lohbeck *et al.*, 2013; Letcher *et al.*, 2015). In tropical wet forests, the decrease in understorey

light availability with succession leads to a change from acquisitive to conservative strategies (Boukili, 2013; Lohbeck *et al.*, 2013; Lohbeck *et al.*, 2015). However in tropical dry forests, the high drought tolerance generally associated with conservative strategies (Reich, 2014) can reduce mortality in the face of high evaporative demand in early successional environments, which suggests a change from conservative to acquisitive strategies with succession. This hypothesis has only received mixed support from field studies (Lebrija-Trejos *et al.*, 2010b; Lohbeck *et al.*, 2013; Becknell & Powers, 2014; Buzzard *et al.*, 2015), and leaf phenological habit and morphological traits that contribute to leaf cooling and control of water status can be more important in explaining changes in community functional composition during succession than those traits generally associated with leaf economics strategies (Lebrija-Trejos *et al.*, 2010b; Lohbeck *et al.*, 2015).

1.6 Ecological restoration in tropical forests

Ecological restoration, "assisting the recovery of an ecosystem that has been degraded, damaged, or destroyed" (SER, 2016), can increase biodiversity and the delivery of ecosystem services (Chazdon, 2008; Holl, 2012). Ecological restoration requires a good understanding of ecological processes (Hardwick *et al.*, 2004; Aronson & Vallejo, 2008; Holl & Aide, 2011), among which succession is of the utmost importance (Palmer *et al.*, 1997; Young, 2000; Hobbs *et al.*, 2007). Indeed, most restoration projects aim to mimic and accelerate this natural process (Dobson *et al.*, 1997; Palmer *et al.*, 1997; Walker *et al.*, 2007), maximizing efficiency and minimizing human input, and therefore minimizing the cost of restoration projects (Hardwick *et al.*, 2004; Chazdon, 2008). In this section, I do not aim to review exhaustively the techniques of ecological restoration of tropical forests but rather to present an overview of the most common ones and to show how ecological restoration can benefit from knowledge acquired by the study of natural succession.

There are a range of restoration techniques requiring different levels of input from the practitioner (Chazdon, 2008; Griscom & Ashton, 2011). Passive restoration, also called "unassisted restoration", requires no human intervention besides the removal of activities causing degradation (*e.g.* human-induced fire, grazing) (Holl & Aide, 2011; Zahawi *et al.*, 2014). Such a technique is effective, and sometimes better than more active intervention, in cases where there is no major barrier to the arrival and successful establishment of forest tree species (Sampaio *et al.*, 2007; Holl, 2012). In other cases, a variety of active restoration techniques can be used to alleviate these barriers: for example, perches placed in the restoration site can attract birds and hence

increase seed inputs (Shiels & Walker, 2003; Graham & Page, 2012), and removing grass can reduce competition and favour seedling establishment (Hardwick *et al.*, 1997; Cabin *et al.*, 2002a). These techniques are often referred to as "assisted natural regeneration" or "accelerating natural regeneration" (Hardwick *et al.*, 1997; Shono *et al.*, 2007). The introduction of woody species' individuals, as seed in the case of direct seeding or as planted seedlings, is necessary when the arrival of propagules is low or absent, but can also be used to accelerate succession or to introduce desired species that are missing (Griscom & Ashton, 2011). Observational and experimental studies carried out in natural forests can improve our understanding of the mechanisms and factors influencing degradation and succession (Figure 1) and provide insight into site-specific opportunities as well as constraints to restoration in order to select the most appropriate and cost-effective technique (Chazdon, 2008; Holl & Aide, 2011).

There are two main restoration techniques based on the plantation approach. Planting evenly-spaced seedlings across the whole site, in monoculture or mixed stands, is the classical method (Lugo, 1997; Parrotta et al., 1997). The more recent applied-nucleation technique is gaining momentum as it offers a reduced-cost alternative. It is based on planting small patches of trees that then act as regeneration nuclei. With time, these nuclei expand and eventually coalesce, forming a continuous and heterogeneous tree cover (Holl et al., 2010; Reis et al., 2010; Corbin & Holl, 2012; Zahawi et al., 2013). Applied nucleation and other restoration planting methods aiming to foster the establishment of other species besides the planted ones are based on application of the nurse plant effect (described in section 1.3.2): planted trees improve seed deposition, reduce grass competition and provide suitable microclimatic conditions for the arrival and establishment of other woody plants (Parrotta et al., 1997; Hardwick et al., 2004; Griscom & Ashton, 2011; Holl, 2012). These techniques therefore rely on the availability of propagules dispersed from the surroundings of the restoration site (Florentine & Westbrooke, 2004; Holl, 2012). The choice of species used for restoration planting and applied nucleation is, however, important because this choice influences the subsequent generations of trees that establish and therefore the long-term outcome of restoration (Parrotta, 1995; Murcia, 1997; Padilla & Pugnaire, 2006). In some cases, there is a risk of competition between planted trees and newly establishing ones that can slow down succession (Padilla & Pugnaire, 2006; Sampaio et al., 2007).

Although planting a monoculture of exotic species has been used for restoration (Lugo, 1997; Feyera *et al.*, 2002), the use of a mixture of native species is increasingly preferred (Chazdon, 2003; Griscom & Ashton, 2011;

Holl, 2012). This technique requires a good knowledge of the ecology of these species for which the study of forest undergoing natural succession can be valuable. The "framework species" method aims to identify a set of suitable species for restoration planting based on their establishment success in open areas and capacity to quickly form a canopy, attract animal dispersers and provide suitable microclimatic conditions for the establishment of other species (Elliott *et al.*, 2003; Holtz & Placci, 2005). A functional trait-based approach can be useful to narrow down the list of candidate species by helping predict their performance and informing on other desired characteristics to meet restoration objectives (Martínez-Garza *et al.*, 2005; Martinez-Garza *et al.*, 2013; Ostertag *et al.*, 2015). Intraspecific variation of traits can also be useful to assess the potential plasticity of a species in response to a variety of environmental conditions (Martínez-Garza *et al.*, 2005).
2 Objectives

The overall objective of my research is to contribute field-based knowledge to advance ecological theories of secondary succession in tropical dry forests. I especially focus on (1) the models and long-term trajectories of succession and their drivers (papers II and IV) and (2) the underlying mechanisms and processes (papers I, III and study of seed fate). Each study considers a subset of the overall framework (Figure 1) by focussing on a restricted spatial and temporal scale (Figures 3 to 7). By providing information on the opportunities and barriers to natural succession, my results can have applications for science-based ecological restoration practices. The specific objectives are the following:

Identify the mechanisms by which established trees influence the establishment of woody plants leading to later stages of succession

Paper I focuses on the community and individual scales. It aims to identify the mechanisms of positive and negative plant-plant interactions between adult trees and each stage of the regeneration of young woody plants during secondary succession (Figure 3). The methodological of this study is approach the systematic review of observational and experimental studies. Understanding



Figure 3. Conceptual framework of paper I.

of these mechanisms has application for the use of the nurse plant effect in ecological restoration.

Assess the resilience capacity of tropical dry forest tree and shrub communities and identify the factors affecting their degree of resilience

Paper II considers the long-term trajectories of succession. It uses a metaanalysis approach to assess the resilience capacity of taxonomic diversity and composition of tree and shrub communities in successional tropical dry forests (Figure 4). It also tests if regional abiotic environmental factors (precipitation regime and water availability) and land use history of the site influence the rate and directionality of changes in taxonomic diversity and composition. The results can help to identify the opportunities and barriers to restoration of the diversity of tropical dry forests and guide the choice of restoration strategies (passive *versus* active restoration).



Figure 4. Conceptual framework of paper II.

Identify the factors structuring woody plant assemblages under isolated pasture trees

Paper III considers the first stage of secondary succession in pasture sites. The aim is to test the importance of landscape factors and attributes of isolated trees in explaining the properties of the woody plant regeneration assemblages beneath their crowns (Figure 5). Both the taxonomic and functional compositions of



Figure 5. Conceptual framework of paper III.

the regeneration assemblage are considered. The methodological approach is survey of the woody vegetation regenerating under a large sample of pasture trees. The results can inform practitioners about the factors to consider when selecting species to plant to initiate restoration (or which trees to prioritise for protection within pasture), especially when using the technique of applied nucleation.

Identify the direction and drivers of change in functional composition of sapling communities during succession

Paper IV considers the long-term trajectories of succession at the scale of the tree community. It uses a functional trait-based approach and assesses the

relative contribution of species turnover and intraspecific variation to the response of community-level trait values to changes in environmental

conditions (Figure 6). The methodological approach is measurement of leaf functional traits all of saplings in plots of two chronosequences. The results of this study can inform on the values of functional traits associated with different stages of succession.



Figure 6. Conceptual framework of paper IV.

Assess the influence of the changing abiotic and biotic environmental conditions during secondary succession on the fate of tree seeds and identify the underlying mechanisms

The study of seed fate addresses one of the research gaps identified by Paper I. It focuses on the community and individual scales and considers an open pasture area, and young and intermediate-aged secondary forests. It uses an experimental approach to test the relative influence of shading by tree canopies and leaf litter as



Figure 7. Conceptual framework of the study of seed fate.

factors determining the fate of seeds (removal by predators and germination) artificially dispersed into the sites (Figure 7). The results will provide information on the potential of restoration by direct sowing.

3 Material and methods

3.1 Study area and study sites

Three of the studies (papers III and IV and the study of seed fate) were based on field data that I collected in, or in the surroundings of, the *Área de* Conservación de Guanacaste (ACG) (ACG, 2016), in the north-west of Costa Rica (Figure 8). This area has been extensively used for agriculture (mainly cattle farming, and sugar cane and cotton cultivation) and wood extraction since the Spanish conquest in the early 1500s, which led to the clearing of most of the forested area by the 1970s. This trend started to reverse in the 1980s as a result of the combination of conservation policies and changes in economic activities (Calvo-Alvarado et al., 2009). In the mid-1980s, an ambitious restoration project started at the instigation of Dr Daniel Janzen (Janzen, 2002; Aronson et al., 2005). This project is mainly based on fostering the natural reestablishment of the forest by alleviating the main barriers to forest regeneration through the purchase of degraded agricultural land, the exclusion of cattle and the control of anthropogenic fires (Janzen, 2002). Originally centred around the 10 000 ha of tropical dry forests of the Santa Rosa National Park, the conservation area has gradually extended to reach the current 163 000 ha of protected area comprising marine, tropical dry forest, cloud forest and rain forest habitats (ACG, 2016).



Figure 8. Study area and study sites. The red square on the map on the left indicates the area enlarged on the right. The map on the right shows the study sites: red for paper III, blue for paper IV and green for the study of seed fate.

The study area is at the wet end of the rainfall gradient of tropical dry forests, with ~ 1640 mm mean annual precipitation (data from the meteorological station of Liberia 10.58°N; 85.53°W collected between 1958 and 2014, Instituto Meteorológico Nacional de Costa Rica, 2016). The climate is characterised by strong seasonality of precipitation with a 5-6 month dry season and more than 95% of the mean annual precipitation falling during the May-November wet season (Figure 9). Mean temperatures vary little over the year and have an annual mean of 27.5 °C (data from the meteorological station of Liberia collected between 1977 and 2014, Instituto Meteorológico Nacional de Costa Rica, 2016). Maximum temperatures can exceed 40 °C (personal measurement).



Figure 9. Climate diagram of the study area. Data *Instituto Meteorológico Nacional de Costa Rica*, meteorological station of Liberia 10.58°N; 85.53°W. Precipitation 1958-2014, temperature 1977-2014 (Instituto Meteorológico Nacional de Costa Rica, 2016).

The landscape is a mosaic of pastures and secondary forests of different ages, resulting from the history of land use. The natural vegetation is tropical dry forest (Holdridge *et al.*, 1971) formed by a mixture of evergreen trees and trees of diverse degrees of deciduousness (Borchert *et al.*, 2004). Janzen (2002) estimated that an old-growth forest in the area has 30-60% of its canopy space occupied by evergreen trees, while the proportion is higher in the understory. Woody lianas are abundant in successional forests but less so in the closed-canopy old-growth forests (Sanchez-Azofeifa *et al.*, 2009). In nearby tropical dry forest, Frankie *et al.* (1974) found that 30% of the species were anemochorous, which is a relatively low proportion when compared with other tropical dry forests (Vieira & Scariot, 2006b), and 50% of species had fleshy fruits.

The dry forests of Guanacaste host a high number of plant species. Janzen and Liesner (1980) listed almost 1000 species of plants, excluding grasses and non-vascular cryptogams, encountered in Guanacaste. Gillespie et al. (2000) found an average of 12 species of trees and shrubs and 4.5 species of lianas per 100 m² in Santa Rosa, making this the richest of the seven tropical dry forest sites that they studied in Nicaragua and Costa Rica, and one of the richest ones in the whole Neotropics. As in all Neotropical dry forests with the exception of the Caribbean and Florida, Leguminosae is the most species-rich family in Guanacaste (Gentry, 1995; Gillespie et al., 2000; Pennington et al., 2006; Pennington et al., 2009). Bignoniaceae is the family represented by the most species of lianas (Gentry, 1995; Gillespie et al., 2000). There is generally little overlap in species composition between these dry forests and the neighbouring moist forests (Murphy & Lugo, 1995). This floristic differentiation between tropical dry and wet forests is consistent with the finding of Dexter et al. (2015) that, within the Neotropics as in the other tropical areas, there is a clustering of floristic composition by vegetation type⁷. This trend indicates strong phylogenetic biome and niche conservatism, only lineages with adaptations enabling survival of drought being able to establish in tropical dry forests (Hughes et al., 2013). However, Gentry (1995) reported the occurrence of moist forests plants, such as species in the genera Ficus and Psychotria, in the tropical dry forests of Guanacaste, which he attributed to the presence of moister gallery forests in the dry forest landscape. At the continental scale, the tropical dry forests of Costa Rica have floristic affinities with a wide range of tropical dry forests including those in Mexico and Central America, the Caribbean and the Northern part of South America (Colombia and Venezuela), with different classifications showing stronger affinities with one or the other of these floras (Linares-Palomino et al., 2003; Linares-Palomino et al., 2011).

 $^{^{7}}$ N.B. At the global scale, however, the clustering by continent is stronger.

The affinities of floristic composition between these areas results from the dispersal opportunities provided by the land bridge of the Panama Isthmus since its closure \sim 3 million years ago, but also through island stepping stones before that (Murphy & Lugo, 1995; Linares-Palomino *et al.*, 2003; Bagley & Johnson, 2014).

Natural fires are extremely rare in Guanacaste (Hartshom, 1983). No fires caused by lightning have been observed during the dry season and natural fires are limited to those caused by volcanic activity (Janzen, 2002). As a consequence, there are no natural savannas in Guanacaste, and there is no evidence for the presence of savannas in the past (Janzen, 2002). On the other hand, anthropogenic fires are frequent and fostered by the presence of fire-prone exotic grasses such as *Hyparrhenia rufa* in pasture sites (Daubenmire, 1972; Janzen, 2002). They are a major barrier to forest regeneration in the early stage of succession and their control is therefore a key factor in the success of the restoration of the dry forest in Guanacaste (Janzen, 2002).

For paper III, I worked in three active pasture sites located in private land (Ahogados 10.80°N, 85.54°W, Lamentos 10.74°N, 85.63°W and Aromal 10.73°N, 85.60°W). For paper IV, I collected data in Santa Rosa (10.84°N, 85.62°W), in plots in successional forests located to span two chronosequences in each of two distinct forest types (oak dominated forests and forests with a more even mixture of species). For the study of seed fate, I worked in an open area and two successional forests in the Experimental Forest Station of Horizontes (10.74°N, 85.57°W) (Figure 8).

3.2 Data acquisition

3.2.1 Systematic review of the literature

For papers I and II, I used data and observations from previously published studies. To increase objectivity, comprehensiveness and repeatability, I followed a systematic protocol to search for and select studies (Pullin & Stewart, 2006; Woodcock *et al.*, 2014). I searched at least two databases of scientific literature using an explicit search string. I then selected the studies following clearly reported inclusion criteria.

3.2.2 Observational approach: vegetation survey

Papers II, III and IV use an observational approach based on vegetation surveys to study changes occurring during succession at the scale of whole tree communities.

Paper II: species diversity and composition

For paper II, I used raw data provided by the authors of the included studies in the form of floristic tables of species abundance for plots at different successional ages. The tree community of each plot was characterised in terms of species richness, species evenness and similarity of species composition with the composition of old-growth forests.

To calculate species richness, I used the standardisation method proposed by Colwell *et al.* (2012) to account for differences in stem density among plots. I used the individual-based approach, as I had one sample for each community (*i.e.* plot), with multinomial model to be able to standardise the species richness to a chosen number of individuals (15 in this case). When the actual number of individuals in the plot was less than 15, the species richness was obtained by rarefaction (interpolation) and when it was greater than 15, the species richness was obtained by extrapolation. Combining the two methods was not a problem because the interpolation and extrapolation curves joined smoothly (Colwell et al. 2012). I chose to standardise the richness to a number of 15 individuals because 15 was less than three times the actual number of individuals in 98.5% of the plots; Colwell et al. (2012) specifically warn against extrapolating to a number of individuals that is more than three times the actual number. I used the function *iNEXT* of the package *iNEXT* (Hsieh *et al.*, 2015) in R (R core team, 2015) to calculate species richness.

To calculate species evenness, I used two of the most common evenness indices, Shannon and Simpson (Magurran, 2005). Both are based on a corresponding measures of species diversity, the Shannon and Simpson diversity indices, respectively (Maurer & McGill, 2011) and differ is their approach and properties (Smith & Wilson, 1996; Magurran, 2005; Jost, 2010). They notably differ in their dependency on species richness, the Shannon index being dependent while the Simpson index is not (Jost, 2010). Both indices were calculated using the function *diversity* in the package *vegan* (Oksanen *et al.*, 2015) in R.

To calculate the similarity of species composition in each successional plot with the composition of old-growth forests, I calculated two similarity indices, the Sørensen and Chao-Sørensen indices, for each pair of successional and oldgrowth forest plots of each study (Chao *et al.*, 2005). When a study considered several old-growth plots, I averaged the similarity across old-growth forest plots for each successional plot. The Sørensen index is an occurrence-based index: it compares the number of shared species to the mean number of species in a single plot (Jost *et al.*, 2011). For this reason, it gives a more local perspective than the Jaccard index, which compares the number of shared species to the number of species in the combined two plots. I calculated the Sørensen index using the function *betadiver* in the package *vegan* (Oksanen *et al.*, 2015) in R. The Chao-Sørensen index is an abundance-based index: it assesses the probability that two randomly chosen individuals (one in each plot considered) belong to one of the species shared between the two plots. I calculated this index using my own function in R.

I had two reasons for considering two indices. (1) While the occurrencebased Sørensen index allowed me to assess the recovery of a list of species during succession, the abundance-based Chao-Sørensen index allowed me to assess the recovery of the hierarchy of species (i.e. their relative abundance). The two indices give different information that can be applied respectively to restoration activities with different objectives. (2) Because the Chao-Sørensen index assesses the probability that two randomly chosen individuals belong to a shared species, if the shared species are abundant (or rare) in one or both plots, their probability to be randomly chosen will be higher (or respectively lower) so the index is expected to be higher (or respectively lower). On the other hand, the occurrence-based Sørensen index will not change. I therefore considered that the Chao-Sørensen index gives more weight to the common species. I acknowledge that another solution to study the difference in the recovery of common and rare species could have been to use the Horn and the Morisita-Horn indices, two abundance-based similarity indices giving more weight to the rare and common species, respectively (Jost et al., 2011). I have chosen not to use the Bray-Curtis index, which is another commonly used abundance-based index of similarity, because it is very sensitive to large differences in the number of individuals between the plots considered (Jost et al., 2011), which was likely to happen with the successional data that I studied.

Paper III: species and functional compositions

For paper III, I surveyed the woody vegetation regenerating under the crown of 90 isolated trees in pasture. I characterised these regeneration assemblages in terms of the number of individuals, number of species and functional composition. For the functional composition, I considered categorical functional traits (life form, dispersal syndrome⁸, leaf phenological habit, leaf compoundness and membership of the Leguminosae family) based on literature and on-line resources. I also characterized the isolated trees by their position in the landscape relative to nearby tree patches (in terms of distance and area of tree patches in buffers ranging from 100 to 1000 m around the focal isolated tree), using orthophotos analysed in ArcGIS. I also considered structural

⁸ For seed dispersal type, I considered two categories (zoochorous *versus* anemochorous and autochorous). For zoochorous species, the data available did not allow me to distinguish accurately between the different types of animal dispersers.

variables (*e.g.* height, crown area) and functional traits (seed dispersal type, leaf phenological habit and ability to fix nitrogen) of the isolated trees.

Paper IV: community functional composition

For paper IV, I surveyed all saplings present in 12 plots (5 x 50 m) located in forest of different successional ages. For each sapling, I measured the following leaf functional traits using standard protocols (Cornelissen *et al.*, 2003; Perez-Harguindeguy *et al.*, 2013):

- traits associated with resource economics strategies: specific leaf area (SLA), leaf density, leaf area (LA), leaf dry matter content (LDMC), petiole length, leaf thickness, and leaf nitrogen (LNC), phosphorous (LPC) and carbon concentration (LCC),
- traits associated with dry and hot conditions: leaf compoundness, leaf pubescence, leaf phenological habit, leaf density and LDMC,
- ➤ stoichiometric ratios: C/N and N/P,
- > membership of the Leguminosae family.

I then calculated two types of trait community mean values: (a) the specific mean using a trait value *per species* and *per plot* and therefore taking into account intraspecific variation of trait values and (b) the fixed mean using a mean trait value *per species* calculated *across plots* and therefore ignoring intraspecific variation (Lepš *et al.*, 2011).

3.2.3 Experimental approach

For the study of seed fate, I used an experimental approach to test the influence of tree cover in secondary forest on the fate of seeds dispersed underneath. I used a fully factorial design with four factors (four replicates for each combination of factors and 20 seeds per replicate) (Figure 10):

- site: two forest sites of different successional ages (14 and 30 years old) and an open area,
- > litter treatment: naturally accumulating litter and litter removal,
- predation treatment: with or without wire mesh protection against predation (holes in mesh are 1.27 x 1.27 cm),
- ➢ species of seeds.



Figure 10. Experimental design for the study of seed fate. Each seed cluster contains 20 seeds of a given species. All depots of a same germination plot have a different combination of species, litter and predation treatments.

I tested seven species that are common in the tropical dry forests of Guanacaste, have contrasting seed traits (seed dispersal type, size and shape) and belong to different families (though two species of the common Leguminosae family were tested) (Figure 11).



Figure 11. Seeds of the seven species tested in the study of seed fate. The approximate length of *Simarouba amara* seeds is 2 cm. Photos Géraldine Derroire.

For each seed cluster, I monitored, every two weeks over 12 weeks, the proportion of seeds having one of the following fates:

- ➢ germination,
- ➢ removal (seed no longer present in the cluster),
- > pathogen attack or predation *in situ*.

3.2.4 Environmental conditions

For paper II, I considered several environmental factors at the regional and site scales for each reviewed study. I tested their influence on the direction and rate of change in species diversity and composition during succession. These factors were:

- \succ the former land use of the site before the forest started to re-establish,
- the precipitation regime (mean annual precipitation and number of dry months),
- ➤ the availability of water (measured as the ratio between annual potential evapotranspiration and mean annual precipitation).

For paper IV and the study of seed fate, I measured a set of microclimatic factors expected to change during succession (those followed by an asterisk were considered only for the study of seed fate): air temperature (logged over several days), soil temperature* (repeated measurements at different times), canopy openness (measured using hemispherical photographs), red/far red light ratio* (repeated measurements at different times) and soil moisture (repeated measurements at different times) and soil moisture (repeated measurements at different times). For paper IV the measurements were taken by Bonnie Waring). For paper IV, I also considered soil physical and chemical factors (data collected by Powers *et al.*, 2009) that I assumed were not influenced by changes occurring during succession, to assess possible bias (caused by indirect relationships between the variables of interest due to their correlation with site environment), which is an inherent risk of the chronosequence approach.

3.3 Data analysis

3.3.1 Meta-analysis

For the meta-analysis conducted in paper II, I used statistical methods adapted to summarize the results of several studies. Meta-analyses allow the calculation of an overall effect size (in my study, rates of change in species diversity and composition indices). They combine the effect sizes calculated for each study while accounting for their unequal precision, by weighting them by their variance (Koricheva & Gurevitch, 2013). To explain the heterogeneity between

studies, I then carried out meta-regressions, a type of meta-analysis enabling to test the effect of covariates (also called moderators, in my study the duration of succession studied, the previous land use, the rainfall regime and water availability) on the magnitude of effect size to be tested (Mengersen *et al.*, 2013). All analyses were performed using the package *Metafor* (Viechtbauer, 2010) in R.

For paper I, it was impossible to conduct a meta-analysis because of the low number of studies meeting the inclusion criteria, the heterogeneity of their methodological approaches and the absence of reporting of the variance of the results in most cases.

3.3.2 Ordination

I used ordination methods for the variables that were multivariate (taxonomic composition for paper III and functional trait association for paper IV).

For paper III, I tested the effect of the attributes of isolated trees on the taxonomic composition of the regeneration assemblages using redundancy analysis (RDA). This is a canonical ordination technique that combines regression and principal component analysis (PCA) (Borcard *et al.*, 2011). It computes axes that best explain the variation of the response variable and expresses each axis as a linear combination of the explanatory variables (Legendre & Gallagher, 2001). I carried out a forward model selection procedure to identify the model with the best sets of explanatory variables (Borcard *et al.*, 2011).

For paper IV, I used the RLQ method to understand the relationship between environmental factors and functional traits. In this analysis, functional traits were considered together (a multi-trait approach) to understand plant strategies and trade-offs. RLQ is an ordination technique analysing the matrices of species distribution across plots, environmental factors of plots and species/individuals traits to find axes that maximize the squared cross-variance of linear combinations of environmental factors and traits (Dray *et al.*, 2014). The resulting coefficients were then presented graphically. I used two partial RLQs (Wesuls *et al.*, 2012), performed with the package *Ade4* (Dray & Dufour, 2007) in R, to separate the part of the trait-environment relationship that was due to intraspecific variation of trait values from these due to species turnover.

3.3.3 Regression

I used regression models (linear model, generalised linear models (GLM) or mixed-effects models, depending on the distribution of the response variable and the necessity to include a random factor), to test:

- the effect of the precipitation regime on the importance of positive and negative effects of established trees on regeneration (paper I),
- ➤ the influence of landscape factors and attributes of isolated trees on properties of the regeneration assemblage under their crowns (paper III),
- the effect of experimental treatments on the proportion of seed showing each recorded fate (study of seed fate),
- the changes in trait values with ontogeny and the effect of environmental factors on community weighted mean values for each functional trait separately (single-trait approach) (paper IV). I expressed the sum of squares obtained by linear regression of each community value with one or the other of the two types of community weighted means presented in section 3.2.1 as a percentage of the total sum of squares to get the contribution of species turnover and intraspecific variation to the response of communities to environmental factors, following the method of Lepš *et al.* (2011) and using the function *trait.flex.anova* that they coded for R (Lepš *et al.*, 2011).

Table 1 presents a summary of the methods used for each study.

Study	Study sites	Methodological	approach	Data analysis
Paper I	Tropical dry forests across the world	Review	-	Narrative review, regression
Paper II	Tropical dry forests across the world	Review	Taxonomic	Meta-analysis
Paper III	Pasture sites (Ahogados, Aromal, Lamentos; Costa Rica)	Observational	Taxonomic and trait-based	Ordination, regression
Paper IV	Successional forests (Santa Rosa; Costa Rica)	Observational	Trait-based	Ordination, regression
Study of seed fate	Open site and successional forests (Horizontes; Costa Rica)	Experimental	Taxonomic	Regression

Table 1. Overview of methods.

4 Main results and specific discussion

4.1 Effects of established trees on woody regeneration

This section presents and discusses the main results of paper I.

4.1.1 Positive versus negative interactions at each stage of regeneration

The reviewed studies showed the importance of the effects of trees establishing in the early stages of secondary succession on the subsequent regeneration of woody species. Observational studies provided support for potential net effects while experimental studies enabled understanding of the mechanisms underlying these effects. I discuss below the type of effect (positive or negative) and the possible underlying mechanisms for each stage of the process of regeneration: seed dispersal, survival of seeds, germination and seedling establishment, and I summarize them in Figure 12.

Effects on seed dispersal

The five studies researching the effects of established trees on seed dispersal showed an overall positive effect of the presence of trees. This effect is mediated by animal dispersers that are attracted by established trees (Vieira & Scariot, 2006b), resulting in a higher proportion of zoochorous species under tree canopies (Wydhayagarn *et al.*, 2009) and an increase in this proportion with succession (Opler *et al.*, 1980a).

Effects on post-dispersal survival of seeds

The three studies researching the effects of established trees on post-dispersal seed survival suggested that there can be both a positive direct effect, the canopy cover mitigating the conditions responsible for seed desiccation (Vieira & Scariot, 2006a), and an indirect effect mediated by seed predators. For the latter, there was evidence of both a decrease (Hammond, 1995) and an increase (Wassie *et al.*, 2010) in seed predation and removal under closed canopies.

Overall, the effect on post-dispersal seed survival is complex as it depends on the type of seed, the type of consumer and the successional stage. More studies, especially experiments, are needed to get a better understanding of these effects.

Effects on seed germination

Hardwick *et al.* (1997) found a higher germination rate under forest cover than in open areas, supporting a positive effect of established trees on seed germination. Experimental studies manipulating shading and watering suggest that this effect occurs via increased moisture conditions under tree cover (Hardwick *et al.*, 1997; McLaren and McDonald, 2003a; but compare Ray and Brown, 1995). However, the response of seed germination was species-specific (Hardwick *et al.*, 1997) and further studies are needed to identify the seed traits explaining the difference in species' responses.

Effects on seedling establishment

The reviewed studies suggested a positive effect of established trees on seedling survival, mediated by mitigation of desiccating conditions during the dry season, and an overall negative effect on seedling growth through limitation of light during the wet season (Cabin *et al.*, 2002a; McLaren & McDonald, 2003b; Wolfe & Van Bloem, 2012). However, the effects on seedling growth are complex: they depend on the successional stage (Hammond, 1995), the leaf phenology of both the established trees (Gerhardt, 1996) and the seedlings (Ray & Brown, 1995) and can be altered by changes in resource allocation by the seedlings in response to environmental variation (Rincón & Huante, 1993).



Figure 12. Mechanisms underlying the effect of trees that establish in the early stages of secondary succession on subsequent regeneration of woody plants in tropical dry forests. The plus, minus and zero symbols indicate positive, negative, and absence of effect, respectively. The letters on the arrows refer to the factors influencing the effect considered: (a) successional stage, (b) predator type, (c) leaf phenology of the established tree species, (d) density of canopy cover, (e) seed type, (f) regenerating species, and (g) intensity of shading.

4.1.2 Support for the stress gradient hypothesis

I used logistic regressions to assess the probability that a study would show evidence for a net positive/negative effect of established trees on regeneration as a function of the mean annual rainfall. I found that the probability of a positive effect on seedling survival decreased with increasing rainfall, while the probability of a negative effect increased (Figure 13). This result supports the stress gradient hypothesis, which predicts that facilitation is more important when environmental conditions are particularly harsh (Bertness & Callaway, 1994; Callaway, 1995; Callaway & Walker, 1997). However, my analysis did not support this hypothesis for seedling growth (p = 0.853 for net positive effect and p = 0.862 for net negative effect). These results are based on a relatively low number of studies; it would therefore be interesting to conduct these analyses again once more studies become available. The low number of studies for the other regeneration stages prevented the stress gradient hypothesis being tested for them.



Figure 13. Probability of observing a net positive effect or a net negative effect of established trees on seedling survival as a function of the mean annual rainfall. Models fitted with logistic regressions: positive effect (p = 0.008, R² = 0.43), negative effect $(p=0.009, R^2 = 0.56).$

4.2 Changes in species diversity and composition during succession

This section presents and discusses the main results of paper II.

4.2.1 Resilience of species richness and convergence of species composition

Using meta-analysis of studies of the taxonomic changes occurring during succession in tropical dry forest, I found a positive rate of change (the effect size shown by the meta-analysis) in standardised species richness with increasing successional age (Figure 14). This result shows a gradual accumulation of species that is consistent with the trends generally observed in tropical forests (Chazdon *et al.*, 2007; Letcher & Chazdon, 2009; Dent *et al.*, 2013). For the studies that included data for old-growth forests, species richness reached a level similar to that of old-growth forests in 60 years or less, which is consistent with the results of Martin *et al.* (2013) across tropical forests.

Interestingly, the results for evenness obtained with the Shannon evenness and the Simpson evenness indices differed: Shannon evenness index showed an overall significant increase with succession, whereas no significant trend was observed for Simpson evenness index. This difference might be due to the divergence in conceptual opinions about what evenness actually is, as reflected in the differences in the way it is calculated between the two indices (Tuomisto, 2012). While the Simpson evenness index is independent of species richness, the Shannon evenness index is not (Smith & Wilson, 1996; Magurran, 2005; Jost, 2010; Tuomisto, 2012). The trend observed for the Shannon evenness index with succession might therefore result from the trend observed for species richness.

The similarity of species composition with old-growth forests was found to increase with successional age in two separate analyses of the short- and longduration studies (Figure 14). However, the rate of change was slow and the similarity of successional forests with old-growth forests remained relatively low even after several decades. This result suggests that, although the species composition of secondary forests converges towards that of old-growth forests, there is substantial uncertainty about the recovery of species composition. The recovery of the exact composition of old-growth forests may never happen (Chazdon et al., 2007). However, the low levels of similarity of successional plots with old-growth forests should be interpreted with caution. The size of the sampling area is likely to be too small to encompass all species present in the studied communities, as shown by the fact that for most of the plots, the species accumulation curves do not reach a level value. Part of the dissimilarity between plots could therefore be due to species that are present in the whole communities but not in the plots. There are two possible solutions to this problem. (1) At the data collection stage, the plot size could have been chosen to be large enough to encompass the majority of the species present in the community (as indicated by a levelling of the species accumulation curves). Because I used secondary data for this meta-analysis, this solution was impossible for me to implement. (2) During the data analysis, I could have used a method for estimating the similarity that takes into account the unseen species, such as the abundance-based Chao-Sørensen estimator (Chao et al., 2005). However, the reason why I did not use this index is because there is no occurrence-based equivalent, to the best of my knowledge. Another result that needs to be interpreted with caution is the difference in rates of change of similarity indices for studies of different durations. There is only one study for the shorter duration and the higher rate of change for this study may be idiosyncratic.

Overall, my results show sufficient resilience of species richness to support the potential of secondary forests for long-term biodiversity conservation. Nonetheless, active restoration intervention may still be needed to recover the species composition of old-growth forests.



Figure 14. Estimated effect sizes (slope of the linear regression against successional age) of one meta-analysis (all datasets) and two meta-regressions (with previous land use and duration of succession studies) for a) species richness (standardised to 15 individuals) and b) the Chao-Sørensen species composition similarity with old-growth forests. The error bars indicate the 95% confidence intervals. N is the number of datasets for each case. Nfs is the fail-safe number (*i.e.* the number of datasets with null effect that need to be added to lose the significance of the estimated effect size at p = 0.05) for the significant effect sizes. The estimate is robust if Nfs > 5N+10 (indicated with an asterix). pdiff is the p-value for the significance of the difference between two modalities of a moderator. Heterogeneity between datasets is tested with the Cochran's Q test for meta-analysis and with the Q-E test for meta-regressions (a significant p-value indicates heterogeneity). Shifting means shifting cultivation.

4.2.2 Factors affecting the rates of changes

I expected a difference between pasture and shifting cultivation land uses in their influence on subsequent succession because of their different effects on the soil and remnant vegetation. However, I did not find any significant differences in the rates of change for the analysed indices between the two previous land uses (except for Shannon evenness index). Similarly, Norden *et al.* (2015) and Poorter *et al.* (2016) did not find any effects of previous land use on changes in forest structure and species density with succession. This absence of correlation can be explained by the heterogeneity within the two land use categories due to differences in the abundance of fire and the postabandonment disturbance regime.

The precipitation regime (mean annual precipitation and number of dry months) and the availability of water (ratio between annual potential evapotranspiration and mean annual precipitation) had no significant effect on the rate of change in the analysed indices. A possible reason is that these variables can have opposite effects on the importance of resprouting and facilitation (Callaway & Walker, 1997; McDonald *et al.*, 2010) and on the size of the species pool capable of tolerating low levels of water availability.

The absence of significant effects of the previous land-use, the precipitation regime and the availability of water should, however, be interpreted with caution because of the low number of studies included in the meta-analyses. It will be useful to conduct these analyses on a larger dataset, once more studies become available.

The heterogeneity of rate of change in species diversity and composition observed could be explained by factors that could not be tested in my metaanalysis, such as the position of successional forests in the landscape (Castillo-Nunez *et al.*, 2011; Chazdon, 2014; Arroyo-Rodriguez *et al.*, 2016), differences in soil properties (Powers *et al.*, 2009) and stochastic events (Norden *et al.*, 2015).

4.3 Isolated trees as nuclei of regeneration in pasture

This section presents and discusses the main results of paper III.

4.3.1 Effect of the surrounding landscape

Most of the properties of the regeneration assemblages below the crowns of isolated trees in pastureland (number of individuals, number of species and functional composition, but not life form) were correlated with at least one of the landscape factors analysed (position of the tree in the landscape relative to patches of trees, measured as a distance and as the area of tree patches in buffers of radius from 100 to 1000 m). These results support the important influence of the surrounding landscape on the re-establishment of forest on agricultural land (Chazdon, 2014). However, the effect of the landscape varied greatly between study sites, suggesting the importance of other landscape factors, such as the wider abundance of scattered trees or live-fences acting as stepping stones and corridors for disperser animals (Estrada *et al.*, 1993; Chazdon *et al.*, 2011).

4.3.2 Effect of isolated trees

Isolated trees differed in their influence on the regeneration assemblage establishing beneath their crown: I found that the functional composition of the regeneration assemblage was clearly associated with the attributes of the isolated trees (Figure 15). However, these attributes only poorly explained the taxonomic composition of the regeneration assemblages, which was very site

dependent. These results support the existence of a more general determinism and predictability of successional trajectories when considered through functional composition rather than taxonomic composition, in line with the results of several other studies of succession (Fukami *et al.*, 2005; Alvarez-Anorve *et al.*, 2012; Muniz-Castro *et al.*, 2012; Swenson *et al.*, 2012; Dent *et al.*, 2013; Purschke *et al.*, 2013).

The influence of attributes of isolated trees on the functional composition of the regeneration assemblage beneath their crowns can be explained by two mechanisms:

- Amelioration of environmental conditions: there was a lower proportion of individuals having traits associated with tolerance of drought and heat (deciduous and compound-leaved) in the regeneration assemblage under trees able to cast more shade (wider crowns and evergreen leaf phenology). Increased shade leads to a decrease in air temperature and an increase in air humidity and soil moisture (Rhoades *et al.*, 1998; Callaway, 2007), allowing less drought-adapted species to establish.
- Attraction of seed dispersal agents: the analysis predicted that, excluding individuals conspecific with the tree above, 1.3 times more zoochorous individuals regenerate under a zoochorous tree than under an anemochorous tree. This result supports the importance of the seed dispersal type of a tree for its capacity to attract seed dispersers (Da Silva *et al.*, 1996; Galindo-González *et al.*, 2003; de la Peña-Domene *et al.*, 2014).



Figure 15. Relationships between the attributes of isolated trees and the functional composition of the assemblages of woody plants regenerating beneath their crowns. The lines indicate all the significant covariates kept in the best models (attributes of isolated trees, boxes in the centre) with

the response variable of these models (properties of the regeneration assemblage, on the sides). The percentage of deviance explained by each model is given in bold below each response variable and the percentage of deviance explained by each isolated tree attribute in a model is given on the line.

4.4 Community assembly during succession

This section presents and discusses the main results of paper IV.

4.4.1 Changes in functional composition with succession

Multi-trait and single-trait analytical approaches both showed directional changes during succession driven by the associated changes in environmental conditions (Figure 16). The changes followed two main trends, the first being by far the most important:

- 1. A shift from conservative towards acquisitive leaf strategies and a decrease in the proportion of legumes: this trend was associated with decreases in the canopy openness and air temperature measured during the wet season, which is the main growing season. In early succession, with high evaporative demand, conservative leaf-trait strategies reduce leaf heat and transpiration (Poorter & Markesteijn, 2008), while legumes maintain a high rate of resource acquisition through efficient water use (Reyes-Garcia *et al.*, 2012).
- 2. A decrease in drought-coping strategies (leaf deciduousness and pubescence): this trend was associated with the decreases in canopy openness and air temperature measured during the dry season, during which drought-coping strategies reduce mortality (Poorter & Markesteijn, 2008).

Interestingly, these trends are consistent with other studies carried out in tropical dry forests in Costa Rica (Becknell & Powers, 2014; Buzzard *et al.*, 2015) but contrast with studies carried out in tropical dry forests in Mexico (Lebrija-Trejos *et al.*, 2010b; Lohbeck *et al.*, 2013), suggesting geographical variation of trends in functional composition during succession amongst the spectrum of tropical dry forests.



Figure 16. Overview of the changes in functional composition during secondary succession in tropical dry forest and their underlying environmental drivers. Prop. stands for proportion.

4.4.2 Importance of intraspecific variation of functional trait values

Partitioning of the variance of the whole dataset of leaf functional trait values across nested levels ranging from the leaf to the species showed that the variance of most traits was largely explained by between-species differences (on average 71.3% for non-chemical traits and 60.7% for chemical traits) (Figure 17). The amount of intraspecific variation was, however, not negligible. In paper IV, I consider this intraspecific variation, focusing on its importance in explaining changes in functional composition of communities in response to successional gradients and on intraspecific changes with ontogeny.



Figure 17. Partitioning of the variance of traits across nested levels of organisation (performed on 2539 leaves, 852 individual saplings, 69 species). Thickness stands for leaf thickness, Petiole for petiole length, LA for leaf area, SLA for specific leaf area, LDMC for leaf dry matter content,

Density for leaf density, LPC for leaf phosphorous concentration, LCC for leaf carbon concentration, LNC for leaf nitrogen concentration, and C/N and N/P are leaf stoichiometric ratios.

Intraspecific variation along the successional gradient

Both analytical approaches (multi- and single-trait) showed that the contribution of species turnover was more important than intraspecific variation in explaining the changes in community trait values during succession. However, the changes in community trait values that occur through intraspecific variation were strongly associated with the changes in environmental conditions during succession. This confirms the directionality of changes in trait values within species along environmental gradients found in other contexts (Lepš *et al.*, 2011; Bhaskar *et al.*, 2014; Carlucci *et al.*, 2015) and suggests a plastic response of trait values to environment. The response of community trait value through intraspecific variation was particularly important for morphological and chemical traits associated with leaf economics.

Intraspecific changes due to ontogeny

Five of the 11 continuous traits studied showed a directional change with ontogenic stage (using the proxy of sapling height divided by maximum height of the species): increase of leaf thickness, density, LDMC and LCC and decrease of SLA. This suggests a change from acquisitive to conservative strategies with ontogeny. If this trend extends beyond the short ontogenic window considered, as found by studies in other forest biomes (Thomas & Winner, 2002; Niklas & Cobb, 2008; Spasojevic *et al.*, 2014), this means that a tree growing in the successional forests studied would experience opposing changes due to succession (conservative to acquisitive) and ontogeny (acquisitive to conservative). Dynamic studies over larger ontogenic windows are needed to resolve the net outcome of these opposite changes.

4.5 The influence of changing abiotic and biotic environmental conditions during succession on the fate of seeds

This section presents and discusses preliminary results of the study of seed fate. I used GLMs to assess the influence of the site (intermediate-aged *versus* young secondary forest *versus* open area), litter treatment (with or without litter), predation treatment (with or without protection against predation) and species (seven) on two types of seed fate:

➤ seed removal, being the disappearance of a seed from the cluster, measured two weeks after the beginning of the experiment as a proportion of the number of seeds initially placed in the cluster (after two weeks, the difficulty of relocating seeds made the assessment of this fate unreliable),

seed germination, measured 12 weeks after the beginning of the experiment as the proportion of the number of seeds present at week two, which was the time of the first rain since the start of the experiment.

Characteristics of the seven studied species are presented in Appendix 1, characteristics of the three studied sites in Appendix 2 and the effect of the litter treatment and of the site on microclimatic conditions in Appendix 3.

4.5.1 Influence on seed removal

Model selection using the Akaike information criterion (AIC) resulted in a model with the site, the litter treatment, the predation treatment, the species and the interactions site * predation treatment, site * species, litter treatment * species and predation treatment * species (Table 2).

The presence of litter resulted in a large and significant decrease in seed removal, across species and for five of the seven species. This result is in line with the results of Cintra (1997) and suggests that leaf litter protects seeds by reducing the probability that they will be located by seed predators. Interestingly, the presence of litter was much more important in reducing seed removal than the treatment of protection from predation with a wire mesh, which was only significant in young forest and for the big-seeded species *Hymenaea courbaril*. The mesh of the wire used for this treatment (1.27 cm) excluded most vertebrates but not most insects that can remove small seeds (such as seeds of *Cochlospermum vitifolium* and *Stemmadenia obovata*, personal observation).

Seed removal was significantly higher in the intermediate-aged than in the young secondary forest and the open area when considered across species and for three species (*Astronium graveolens*, *Dalbergia retusa* and *Simarouba amara*) individually. This result is consistent with those of Wassie *et al.* (2010) and Souza-Silva *et al.* (2015), who found more predation under closed canopies, and suggests that there is a higher abundance of seed predators in intermediate-aged forests. Birds and rodents have been shown to frequent open sites less often (Da Silva *et al.*, 1996; Vieira & Scariot, 2006a). Consistently with the results of Vieira and Scariot (2006a), the effect of the site was dependent on the species: for *Hymenaea courbaril*, which is mainly predated by rodents (Asquith *et al.*, 1999), seed removal is significantly lower in the younger forest whereas for *Stemmadenia obovata*, mainly dispersed by birds, removal was significantly higher in the younger forest.

Although the responses to site and to litter and predation treatments was species-dependent, they do not seem to be related to seed size, presence of a hard coat, dispersal syndrome or successional status (Appendix 1). These traits are therefore inadequate proxies to enable understanding of the importance and type of predation and secondary dispersal, at least for the limited number of species that I studied.

Because I did not study the fate of the seeds after removal from the cluster, I cannot consider that the removed seeds have necessarily been predated. For some of the tested species, such as *Hymenaea courbaril*, scatter hoarding and seed burial by predators is known to be important and can lead to seed germination after secondary dispersal (Asquith *et al.*, 1999; Cole, 2009).

Table 2. Result of th the difference betwee presented indicate t shown as ***, $p < 0$ 3.2.3, inter. stands fe	te selected Gi en the propor he importanc $(01 \text{ as } **, p \leq 2)$ in intermedia	LM testing to rtion estimato ce of the tree ≤0.05 as * a tte-aged secc	he respo ed by thu atment o nd p > (nse of the prop e model for two effect. Significo 3.05 as ns (nor	vortion of se o categories ance tests at significant	eds that of each i 'e perfor	were removed reatment. Since med on the lin cant effects are	to the experiment a all the explanate ear-predictor scc shown in bold. Sp	al treatments. The rry variables are c ule. Effects with a pecies names are f	values presented ar ategorical, the value p-value < 0.001 ar șiven in full in sectio
Treatment Re ac	elative effect ross species	per specie: Astronium		Cochlospermun	1 Dalbergia		Нутепаеа	Simarouba	Stemmadenia	Thouinidium
Litter treatment (with overall	litter - withou -0.161 ***	ut litter)								
per species		-0.020	su	-0.373 ***	-0.550	***	-0.103 **	-0.022 ns	-0.164 *	-0.088 *
Predation treatment (v	with protection	n - without)								
overall	-0.026 ns									
per site										
inter.	-0.092 ns									
young	-0.037 *									
open	0.026 ns									
per species		-0.011	su	-0.046 ns	0.079	su (-0.113 **	-0.038 ns	0.011 ns	-0.010 ns
Site										
overall										
inter - young	0.194 ***									
inter - open	0.176 ***									
young - open	-0.019 ns									
per species										
inter - young		0.215	*	-0.039 ns	0.691	***	0.190 *	0.283 **	-0.409 ***	0.093 ns
inter - open		0.260	*	-0.100 ns	0.672	**	-0.043 ns	0.276 **	0.060 ns	0.088 ns
young - open		0.045	ns	-0.061 ns	-0.019	su (-0.233 *	-0.007 ns	0.469 ***	-0.005 ns

ed a valu 1 a alue ego. en i The th a tree tal ti ory ' ale. peci rime olan old the II the wown ed to i nce al linear ure sh eds tha 2f each e perfo Signif of se ries ts a rtion ateg ce tk ignij of the del fo t. Sign as ns the uted eatr and sting stim he t as ted GLM tr elec he p imp as of the ult o ? bei licai 2. Res ferenc uted i: 1 as *

4.5.2 Influence on seed germination

Model selection for seed germination retained site, litter treatment, predation treatment, species and the interactions site * litter treatment, litter * predation treatment and litter treatment * species (Table 3).

Site (two ages of secondary forest or open area) was the treatment with the largest significant effect on seed germination. There was a higher germination rate in the two forests sites compared with the open site, consistent with previous results in tropical dry forests (Hardwick *et al.*, 1997; Alvarez-Aquino *et al.*, 2014). This can be explained by the canopy shade reducing air and soil temperature and increasing air humidity (Appendices 2 and 3), as suggested by studies using artificial shading and watering (Hardwick *et al.*, 1997; McLaren & McDonald, 2003a). Moreover, this amelioration of microclimate can reduce seed mortality by desiccation (Vieira & Scariot, 2006a).

The presence of litter had significantly positive overall effect on seed germination. This can be explained by the significantly higher air humidity and lower soil temperature under the litter (Appendix 3). However, the effect of the presence of litter was dependent on the site: it was only significant in the younger forest. In the open site, the litter was very thin and composed only of dry thatch remnants of the previous year's herbaceous vegetation. Its low effect on microclimatic conditions is probably not important enough to mitigate the hot and dry conditions of this site (Appendices 2 and 3). On the contrary, in the intermediate-aged forest, the relatively high humidity and low temperature provided by the canopy can be favourable enough for germination so that litter does not have an additional effect. The effect of the presence of litter was also species-dependent: it was only significantly positive for *Dalbergia retusa*, *Simarouba amara* and *Thouinidium decandrum*. As for seed removal, the analysed seed traits, dispersal syndrome and successional status did not explain the species-specific response to litter treatment.

The protection against seed predation had a positive effect on seed germination, both overall and through its interaction with the litter treatment. This effect is likely to be due to the fact that the reduced seed removal leaves more seeds able to germinate. In the same way, part of the observed effect of the presence of litter on the germination rate may be due to an indirect effect on seed removal.

Treatment	Relative effect	
Litter treatment (with litter - without litter)		
overall	0.064	*
per site		
intermediate forest	0.019	ns
young forest	0.151	***
open site	0.028	ns
per predation treatment		
with protection	0.023	ns
without protection	0.088	**
per species		
Astronium graveolens	- 0.064	ns
Cochlospermum vitifolium	0.006	ns
Dalbergia retusa	0.187	**
Hymenaea courbaril	-0.008	ns
Simarouba amara	0.180	**
Stemmadenia obovata	0.011	ns
Thouinidium decandrum	0.257	***
Site		
overall: intermediate - young forest	0.020	ns
overall: intermediate forest - open site	0.204	***
overall: young forest - open site	0.184	***
Predation treatment (with protection - without)		
overall	0.103	***

Table 3. Result of the selected GLM testing the response of the proportion of seeds that germinated to the experimental treatments. The values presented are the difference between the proportion estimated by the model for two categories of each treatment. Since all the treatment variables are the values categorical, indicate presented the importance of the treatment effect. Significance tests are performed on the linearpredictor scale. Levels of significance are indicated as in Table 2.

5 General discussion

5.1 Predictability of successional trajectories

I found that successional trajectories in tropical dry forests are quite unpredictable when taxonomic composition is considered. In paper II, I showed that the convergence of species composition of successional tropical dry forests towards the composition of old-growth forests is slow and the similarity of composition between successional and old-growth forests remains low even after several decades of succession. In paper III, I showed that the species composition of the assemblages of woody species regenerating under the canopy of isolated trees in pasture was poorly explained by the attributes of these trees. On the contrary, attributes of isolated trees explained relatively well the functional composition of the regeneration assemblage. Paper IV showed the directional changes in functional trait values of sapling communities during succession. These results support the hypothesis of a higher predictability of successional trajectories when considered in term of functional traits than taxonomic composition. Previous studies also found evidence supporting this hypothesis: for example, Dent et al. (2013) showed that successional tree communities in tropical moist forests increased in similarity with old-growth forests when considering species' shade tolerance but not species composition. Fukami et al. (2005) found a divergence in species composition but a convergence of functional group composition over time in experimental grassland.

This higher predictability of functional than taxonomic composition during tropical dry forest succession can be explained by the overlap of niches and of functional trait distributions of species (Violle *et al.*, 2012). Indeed, even if it is well established that species differ in their environmental requirements (contrary to the hypothesis of functional equivalence proposed by the neutral theory of Hubbell, 2005), species niches are not totally disjunct and a high number of species can establish and thrive in the same environment. This is the

idea of functional redundancy of species that, although mainly developed for the effect of species on their environment and the consequences for ecosystem functioning and conservation (Walker, 1992; Diaz & Cabido, 2001), can also be viewed in term of species response to their environment (Diaz & Cabido, 2001). While the functional traits of plants in a community are filtered by the abiotic and biotic environment, the identity of the species that successfully establish in successional forests is locally dependent on their presence in the surrounding landscape and their ability to be dispersed, and on stochastic events affecting their dispersal and establishment.

The higher predictability of changes in functional than taxonomic composition highlights the interest of considering community assembly through the lens of functional composition to get a better understanding of its drivers. When doing so, it is important to go back to the definition of functional trait, i.e. a "feature measurable at the level of the individual" (Violle et al., 2007), and to take into account the variation of functional trait values within species, as an increasing number of ecologists advocate (Lepš et al., 2011; Violle et al., 2012; Laughlin & Messier, 2015)9. Increasing evidence for the importance of intraspecific variation of functional trait values compared with their interspecific variation shows the limit of an approach based on mean trait value per species (Hulshof & Swenson, 2010; Messier et al., 2010; Siefert et al., 2015). Mean values cannot take into account the plasticity of trait values within species in response to environmental conditions and therefore cannot inform on the importance of niche-overlap among species (Laughlin & Messier). Several studies have shown the importance of intraspecific variation of trait values in the response of communities to environmental gradients (Lepš et al., 2011; Carlucci et al., 2015), but the study presented in paper IV is the first, to the best of my knowledge, to do so for a successional gradient. It showed that, for some traits, the association between community trait values and environment was stronger (or even only detected) when considering intraspecific variation.

The study presented in paper IV showed that, besides their changes with environment, trait values also vary within species with ontogeny, as evidenced by previous studies (Thomas & Winner, 2002; Niklas & Cobb, 2008; Spasojevic *et al.*, 2014). To embrace the full range of trait values within species, appropriate sampling protocols are required (Violle *et al.*, 2012). Exhaustive sampling strategies such as the one I carried out for paper IV are time-consuming and therefore expensive (Baraloto *et al.*, 2010a). This generally result in a trade-off between the number of individuals per site and

^{9.} See also the post of Brian McGill on the blog *Dynamic ecology* (https://dynamicecology.wordpress.com/2015/07/01/steering-the-trait-bandwagon/)

species and the size and number of plots that can be studied. Sampling strategies therefore need to be carefully fitted to the processes and mechanisms targeted by the study and to the variability of the traits considered.

5.2 Difference in successional trajectories between tropical dry forests

Several of my results show or suggest that successional trajectories are not similar in all tropical dry forests. Here I discuss these results within the framework of the conceptual model presented in the introduction (Figure 1) and consider the influence of regional abiotic factors, landscape factors, past and present land uses and remnant vegetation on successional trajectories in tropical dry forests.

Tropical dry forests are encountered within a wide range of climatic conditions (see definition of tropical dry forests in section 1.5.1). This gradient, and especially climatic factors directly related to water availability, is expected to explain part of the heterogeneity of successional trajectories in tropical dry forests. Several of my results support this hypothesis. Paper I shows that the importance of positive and negative effects of established trees on the survival of seedlings beneath their crowns depends on the mean annual rainfall. The changes in plant strategies with succession observed for the tropical dry forests of Costa Rica (paper IV; Becknell and Powers, 2014; Buzzard et al., 2015) differ from those observed in tropical dry forests of Mexico (Lebrija-Trejos et al., 2010b; Lohbeck et al., 2013). These two areas are at the opposite ends of the tropical dry forest climate gradient, with mean annual rainfall of ~ 1700 mm in Costa Rica and 900 mm in the Mexican site. This suggests that the trends of change in functional strategies during succession can vary along a gradient of precipitation within the range of tropical dry forests, although studies in other sites are needed to substantiate this hypothesis. The results of paper II, on the contrary, do not show support for the influence of the climatic gradient on successional trajectories, as indicated by species diversity and composition, even when assessing water availability, which is a more integrative index of climate than precipitation. Species diversity and composition are indices that ultimately result from several interacting mechanisms. Studying the changes in mechanisms and processes other than the ones tested in papers II and IV, by Becknell et al. (2012) (change in aboveground biomass) and by McDonald et al. (2010) (relative importance of seed versus vegetative reproduction) would allow the climatic categorisation of tropical dry forests to be refined. Interestingly, paper I and McDonald et al. (2010) both identified a possible switching point around 1400 mm of mean

annual rainfall and Becknell *et al.* (2012) found that tropical dry forests with more than 1500 mm had a greater rate of biomass accumulation during succession compared with drier forests. Conversely, considering the gradient of climatic conditions from dry to wet tropical forests could be a good alternative for functional ecology to their categorical classification.

The influence of landscape factors, past and present land uses and remnant vegetation on successional trajectories needs to be studied further. Paper II did not find any influence of previous land use on the rates of change in species richness or composition during succession. Paper III found that the effects of landscape factors were complex and site-dependent. Landscape and land-use factors are difficult to measure and the complexity of their effects cannot easily be synthesised in simple quantitative or qualitative indices. For example, the reporting of past-land uses by the studies reviewed in paper II did not give any quantitative and standardised information on the use of fire or the intensity of the past land use (e.g. in terms of intensity of grazing or number of cultivation cycles). Paper III shows that not only the presence but also the attributes of isolated trees in pasture influence the regeneration of woody species. Scaling up the results of individuals studies to wider spatial or temporal scales is therefore problematic. Despite these methodological challenges, the inclusion of more detailed landscape and land use factors in analysis of succession would improve understanding of their influence on successional trajectories (Chazdon, 2003; Chazdon et al., 2007).

5.3 Implication for ecological restoration of tropical dry forests

When planning an ecological restoration project, the first step is to identify the objectives of the restoration and the opportunities and constraints of the site to be restored (Griscom & Ashton, 2011; Holl & Aide, 2011). In many cases, passive restoration, based only on natural regeneration, can be a valuable and relatively low-cost option when the objective is to recover a functional ecosystem with a high level of biodiversity. Paper II showed that secondary tropical dry forests have good resilience of their shrub and tree species richness and can reach levels of richness similar to those of old-growth forests in a few decades. Other studies have shown that this is also the case for aboveground biomass (Becknell *et al.*, 2012; Poorter *et al.*, 2016). In paper III, I found 126 species of trees, shrubs and lianas regenerating in three active pasture sites, which would be a promising starting point once the farming activity is abandoned. More generally, the *Área de Conservación de Guanacaste* where I carried out my fieldwork is a very good example of a successful restoration
programme mainly based on passive restoration (Janzen, 2002; Aronson *et al.*, 2005).

With respect to the opportunities and constraints of an area to be restored, it is important to assess the composition and abundance of the vegetation within and in the surroundings of the site. Paper III confirmed the importance of the presence of isolated trees within the site to facilitate regeneration (Guevara *et al.*, 1986; Schlawin & Zahawi, 2008; Griscom & Ashton, 2011). It also showed the importance of vegetation patches in the surroundings as seed sources and suggested the importance of scattered trees, living-fences and riparian vegetation to maintain connectivity within the landscape by acting as stepping stones and corridors for animal dispersers (Chazdon, 2014). Fire, grazing or the presence of vegetation limiting succession (such as invasive grasses planted in tropical pastures, Griscom & Ashton, 2011) are potential barriers to restoration. I have not studied these constraints in detail but I discuss them in paper II. When these constraints are present, intervention may be needed to remove them, as it is the case in the *Área de Conservación de Guanacaste* (Janzen, 2002).

With passive restoration, however, there is important uncertainty about the species composition of successional forests and their capacity to recover the full woody plant species composition of old-growth forests (paper II). If the objective of restoration is to re-establish a particular set of species, active restoration techniques (through sowing or planting) may be needed. Such intervention can also accelerate the re-establishment of the forest (Griscom & Ashton, 2011). In tropical dry forests, tree cover (continuous or in isolated trees or patches) has an overall positive effect on regeneration by attracting seed dispersers and mitigating harsh climatic conditions, and therefore increasing the establishment and survival of young woody plants (papers I and III and seed study). Species used for active restoration need to be carefully selected. Paper III showed that the attributes of the trees forming the first cover at the early stage of succession influence the composition of the assemblage of woody plants regenerating subsequently, hence suggesting a long-term legacy of the composition of the early stages. An approach based on functional traits can be valuable to guide the choice of species (Martínez-Garza et al., 2005; Ostertag et al., 2015). Paper IV suggests that species with conservative values of leaf traits can cope better with the open and hot environment of early succession, at least in the tropical dry forests of Costa Rica. Species with such leaf traits are therefore good candidates for active restoration. Legumes, which are abundant in tropical dry forests (Gentry, 1988), are also an interesting option: besides being able to thrive in the microclimatic conditions of the early stages of succession, many species are also able to fix nitrogen (Corby, 1988).

Selecting evergreen species has the advantage of providing shade even during the dry season and hence reducing the mortality risk for young woody plants establishing underneath (paper I). Paper III also showed that evergreen trees can foster the establishment of a larger number of species under their crowns. However, evergreen species are naturally less abundant in the early stages of succession and can be more sensitive to desiccating environmental conditions (paper IV).

Once the canopy cover is closed and the microclimate changes towards more shaded, cool and moist conditions, species with more acquisitive leaf trait values should start establishing. If this is not the case, it could be a sign of dispersal limitation for these species and enrichment planting might be needed.

6 Critical assessment and future research

6.1 Critical assessment of my PhD research

Two papers (I and II) are based on a systematic review of the scientific literature. The relatively low number of studies included in these reviews (29 studies in paper I and 13 datasets from 9 studies in paper II¹⁰) confirms that the tropical dry forest biome receives relatively less attention from scientists than other tropical forest biomes and that more studies are needed (Sanchez-Azofeifa et al., 2005; Vieira & Scariot, 2006b; Quesada et al., 2009). The qualitative and quantitative analyses conducted in papers I and II would need to be renewed once more studies become available. For paper I, the low number of studies was one factor preventing the use of a meta-analysis approach. The analysis conducted to test the stress gradient hypothesis is a vote-counting approach, an approach less powerful than a meta-analysis because it does not enable an overall effect-size to be calculated and the studies to be weighted by their precision (Koricheva & Gurevitch, 2014). Extending this analysis to the whole climatic range of tropical forests would likely have led to the inclusion of a larger number of studies enabling the use of a metaanalysis, but at the cost of reducing the paper's focus on tropical dry forests. For paper II, however, the number of studies included was sufficient to get very robust results (as shown by the fail-safe numbers). Papers I and II also showed an unbalanced distribution of the research effort between tropical dry forest regions. Sixty-nine per-cent of the studies included in paper I and 92% of the datasets included in paper II were conducted in the Neotropics, whereas

¹⁰ The inclusion of a study in the meta-analysis conducted in paper II was dependent on the availability of raw data. The number of studies that could potentially have been included, but for which I did not manage to contact the authors or I did not get the agreement to use the data, was roughly ten.

Miles *et al.* $(2006)^{11}$ estimate that 67% of tropical dry forests are located in this region. This is consistent with research showing an overall unbalanced distribution of ecological studies in the tropics (Stocks *et al.*, 2008; Powers *et al.*, 2011). The results of these two papers, and especially paper II, should be considered with caution for African and Asian dry forests where the size of the species pool, floristic composition, disturbance history and forest fauna differ (Corlett & Primack, 2006; Dexter *et al.*, 2015; Slik *et al.*, 2015).

Two main observational approaches are used to study succession in forests: the dynamic approach monitoring the changes occurring in permanent plots over time, and the chronosequence based on a space-for-time substitution (Chazdon, 2014). The long temporal scale of succession in forests makes the former approach more difficult and hence less commonly used in tropical forests (Chazdon et al., 2007; Chazdon, 2014). Several studies in this thesis are based on a chronosequence approach (papers II and IV, and the study of seed fate). This approach has potential biases. The environmental conditions of the study sites at the beginning of secondary succession and history of land use are usually difficult to know with accuracy, which results in a risk of wrongly attributing to an effect of succession differences that are simply due to variation amongst sites (Pickett, 1989; Chazdon, 2014). Moreover, there is possible confounding between site conditions and time of abandonment (Chazdon, 2003): for example, agricultural activities are likely to be abandoned in less fertile sites earlier than in more fertile ones. Several studies have used a combination of chronosequence and dynamic approaches (over less than 10 years) to test if the predictions resulting from analysis of chronosequences match those of the dynamic approach. Maza-Villalobos et al. (2011a) found that neither the trends observed for forest structure, nor for species diversity, with the chronosequence approach were consistent with those of the dynamic approach. Chazdon et al. (2007) showed that predictions related to forest structure were better than those of species diversity, while Mora et al. (2015) showed the opposite, and Lebrija-Trejos et al. (2010a) found that both were well predicted. To the best of my knowledge, no such studies have been conducted to test the validity of the chronosequence approach for changes in functional diversity or composition. Because of the higher predictability of changes in functional than taxonomic composition (see section 5.1), the chronosequence approach can be expected to perform better for changes in functional composition. Despites its limitations, the chronosequence approach is recognized as a useful and pragmatic approach for assessing long-term trajectories of succession (Quesada et al., 2009; Lebrija-Trejos et al., 2010a), as it is the case in paper II.

¹¹ See section 1.5.1 for details on the methods used in this study.

A strength of my field-based studies and a way to mitigate part of the limitation of the chronosequence approach is the measurement of environmental factors in successional plots. For paper IV and the study of seed fate, I measured microclimatic conditions in each successional plot (see section 3.2.4 for details). The changes in microclimatic conditions are often assumed but rarely measured in successional studies (but see Lebrija-Trejos et al., 2011). Measuring these factors allows a more direct test of their effects on the observed changes in plant communities with site successional age. For paper IV, I also included measurements of soil physical and chemical factors. These factors were generally not significantly correlated with successional age, which shows that there is limited risk of confounding between environmental conditions and successional age. For paper III, measuring microclimatic conditions under isolated trees would have enabled the effects of isolated tree attributes on regeneration through amelioration of environmental conditions to be tested more directly. However, because of the need to take repeated measurements at different times of the day and year to correctly assess microclimatic factors, this approach was impractical given the large number of isolated trees studied.

Soil factors, frequency and intensity of fire events, grazing and competition with exotic grasses are important factors affecting secondary succession (as reviewed in section 1.2.2) but are not a major focus of my study. Soil factors are considered in paper IV through the separation of the two forest types (which differed in soil factors) in the statistical analyses and the results showed the differences in their effects on community functional trait values of the sapling communities. In the study sites of paper IV and the study of seed fate, and more generally in the Área de Conservación de Guanacaste, efficient control of fire and exclusion of grazing are implemented as a way of allowing natural succession (Janzen, 2002) and are therefore not a major constraint, at least within the limits of the protected area. The differences observed in regeneration assemblages among the three pasture sites studied in paper III are likely to result partly from differences in grazing intensity, fire history and intensity of the competition with established grass vegetation. However, the high number of individuals and species surveyed (including a high proportion with a height exceeding that of the grass cover) suggests that the effect of these factors is not strong enough to inhibit woody plant regeneration.

The functional traits measured in paper IV are commonly used in ecological studies and their association with resource economics and tolerance of dry and hot conditions is well established (Wright *et al.*, 2004; Poorter & Markesteijn, 2008; Reich, 2014). However, they are all leaf morphological, chemical or phenological traits which are only indirectly related to the function of interest

(they are sometimes qualified as "soft traits", Violle et al., 2012). The measurement of physiological traits directly associated with the functions of interest for the study ("hard traits"), such as photosynthetic capacity and leaf dark respiration rate for resources economics, and C-isotope composition and leaf water potential for drought tolerance (Wright et al., 2004; Markesteijn et al., 2011; Perez-Harguindeguy et al., 2013), would have been valuable. I did consider measuring some of these traits. However, besides the logistical difficulties of accessing equipment and consumables in the field, the time required to measure these traits reliably was not compatible with the extensive sampling design of this study. For leaf phenological traits (included in papers III and IV), I used a coarse categorisation of leaf phenological habit based on expert knowledge. However, species range along a continuum of phenological behaviour (Borchert, 1994) and categorisation is a simplification. Accurately assessing leaf phenological behaviour requires regular (at least-monthly) monitoring of several individuals per species over several years, which was incompatible with the time frame of my PhD research. Such information is available for a number of species in my study area (Borchert, 1994), but not for enough of them to be useful for community studies.

The hypothesis of phylogenetic conservatism predicts that species conserve the ecological characteristics of their ancestors (Ackerly, 1999; Mouquet et al., 2012). Evolutionary close species are therefore expected to have closer values of traits than expected by chance (the phylogenetic signal). As a consequence, species should not be considered as independent for analysis of trait associations, and statistical methods taking into account the phylogenetic signal should be used, such as the phylogenetically independent contrast method (PIC, Felsenstein, 1985). However, I did not use such a method when looking at traits associations to assess plant strategies (appendix D in paper IV), which leads to a risk of confounding bias by evolutionary relationships between species. However, for 87 species of the same study area, Powers and Tiffin (2010) did not find any strong phylogenetic signal in functional trait data, once species of the Leguminosae family were excluded. Similarly, Pringle et al. (2011) did not find a phylogenetic signal in 30 species of Mexican tropical dry forests. At the community scale, most studies do not support the hypothesis of a correlation between functional and phylogenetic diversity (Garnier et al., 2016), suggesting a decoupling of functional and phylogenetic structures of communities.

Lastly, time constraints have imposed some trade-off in methodological choices. For example, I would have liked to be able to include more plots for paper IV to improve statistical power, but the necessity to sample a large number of individuals per species and per plot to assess the intraspecific

variation prevented that. For the experimental study of seed fate, using a larger number of species may have enabled trends associated with seed traits to be detected.

6.2 My short-term research priorities

Building on the results of my doctoral work, there are several research ideas that I would like to develop. In the immediate future, I plan to work on two studies for which I have already collected data during my PhD:

- > To study the influence of established trees and of changing environmental conditions during succession on the growth and survival of seedlings, I have set up an experiment similar to the study of seed fate. I planted seedlings of six species in the two successional forests and applied two treatments (presence or absence of litter and exclusion of root interactions through trenching). I monitored the survival and growth of these seedlings from 2013 to 2015. I measured microclimatic factors in every plot. In 2015, I measured a set of traits (leaf, stem and root) on several individuals per species and per plot. I plan to analyse these data with four main objectives: (1) identify the mechanisms through which established trees influence regeneration, (2) identify the establishment strategies of the studied species (in terms of the potential trade-off between growth and survival), (3) understand the link between functional traits and establishment strategies, considering variation between and within species, and (4) test for a possible effect of abiotic and biotic environmental conditions on intraspecific variation in functional trait values.
- For paper IV, I worked in permanent plots of the research group of Dr Jennifer Powers (University of Minnesota). For these twelve plots and six additional ones, Jennifer Powers' team have surveyed all adult trees and have data on the seed rain and soil seed bank. I also surveyed the saplings and seedlings. We now intend to analyse these data together to study the changes in species and functional composition (using basic traits such as dispersal syndrome and leaf phenological habit) across successional and life stage gradients with the objective of assessing the directionality of these changes and identifying the life stages (from seed dispersal to adult stages) that are the most critical for tree establishment.

In a relatively longer term, there are several ideas I would like to explore:

➢ Building on paper IV, I would like to further study the intraspecific variation of functional traits with ontogeny and environmental conditions and the importance of intraspecific variation for fitness of plant species and community assembly processes along environmental gradients.

- I would also like to go beyond the leaf economics spectrum and contribute to the timely question of the existence of a spectrum of strategies at the scale of whole plants (Baraloto *et al.*, 2010b; Reich, 2014). I would be interested to study the patterns of correlation of leaf, stem and root traits to understand the response of individual plants and tree communities to changes in their environment and the resulting effects on ecosystem processes.
- Expanding on papers II and IV and the work of Lohbeck and colleagues (Lohbeck *et al.*, 2013; Lohbeck *et al.*, 2015), I would like to use a meta-analysis approach to study if the directionality of change in resource acquisition strategies (considering the more commonly studied traits such as SLA and leaf phenological habit) during succession varies along the precipitation gradient in tropical forests. I would test the hypothesis that at the extreme dry end of the gradient of precipitation, the main axis of change is related to drought-coping strategies (Lebrija-Trejos *et al.*, 2010b; Lohbeck *et al.*, 2013; Lohbeck *et al.*, 2015), then moves to a change from conservative to acquisitive strategies at the upper end of the range of tropical dry forests (Becknell and Powers, 2014; Buzzard *et al.*, 2015 and paper IV) and finally switches to a change from acquisitive to conservative strategies in tropical wet forests (Lohbeck *et al.*, 2013; Lohbeck *et al.*, 2013; Lohbeck *et al.*, 2013; Lohbeck *et al.*, 2015.

6.3 Recommendations for future research

Besides the research plans mentioned in the previous subsection, my PhD research supports the need for further studies on several topics.

There is a general need to increase research on the ecology of tropical dry forests to better understand how they differ from other tropical forest biomes (Sanchez-Azofeifa *et al.*, 2005; Quesada *et al.*, 2009). A focus on less studied regions (Africa, Asia and the Pacific area) is especially important. Moreover, standardised protocols and multi-site research projects (Quesada *et al.*, 2009) would be especially valuable in enabling the effect of regional-scale factors (such as climate, and the plant and animal species pool) to be tested.

As mentioned in section 5.2, several factors likely to affect successional trajectories need to be tested further: landscape factors, past and present land uses and remnant vegetation. Multi-disciplinary approaches using field-based ecological studies, remote sensing and social science would be particularly

interesting (Sanchez-Azofeifa et al., 2005; Castillo-Nunez et al., 2011; Chazdon, 2014).

More studies assessing the relative contributions of deterministic and stochastic components in succession, such as the study of Norden *et al.* (2015) showing their equal contribution to successional dynamics in neotropical forests, are needed to inform theoretical models of succession. Vellend *et al.* (2014) critically reviewed appropriate methods to do so, such as the use of null models in observational studies or experimental approaches manipulating the order of colonisation of different species during succession, though the latter approach would be difficult for long-lived organisms such as trees.

importance of intraspecific trait variation The is increasingly acknowledged. As mentioned in the previous section, it is now important to assess the processes (environmental drivers and ontogeny) driving this variation (Lepš et al., 2011; Violle et al., 2012; Spasojevic et al., 2014), as well as the spatial scales at which they affect community assembly (Siefert et al., 2015; Spasojevic et al., 2016). Such studies will help to refine sampling protocols to study the changes in community-level trait values with environmental gradients. Lastly, distinguishing the contributions of genetic variation and phenotypic plasticity to intraspecific variation in functional trait values is important, not only for ecological theory but also for application to ecological restoration. A strong contribution of genetic variation would emphasise the importance of considering the provenance of propagules used for direct seeding or planting. On the other hand, if phenotypic plasticity is the main mechanism causing intraspecific variation, using species with a high plasticity could be valuable to mitigate unexpected changes in environmental conditions that could result from local disturbance or global climate change. To assess the relative importance of genetic variation and phenotypic plasticity, experimental studies are needed, including the use of long-established methods such as common garden and transplant experiments.

7 Conclusion

Tropical dry forests are fascinating environments, especially for the variety of their colours and ambiance changing with the seasons. They are also endangered ecosystems that have been threatened by human activities for a very long time. The increasing attention that they are receiving from scientists, managers and the general public is a positive sign for their future.

In the last two or three decades, studies of the ecology of tropical dry forests have led to the recognition of their specific characteristics and the need to move beyond the extrapolation to these forests of ecological models that have been developed in tropical moist and temperate forests. They have also shown heterogeneity among tropical dry forests. Successional trajectories, because of the complexity of the multiple interacting factors influencing them, still appear to be very context-dependent. Further research is therefore needed to identify the relative importance of these factors, especially regarding the role of the landscape and the legacies of past land uses, and to get a more unified understanding of the driving forces of succession across tropical dry forests.

Awareness-raising and involvement of the general public, and especially of the population living in surrounding areas, is of the utmost importance for the conservation and restoration of tropical dry forests. Initiatives such as the educational and ecotourism programs led by the *Área de Conservación de Guanacaste* are playing a great role in demonstrating the richness and fragility of these forests and encouraging the local population and visitors to contribute to their protection and restoration.

References

ACG (2016). Area de Conservación Guanacaste. www.acguanacaste.ac.cr [05-02-2016].

- Ackerly, D.D. (1999). Comparative plant ecology and the role of phylogenetic information. In: Press, M.C., Scholes, J.D. & Braker, M.G. (eds.) *Physiological plant ecology. The 39th symposium of the British Ecological Society held at the University of York 7–9 September 1998*. Oxford, UK: Blackwell Science, pp. 391-413.
- Albert, C.H., Thuiller, W., Yoccoz, N.G., Soudant, A., Boucher, F., Saccone, P. & Lavorel, S. (2010). Intraspecific functional variability: extent, structure and sources of variation. *Journal of Ecology*, 98(3), pp. 604-613.
- Alvarez-Anorve, M.Y., Quesada, M., Sanchez-Azofeifa, G.A., Avila-Cabadilla, L.D. & Gamon, J.A. (2012). Functional regeneration and spectral reflectance of trees during succession in a highly diverse tropical dry forest ecosystem. *American Journal of Botany*, 99(5), pp. 816-826.
- Alvarez-Aquino, C., Barradas-Sanchez, L., Ponce-Gonzalez, O. & Williams-Linera, G. (2014). Soil seed bank, seed removal, and germination in a seasonally dry tropical forest in Veracruz, Mexico. *Botanical Sciences*, 92(1), pp. 111-121.
- Aronson, J., Vallauri, D., Jaffré, T. & Lowry, P. (2005). Restoring dry tropical forests. In: Mansourian, S. & Vallauri, D. (eds.) Forest restoration in landscapes - beyond planting trees. New York, USA: Springer, pp. 285-290.
- Aronson, J. & Vallejo, R. (2008). Challenge for the practice of ecological restoration. In: Van Andel, J. & Aronson, J. (eds.) *Restoration ecology: the new frontier*. Washington, USA: Blackwell publishing, pp. 234-247.
- Arroyo-Rodriguez, V., Melo, F.P.L., Martinez-Ramos, M., Bongers, F., Chazdon, R.L., Meave, J.A., Norden, N., Santos, B.A., Leal, I.R. & Tabarelli, M. (2016). Multiple successional pathways in human-modified tropical landscapes: new insights from forest succession, forest fragmentation and landscape ecology research. *Biological Reviews*, doi: 10.1111/brv.12231.
- Asquith, N.M., Terborgh, J., Arnold, A.E. & Riveros, C.M. (1999). The fruits the agouti ate: Hymenaea courbaril seed fate when its disperser is absent. *Journal of Tropical Ecology*, 15(2), pp. 229-235.

- Bagley, J.C. & Johnson, J.B. (2014). Phylogeography and biogeography of the lower Central American Neotropics: diversification between two continents and between two seas. *Biological Reviews*, 89(4), pp. 767-790.
- Baraloto, C., Paine, C.E.T., Patiño, S., Bonal, D., Hérault, B. & Chave, J. (2010a). Functional trait variation and sampling strategies in species-rich plant communities. *Functional Ecology*, 24(1), pp. 208-216.
- Baraloto, C., Paine, C.E.T., Poorter, L., Beauchene, J., Bonal, D., Domenach, A.-M., Herault, B., Patino, S., Roggy, J.-C. & Chave, J. (2010b). Decoupled leaf and stem economics in rain forest trees. *Ecology Letters*, 13(11), pp. 1338-1347.
- Becknell, J.M., Kissing Kucek, L. & Powers, J.S. (2012). Aboveground biomass in mature and secondary seasonally dry tropical forests: a literature review and global synthesis. *Forest Ecology* and Management, 276, pp. 88-95.
- Becknell, J.M. & Powers, J.S. (2014). Stand age and soils as drivers of plant functional traits and aboveground biomass in secondary tropical dry forest. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 44(6), pp. 604-613.
- Bernard-Verdier, M., Navas, M.-L., Vellend, M., Violle, C., Fayolle, A. & Garnier, E. (2012). Community assembly along a soil depth gradient: contrasting patterns of plant trait convergence and divergence in a Mediterranean rangeland. *Journal of Ecology*, 100(6), pp. 1422-1433.
- Bertness, M.D. & Callaway, R. (1994). Positive interactions in communities. Trends in Ecology & Evolution, 9(5), pp. 191-193.
- Bhaskar, R., Dawson, T.E. & Balvanera, P. (2014). Community assembly and functional diversity along succession post-management. *Functional Ecology*, 28(5), pp. 1256-1265.
- Blackmore, M. & Vitousek, P.M. (2000). Cattle grazing, forest loss, and fuel loading in a dry forest ecosystem at Pu'u Wa'aWa'a Ranch, Hawai'i. *Biotropica*, 32(4a), pp. 625-632.
- Borcard, D., Gillet, F. & Legendre, P. (2011). Numerical ecology with R. New York, USA: Springer.
- Borchert, R. (1983). Phenology and control of flowering in tropical trees. Biotropica, 15(2), pp. 81-89.
- Borchert, R. (1994). Soil and stem water storage determine phenology and distribution of tropical dry forest trees. *Ecology*, 75(5), pp. 1437-1449.
- Borchert, R., Meyer, S.A., Felger, R.S. & Porter-Bolland, L. (2004). Environmental control of flowering periodicity in Costa Rican and Mexican tropical dry forests. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 13(5), pp. 409-425.
- Boukili, V.K.S. (2013). A Functional Trait Approach to Understanding Natural Regeneration and Restoration of Neotropical Forests. Diss.: University of Connecticut.
- Brodribb, T.J. & Holbrook, N.M. (2004). Leaf physiology does not predict leaf habit; examples from tropical dry forest. *Trees*, 19(3), pp. 290-295.
- Bruno, J.F., Stachowicz, J.J. & Bertness, M.D. (2003). Inclusion of facilitation into ecological theory. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 18(3), pp. 119-125.
- Bulleri, F., Bruno, J.F., Silliman, B.R. & Stachowicz, J.J. (2016). Facilitation and the niche: implications for coexistence, range shifts and ecosystem functioning. *Functional Ecology*, 30(1), pp. 70-78.

- Butterfield, B.J., Bradford, J.B., Armas, C., Prieto, I. & Pugnaire, F.I. (2016). Does the stress-gradient hypothesis hold water? Disentangling spatial and temporal variation in plant effects on soil moisture in dryland systems. *Functional Ecology*, 30(1), pp. 10-19.
- Buzzard, V., Hulshof, C.M., Birt, T., Violle, C. & Enquist, B.J. (2015). Re-growing a tropical dry forest: functional plant trait composition and community assembly during succession. *Functional Ecology*, doi: 10.1111/1365-2435.12579.
- Cabin, R.J., Weller, S.G., Lorence, D.H., Cordell, S. & Hadway, L.J. (2002a). Effects of microsite, water, weeding, and direct seeding on the regeneration of native and alien species within a Hawaiian dry forest preserve. *Biological Conservation*, 104(2), pp. 181-190.
- Cabin, R.J., Weller, S.G., Lorence, D.H., Cordell, S., Hadway, L.J., Montgomery, R., Goo, D. & Urakami, A. (2002b). Effects of light, alien grass, and native species additions on Hawaiian dry forest restoration. *Ecological Applications*, 12(6), pp. 1595-1610.
- Cabin, R.J., Weller, S.G., Lorence, D.H., Flynn, T.W., Sakai, A.K., Sandquist, D. & Hadway, L.J. (2000). Effects of long-term ungulate exclusion and recent alien species control on the preservation and restoration of a Hawaiian tropical dry forest. *Conservation Biology*, 14(2), pp. 439-453.
- Callaway, R.M. (1995). Positive interactions among plants. Botanical Review, 61(4), pp. 306-349.
- Callaway, R.M. (2007). *Positive interactions and interdependence in plant communities*. Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Springer.
- Callaway, R.M. & Walker, L.R. (1997). Competition and facilitation: a synthetic approach to interactions in plant communities. *Ecology*, 78(7), pp. 1958-1965.
- Calvo-Alvarado, J., McLennan, B., Sánchez-Azofeifa, A. & Garvin, T. (2009). Deforestation and forest restoration in Guanacaste, Costa Rica: Putting conservation policies in context. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 258(6), pp. 931-940.
- Carlucci, M.B., Debastiani, V.J., Pillar, V.D. & Duarte, L.D.S. (2015). Between- and within-species trait variability and the assembly of sapling communities in forest patches. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 26(1), pp. 21-31.
- Carrière, S.M., Andre, M., Letourmy, P., Olivier, I. & McKey, D.B. (2002a). Seed rain beneath remnant trees in a slash-and-burn agricultural system in southern Cameroon. *Journal of Tropical Ecology*, 18(3), pp. 353-374.
- Carrière, S.M., Letourmy, P. & McKey, D.B. (2002b). Effects of remnant trees in fallows on diversity and structure of forest regrowth in a slash-and-burn agricultural system in southern Cameroon. *Journal of Tropical Ecology*, 18(3), pp. 375-396.
- Castillo-Nunez, M., Sanchez-Azofeifa, G.A., Croitoru, A., Rivard, B., Calvo-Alvarado, J. & Dubayah, R.O. (2011). Delineation of secondary succession mechanisms for tropical dry forests using LiDAR. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 115(9), pp. 2217-2231.
- Ceccon, E., Huante, P. & Campo, J. (2003). Effects of nitrogen and phosphorus fertilization on the survival and recruitment of seedlings of dominant tree species in two abandoned tropical dry forests in Yucatan, Mexico. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 182(1-3), pp. 387-402.

- Ceccon, E., Sanchez, S. & Campo, J. (2004). Tree seedling dynamics in two abandoned tropical dry forests of differing successional status in Yucatan, Mexico: a field experiment with N and P fertilization. *Plant Ecology*, 170(2), pp. 277-285.
- Chao, A., Chazdon, R.L., Colwell, R.K. & Shen, T.-J. (2005). A new statistical approach for assessing similarity of species composition with incidence and abundance data. *Ecology Letters*, 8(2), pp. 148-159.
- Chave, J. (2004). Neutral theory and community ecology. Ecology Letters, 7(3), pp. 241-253.
- Chave, J., Coomes, D., Jansen, S., Lewis, S.L., Swenson, N.G. & Zanne, A.E. (2009). Towards a worldwide wood economics spectrum. *Ecology Letters*, 12(4), pp. 351-366.
- Chazdon, R.L. (2003). Tropical forest recovery: legacies of human impact and natural disturbances. *Perspectives in Plant Ecology, Evolution and Systematics*, 6(1-2), pp. 51-71.
- Chazdon, R.L. (2008). Beyond deforestation: restoring forests and ecosystem services on degraded lands. *Science*, 320(5882), pp. 1458-1460.
- Chazdon, R.L. (2014). Second growth the promise of tropical forest regeneration in an age of deforestation. Chicago, USA: University of Chicago Press.
- Chazdon, R.L., Harvey, C.A., Martinez-Ramos, M., Balvanera, P., Stoner, K.E., Schondube, J.E., Avila Cabadilla, L.D. & Flores-Hidalgo, M. (2011). Seasonally dry tropical forest biodiversity and conservation value in agricultural landscapes of mesoamerica. In: Dirzo, R., Young, H.S., Mooney, H.A. & Ceballos, G. (eds.) *Seasonally dry tropical forests: ecology and conservation*. Washington, USA: Island Press, pp. 195-220.
- Chazdon, R.L., Letcher, S.G., Van Breugel, M., Martinez-Ramos, M., Bongers, F. & Finegan, B. (2007). Rates of change in tree communities of secondary Neotropical forests following major disturbances. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 362(1478), pp. 273-289.
- Chesson, P. (2000). Mechanisms of maintenance of species diversity. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics, 31(1), pp. 343-366.
- Cintra, R. (1997). Leaf litter effects on seed and seedling predation of the palm *Astrocaryum murumuru* and the legume tree *Dipteryx micrantha* in Amazonian forest. *Journal of Tropical Ecology*, 13(5), pp. 709-725.
- Clark, J.A. & May, R.M. (2002). Taxonomic bias in conservation research. Science, 297(5579), pp. 191-192.
- Clements, F.E. (1916). *Plant succession: an analysis of the development of vegetation*. Washington, USA: Carnegie Institution of Washington.
- Cole, R.J. (2009). Postdispersal seed fate of tropical montane trees in an agricultural landscape, Southern Costa Rica. *Biotropica*, 41(3), pp. 319-327.
- Colwell, R.K., Chao, A., Gotelli, N.J., Lin, S.-Y., Mao, C.X., Chazdon, R.L. & Longino, J.T. (2012). Models and estimators linking individual-based and sample-based rarefaction, extrapolation and comparison of assemblages. *Journal of Plant Ecology*, 5(1), pp. 3-21.
- Connell, J.H. & Slatyer, R.O. (1977). Mechanisms of succession in natural communities and their role in community stability and organization. *American Naturalist*, 111(982), pp. 1119-1144.

- Corbin, J.D. & Holl, K.D. (2012). Applied nucleation as a forest restoration strategy. Forest Ecology and Management, 265, pp. 37-46.
- Corby, H.D.L. (1988). Type of rhizobial nodules and their distribution among leguminosae. *Kirkia*, 13(1), pp. 53-123.
- Corlett, R.T. & Primack, R.B. (2006). Tropical rainforests and the need for cross-continental comparisons. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 21(2), pp. 104-110.
- Cornelissen, J.H.C., Lavorel, S., Garnier, E., Diaz, S., Buchmann, N., Gurvich, D.E., Reich, P.B., ter Steege, H., Morgan, H.D., van der Heijden, M.G.A., Pausas, J.G. & Poorter, H. (2003). A handbook of protocols for standardised and easy measurement of plant functional traits worldwide. *Australian Journal of Botany*, 51(4), pp. 335-380.
- Cornwell, W.K., Schwilk, D.W. & Ackerly, D.D. (2006). A trait-based test for habitat filtering: convex hull volume. *Ecology*, 87(6), pp. 1465-1471.
- Cubiña, A. & Aide, T.M. (2001). The effect of distance from forest edge on seed rain and soil seed bank in a tropical pasture. *Biotropica*, 33(2), pp. 260-267.
- Cummins, K.W. (1974). Structure and function of stream ecosystems. BioScience, 24(11), pp. 631-641.
- D'Antonio, C.M. & Vitousek, P.M. (1992). Biological invasions by exotic grasses, the grass/fire cycle, and global change. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics*, 23(1), pp. 63-87.
- Da Silva, J.M.C., Uhl, C. & Murray, G. (1996). Plant succession, landscape management, and the ecology of frugivorous birds in abandoned amazonian pastures. *Conservation Biology*, 10(2), pp. 491-503.
- Daubenmire, R. (1972). Ecology of Hyparrhenia rufa (Nees) in derived savanna in North-Western Costa Rica. Journal of Applied Ecology, 9(1), pp. 11-23.
- de la Peña-Domene, M., Martínez-Garza, C., Palmas-Pérez, S., Rivas-Alonso, E. & Howe, H.F. (2014). Roles of birds and bats in early tropical forest restoration. *PLoS ONE*, 9(8), e104656.
- De Wilde, M., Buisson, E., Ratovoson, F., Randrianaivo, R., Carrière, S.M. & Lowry Ii, P.P. (2012). Vegetation dynamics in a corridor between protected areas after slash-and-burn cultivation in southeastern Madagascar. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment, 159, pp. 1-8.
- Dechnik-Vazquez, Y.A., Meave, J.A., Perez-Garcia, E.A., Gallardo-Cruz, J.A. & Romero-Romero, M.A. (2016). The effect of treefall gaps on the understorey structure and composition of the tropical dry forest of Nizanda, Oaxaca, Mexico: implications for forest regeneration. *Journal of Tropical Ecology*, 32(2), pp. 89-106.
- Dent, D.H., DeWalt, S.J. & Denslow, J.S. (2013). Secondary forests of central Panama increase in similarity to old-growth forest over time in shade tolerance but not species composition. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 24(3), pp. 530-542.
- Dent, D.H. & Wright, J.S. (2009). The future of tropical species in secondary forests: A quantitative review. *Biological Conservation*, 142(12), pp. 2833-2843.
- Dexter, K.G., Smart, B., Baldauf, C., Baker, T.R., Balinga, M.P.B., Brienen, R.J.W., Fauset, S., Feldpausch, T.R., Ferreira-Da Silva, L., Ilunga Muledi, J., Lewis, S.L., Lopez-Gonzalez, G., Marimon-Junior, B.H., Marimon, B.S., Meerts, P., Page, N., Parthasarathy, N., Phillips, O.L., Sunderland, T.C.H., Theilade, I., Weintritt, J., Affum-Baffoe, K., Araujo, A., Arroyo, L., Begne,

S.K., Carvalho-Das Neves, E., Collins, M., Cuni-Sanchez, A., Djuikouo, M.N.K., Elias, F., Foli, E.G., Jeffery, K.J., Killeen, T.J., Malhi, Y., Maracahipes, L., Mendoza, C., Monteagudo-Mendoza, A., Morandi, P., Oliveira-Dos Santos, C., Parada, A.G., Pardo, G., Peh, K.S.H., Salomão, R.P., Silveira, M., Sinatora-Miranda, H., Slik, J.W.F., Sonke, B., Taedoumg, H.E., Toledo, M., Umetsu, R.K., Villaroel, R.G., Vos, V.A., White, L.J.T. & Pennington, R.T. (2015). Floristics and Biogeography of Vegetation in Seasonally Dry Tropical Regions. *International Forestry Review*, 17(S2), pp. 10-32.

- Diamond, J.M. & Ross, M.S. (2016). Canopy gaps do not help establish pioneer species in a South Florida dry forest. *Journal of Tropical Ecology*, 32(2), pp. 107-115.
- Diaz, S. & Cabido, M. (2001). Vive la différence: plant functional diversity matters to ecosystem processes. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 16(11), pp. 646-655.
- Díaz, S., Kattge, J., Cornelissen, J.H.C., Wright, I.J., Lavorel, S., Dray, S., Reu, B., Kleyer, M., Wirth, C., Colin Prentice, I., Garnier, E., Bönisch, G., Westoby, M., Poorter, H., Reich, P.B., Moles, A.T., Dickie, J., Gillison, A.N., Zanne, A.E., Chave, J., Wright, S.J., Sheremet'ev, S.N., Jactel, H., Baraloto, C., Cerabolini, B., Pierce, S., Shipley, B., Kirkup, D., Casanoves, F., Joswig, J.S., Günther, A., Falczuk, V., Rüger, N., Mahecha, M.D. & Gorné, L.D. (2016). The global spectrum of plant form and function. *Nature*, 529(7585), pp. 167-171.
- Diaz, S., Lavorel, S., de Bello, F., Quétier, F., Grigulis, K. & Robson, T.M. (2007). Incorporating plant functional diversity effects in ecosystem service assessments. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences, 104(52), pp. 20684-20689.
- Dickinson, M.B., Hermann, S.M. & Whigham, D.F. (2001). Low rates of background canopy-gap disturbance in a seasonally dry forest in the Yucatan Peninsula with a history of fires and hurricanes. *Journal of Tropical Ecology*, 17(6), pp. 895-902.
- Dobson, A.P., Bradshaw, A.D. & Baker, A.J.M. (1997). Hopes for the future: restoration ecology and conservation biology. *Science*, 277(5325), pp. 515-522.
- Don, A., Schumacher, J. & Freibauer, A. (2011). Impact of tropical land-use change on soil organic carbon stocks – a meta-analysis. *Global Change Biology*, 17(4), pp. 1658-1670.
- Dray, S., Choler, P., Dolédec, S., Peres-Neto, P.R., Thuiller, W., Pavoine, S. & ter Braak, C.J.F. (2014). Combining the fourth-corner and the RLQ methods for assessing trait responses to environmental variation. *Ecology*, 95(1), pp. 14-21.
- Dray, S. & Dufour, A.-B. (2007). The ade4 package: Implementing the duality diagram for ecologists. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 22(4), pp. 1-20.
- Duarte, C.M., Sand-Jensen, K., Nielsen, S.L., Enríquez, S. & Agustí, S. (1995). Comparative functional plant ecology: rationale and potentials. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 10(10), pp. 418-421.
- Duarte, L.d.S., Hofmann, G.S., Dos Santos, M.M.G., Hartz, S.M. & Pillar, V.D. (2010). Testing for the influence of niche and neutral factors on sapling community assembly beneath isolated woody plants in grasslands. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 21(3), pp. 462-471.
- Dunn, R.R. (2004). Recovery of faunal communities during tropical forest regeneration. *Conservation Biology*, 18(2), pp. 302-309.

- Dupuy, J.M., Hernandez-Stefanoni, J.L., Hernandez-Juarez, R.A., Tetetla-Rangel, E., Lopez-Martinez, J.O., Leyequien-Abarca, E., Tun-Dzul, F.J. & May-Pat, F. (2012). Patterns and correlates of tropical dry forest structure and composition in a highly replicated chronosequence in Yucatan, Mexico. *Biotropica*, 44(2), pp. 151-162.
- Egler, F.E. (1954). Vegetation science concepts I. initial floristic composition, a factor in old-field vegetation development. *Vegetatio*, 4(6), pp. 412-417.
- Elliott, S., Navakitbumrung, P., Kuarak, C., Zangkum, S., Anusarnsunthorn, V. & Blakesley, D. (2003). Selecting framework tree species for restoring seasonally dry tropical forests in northern Thailand based on field performance. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 184(1-3), pp. 177-191.
- Esquivel, M.J., Harvey, C.A., Finegan, B., Casanoves, F. & Skarpe, C. (2008). Effects of pasture management on the natural regeneration of neotropical trees. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 45(1), pp. 371-380.
- Estrada, A., Coatesestrada, R. & Meritt, D. (1993). Bat species richness and abundance in tropical rainforest fragments and in agricultural habitats at Los Tuxtlas, Mexico. *Ecography*, 16(4), pp. 309-318.
- Ewel, J.J. (1977). Differences between wet and dry successional tropical ecosystems. *Geo-Eco-Trop*, 1(2), pp. 103-117.
- FAO (2010). Global Forest Ressources Assessment. Rome, Italy: FAO.
- Felsenstein, J. (1985). Phylogenies and the Comparative Method. *The American Naturalist*, 125(1), pp. 1-15.
- Ferguson, B.G., Vandermeer, J., Morales, H. & Griffith, D.M. (2003). Post-agricultural succession in El Peten, Guatemala. *Conservation Biology*, 17(3), pp. 818-828.
- Feyera, S., Beck, E. & Luttge, U. (2002). Exotic trees as nurse-trees for the regeneration of natural tropical forests. *Trees-Structure and Function*, 16(4), pp. 245-249.
- Finegan, B. (1984). Forest Succession. Nature, 312(5990), pp. 109-114.
- Finegan, B. & Delgado, D. (2000). Structural and floristic heterogeneity in a 30-year-old Costa Rican rain forest restored on pasture through natural secondary succession. *Restoration Ecology*, 8(4), pp. 380-393.
- Florentine, S.K. & Westbrooke, M.E. (2004). Restoration on abandoned tropical pasturelands do we know enough? *Journal for Nature Conservation*, 12(2), pp. 85-94.
- Fortunel, C., Paine, C.E.T., Fine, P.V.A., Kraft, N.J.B. & Baraloto, C. (2014). Environmental factors predict community functional composition in Amazonian forests. *Journal of Ecology*, 102(1), pp. 145-155.
- Frankie, G.W., Baker, H.G. & Opler, P.A. (1974). Comparative phenological studies of trees in tropical wet and dry forests in the lowlands of Costa Rica. *Journal of Ecology*, 62(3), pp. 881-919.
- Frankie, G.W., Haber, W.A., Vinson, S.B., Bawa, K.S., Ronchi, P.S. & Zamora, N. (2004). Flowering phenology and pollination systems diversity in the seasonal dry forest. In: Frankie, G.W., Mata, A. & Vinson, S.B. (eds.) *Biodiversity Conservation in Costa Rica*. Berkeley, USA, Los Angeles, USA, London, UK: University of California Press, pp. 17-29.

- Fukami, T., Bezemer, T.M., Mortimer, S.R. & van der Putten, W.H. (2005). Species divergence and trait convergence in experimental plant community assembly. *Ecology Letters*, 8(12), pp. 1283-1290.
- Furley, P.A. (2007). Tropical savannas and associated forests: vegetation and plant ecology. *Progress in Physical Geography*, 31(2), pp. 203-211.
- Galindo-González, J., Sosa, V.J. & Ammerman, L.K. (2003). Frugivorous bats in isolated trees and riparian vegetation associated with human-made pastures in a fragmented tropical landscape. *The Southwestern Naturalist*, 48(4), pp. 579-589.
- Ganade, G., Zanini, L. & Hübel, I. (2008). Facilitation versus competition in neotropical old-fields: a case study after *Pinus taeda* cultivation in Brazil. In: Myster, R.W. (ed.) *Post-Agricultural Succession in the Neotropics*. New York, USA: Springer, pp. 221-230.
- Garnier, E., Navas, M.L. & Grigulis, K. (2016). Plant functional diversity organism traits, community structure, and ecosystem properties. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.
- Garwood, N.C. (1983). Seed-germination in a seasonal tropical forest in Panama a community study. *Ecological Monographs*, 53(2), pp. 159-181.
- Gehring, C., Denich, M., Kanashiro, M. & Vlek, P.L.G. (1999). Response of secondary vegetation in Eastern Amazonia to relaxed nutrient availability constraints. *Biogeochemistry*, 45(3), pp. 223-241.
- Gentry, A.H. (1988). Changes in plant community diversity and floristic composition on environmental and geographical gradients. *Annals of the Missouri Botanical Garden*, 75(1), pp. 1-34.
- Gentry, A.H. (1995). Diversity and floristic composition of neotropical dry forests. In: Bullock, S.H. (ed.) Seasonally dry tropical forests. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press, pp. 146-194.
- Gerhardt, K. (1996). Effects of root competition and canopy openness on survival and growth of tree seedlings in a tropical seasonal dry forest. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 82(1-3), pp. 33-48.
- Gerhardt, K. & Hytteborn, H. (1992). Natural dynamics and regeneration methods in tropical dry forests - an introduction. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 3(3), pp. 361-364.
- Gillespie, T.W., Grijalva, A. & Farris, C.N. (2000). Diversity, composition, and structure of tropical dry forests in Central America. *Plant Ecology*, 147(1), pp. 37-47.
- Giraldo, J.P. & Holbrook, N.M. (2011). Physiological mechanisms underlying the seasonality of leaf senescence and renewal in seasonally dry tropical forest trees. In: Dirzo, R., Young, H.S., Mooney, H.A. & Ceballos, G. (eds.) *Seasonally dry tropical forests: ecology and conservation*. Washington, USA: Island Press, pp. 129-140.
- Gleason, H.A. (1926). The individualistic concept of plant association. Bulletin of the Torrey Botanical Club, 53(1), pp. 7-26.
- Gomes Reis Lopes, C., Nogueira Ferraz, E.M., Cardoso de Castro, C., Neves de Lima, E., Fraga dos Santos, J.M.F., Melo dos Santos, D. & de Lima Araujo, E. (2012). Forest succession and distance from preserved patches in the Brazilian semiarid region. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 271, pp. 115-123.
- González-Rivas, B., Tigabu, M., Castro-Marín, G. & Odén, P. (2009). Soil seed bank assembly following secondary succession on abandoned agricultural fields in Nicaragua. *Journal of Forestry Research*, 20(4), pp. 349-354.

- Gotsch, S.G., Powers, J.S. & Lerdau, M.T. (2010). Leaf traits and water relations of 12 evergreen species in Costa Rican wet and dry forests: patterns of intra-specific variation across forests and seasons. *Plant Ecology*, 211(1), pp. 133-146.
- Graham, L.L.B. & Page, S.E. (2012). Artificial bird perches for the regeneration of degraded tropical peat swamp forest: a restoration tool with limited potential. *Restoration Ecology*, 20(5), pp. 631-637.
- Gravel, D., Canham, C.D., Beaudet, M. & Messier, C. (2006). Reconciling niche and neutrality: the continuum hypothesis. *Ecology Letters*, 9(4), pp. 399-409.
- Grime, J.P. (1979). Plant strategies and vegetation processes. New York, USA: Wiley.
- Grime, J.P. (2006). Trait convergence and trait divergence in herbaceous plant communities: Mechanisms and consequences. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 17(2), pp. 255-260.
- Griscom, H.P. & Ashton, M.S. (2011). Restoration of dry tropical forests in Central America: A review of pattern and process. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 261(10), pp. 1564-1579.
- Griscom, H.P., Griscom, B.W. & Ashton, M.S. (2009). Forest regeneration from pasture in the dry tropics of panama: effects of cattle, exotic grass, and forested riparia. *Restoration Ecology*, 17(1), pp. 117-126.
- Grubb, P.J. (1977). The maintenance of species-richness in plant communities: the importance of the regeneration niche. *Biological Reviews*, 52(1), pp. 107-145.
- Guevara, S., Meave, J., Moreno-Casasola, P. & Laborde, J. (1992). Floristic composition and structure of vegetation under isolated trees in neotropical pastures. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 3(5), pp. 655-664.
- Guevara, S., Purata, S.E. & Van der Maarel, E. (1986). The role of remnant forest trees in tropical secondary succession. *Vegetatio*, 66(2), pp. 77-84.
- Hammond, D.S. (1995). Post-dispersal seed and seedling mortality of tropical dry forest trees after shifting agriculture, Chiapas, Mexico. *Journal of Tropical Ecology*, 11(2), pp. 295-313.
- Hardwick, K., Healey, J., Elliott, S., Garwood, N. & Anusarnsunthorn, V. (1997). Understanding and assisting natural regeneration processes in degraded seasonal evergreen forests in northern Thailand. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 99(1-2), pp. 203-214.
- Hardwick, K., Healey, J.R., Elliott, S. & Blakesley, D. (2004). Research needs for restoring seasonal tropical forests in Thailand: accelerated natural regeneration. *New Forests*, 27(3), pp. 285-302.
- Hartshom, J.S. (1983). Plants. In: Janzen, D.H. (ed.) Costa Rican natural history. Chicago, USA: The University of Chicago Press, pp. 118-157.
- He, Q., Bertness, M.D. & Altieri, A.H. (2013). Global shifts towards positive species interactions with increasing environmental stress. *Ecology Letters*, 16(5), pp. 695-706.
- Hobbs, R., Walker, L. & Walker, J. (2007). Integrating restoration and succession. In: Walker, L.R., Walker, J. & Hobbs, R.J. (eds.) *Linking restoration and ecological succession*. New York, USA: Springer, pp. 168-179.
- Hoffmann, W.A. (2000). Post-establishment seedling success in the Brazilian Cerrado: A comparison of savanna and forest species. *Biotropica*, 32(1), pp. 62-69.

- Hoffmann, W.A., Geiger, E.L., Gotsch, S.G., Rossatto, D.R., Silva, L.C.R., Lau, O.L., Haridasan, M. & Franco, A.C. (2012). Ecological thresholds at the savanna-forest boundary: how plant traits, resources and fire govern the distribution of tropical biomes. *Ecology Letters*, 15(7), pp. 759-768.
- Holbrook, N.M., Whitbeck, J.L. & Mooney, H.A. (1995). Drought responses of neotropical dry forest trees. In: Bullock, S.H. (ed.) *Seasonally dry tropical forests*. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press, pp. 243-276.
- Holdridge, L.R. (1967). Life zone ecology. San Jose, Costa Rica: Tropical Science Center.
- Holdridge, L.R., Grenke, W.C., Hatheway, W.H., Lang, T. & Tosi Jr, J.A. (1971). Forest environments in tropical life zones: a pilot study. Oxford, UK: Pergamon Press.
- Holl, K.D. (2012). Restoration of tropical forests. In: Van Andel, J. & Aronson, J. (eds.) Restoration ecology: the new frontier, second edition. Oxford, UK: Blackwell Publishing, pp. 103-114.
- Holl, K.D. & Aide, T.M. (2011). When and where to actively restore ecosystems? Forest Ecology and Management, 261(10), pp. 1558-1563.
- Holl, K.D., Zahawi, R.A., Cole, R.J., Ostertag, R. & Cordell, S. (2010). Planting seedlings in tree islands versus plantations as a large-scale tropical forest restoration strategy. *Restoration Ecology*, 19(4), pp. 470-479.
- Holtz, S. & Placci, G. (2005). Stimulating natural regeneration. In: Mansourian, S. & Vallauri, D. (eds.) Forest restoration in landscapes - beyond planting trees. New York, USA: Springer, pp. 250-256.
- Hooper, E.R. (2008). Factors affecting the species richness and composition of Neotropical secondary succession: a case study of abandoned agricultural land in Panama. In: Myster, R.W. (ed.) *Postagricultural succession in the Neotropics*. New York, USA: Springer, pp. 141-164.
- Hooper, E.R., Legendre, P. & Condit, R. (2004). Factors affecting community composition of forest regeneration in deforested, abandoned land in Panama. *Ecology*, 85(12), pp. 3313-3326.
- Hsieh, T.C., Ma, K.H. & Chao, A. (2015). iNEXT: iNterpolation and EXTrapolation for species diversity. http://chao.stat.nthu.edu.tw/blog/software-download.
- Hubbell, S.P. (2001). *The unified neutral theory of biodiversity and biogeography*. Princeton, USA: Princeton University Press.
- Hubbell, S.P. (2005). Neutral theory in community ecology and the hypothesis of functional equivalence. *Functional Ecology*, 19(1), pp. 166-172.
- Hughes, C.E., Pennington, R.T. & Antonelli, A. (2013). Neotropical Plant Evolution: Assembling the Big Picture. *Botanical Journal of the Linnean Society*, 171(1), pp. 1-18.
- Hulshof, C.M., Martínez-Yrízar, A., Burquez, A., Boyle, B. & Enquist, B.J. (2013). Plant functional trait variation in tropical dry forests: a review and synthesis. In: Sanchez-Azofeifa, A., Powers, J.S., Wilson Fernandes, G. & Quesada, M. (eds.) *Tropical dry forests in the Americas: ecology, conservation, and management*. Boca Raton, USA: CRC Press, pp. 133-144.
- Hulshof, C.M. & Swenson, N.G. (2010). Variation in leaf functional trait values within and across individuals and species: an example from a Costa Rican dry forest. *Functional Ecology*, 24(1), pp. 217-223.
- Huston, M. & Smith, T. (1987). Plant succession : life history and competition. *The American Naturalist*, 130(2), pp. 168-198.

Instituto Meteorológico Nacional de Costa Rica (2016). www.imn.ac.cr/inicio [05-02-16].

- IUCN (2015). The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. Version 2015-4. http://www.iucnredlist.org [24/02/16].
- Janzen, D.H. (1988). Tropical dry forests The most endangered major tropical ecosystem. In: Wilson, E.O. (ed.) *Biodiversity*. Washington, USA: National Academy of Sciences, Smithsonian Institution, pp. 130-137.
- Janzen, D.H. (2002). Tropical dry forest: Area de Conservación Guanacaste, northwestern Costa Rica. In: Perrow, M.R. & Davy, A.J. (eds.) *Handbook of ecological restoration, volume 2, restoration in practice*. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press, pp. 559-583.
- Janzen, D.H. & Liesner, R. (1980). Annotated checklist of lowland Guanacaste Province, Costa Rica, exclusive of grasses and nonvascular cryptograms. *Brenesia*, 18, pp. 15-90.
- Jenkins, C.N., Pimm, S.L. & Joppa, L.N. (2013). Global patterns of terrestrial vertebrate diversity and conservation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 110(28), pp. E2602-E2610.
- Jost, L. (2010). The Relation between Evenness and Diversity. Diversity, 2(2), pp. 207-232.
- Jost, L., Chao, A. & Chazdon, R.L. (2011). Composition similarity and β (beta) diversiy. In: Magurran, A.E. & Mc Gill, B.J. (eds.) *Biological diversity - frontiers in measurement and assessment*. New York, USA: Oxford University Press, pp. 66-84.
- Justiniano, M.J. & Fredericksen, T.S. (2000). Phenology of tree species in Bolivian dry forests. *Biotropica*, 32(2), pp. 276-281.
- Kammesheidt, L. (1999). Forest recovery by root suckers and above-ground sprouts after slash-andburn agriculture, fire and logging in Paraguay and Venezuela. *Journal of Tropical Ecology*, 15(2), pp. 143-157.
- Kassi N'Dja, J.K. & Decocq, G. (2008). Successional patterns of plant species and community diversity in a semi-deciduous tropical forest under shifting cultivation. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 19(6), pp. 809-812.
- Kennard, D.K., Gould, K., Putz, F.E., Fredericksen, T.S. & Morales, F. (2002). Effect of disturbance intensity on regeneration mechanisms in a tropical dry forest. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 162(2-3), pp. 197-208.
- Khurana, E. & Singh, J.S. (2001). Ecology of seed and seedling growth for conservation and restoration of tropical dry forest : a review. *Environmental Conservation*, 28(1), pp. 39-52.
- Kichenin, E., Wardle, D.A., Peltzer, D.A., Morse, C.W. & Freschet, G.T. (2013). Contrasting effects of plant inter- and intraspecific variation on community-level trait measures along an environmental gradient. *Functional Ecology*, 27(5), pp. 1254-1261.
- Koricheva, J. & Gurevitch, J. (2013). Place of meta-analysis among other methods of research synthesis. In: Koricheva, J., Gurevitch, J. & Mengersen, K. (eds.) *Handbook of meta-analysis in ecology and evolution*. Oxford, UK: Princeton University Press, pp. 3-13.
- Koricheva, J. & Gurevitch, J. (2014). Uses and misuses of meta-analysis in plant ecology. *Journal of Ecology*, 102(4), pp. 828-844.

- Laliberte, E. & Legendre, P. (2010). A distance-based framework for measuring functional diversity from multiple traits. *Ecology*, 91(1), pp. 299-305.
- Larkin, C.C., Kwit, C., Wunderle, J.M., Helmer, E.H., Stevens, M.H.H., Roberts, M.T.K. & Ewert, D.N. (2012). Disturbance type and plant successional communities in bahamian dry forests. *Biotropica*, 44(1), pp. 10-18.
- Laughlin, D.C. (2014). The intrinsic dimensionality of plant traits and its relevance to community assembly. *Journal of Ecology*, 102(1), pp. 186-193.
- Laughlin, D.C. & Messier, J. (2015). Fitness of multidimensional phenotypes in dynamic adaptive landscapes. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 30(8), pp. 487-496.
- Lavorel, S. & Garnier, E. (2002). Predicting changes in community composition and ecosystem functioning from plant traits: revisiting the Holy Grail. *Functional Ecology*, 16(5), pp. 545-556.
- Lawton, J.H. (1987). Are there assembly rules for successional communities? In: Gray, A.J., Crawley, M.J. & Edwards, P.J. (eds.) *Colonization, succession and stability*. Oxford, UK: Blackwell, pp. 225-244.
- Lebrija-Trejos, E., Bongers, F., Perez-Garcia, E.A. & Meave, J.A. (2008). Successional change and resilience of a very dry tropical deciduous forest following shifting agriculture. *Biotropica*, 40(4), pp. 422-431.
- Lebrija-Trejos, E., Meave, J.A., Poorter, L., Perez-Garcia, E.A. & Bongers, F. (2010a). Pathways, mechanisms and predictability of vegetation change during tropical dry forest succession. *Perspectives in Plant Ecology Evolution and Systematics*, 12(4), pp. 267-275.
- Lebrija-Trejos, E., Perez-Garcia, E.A., Meave, J.A., Bongers, F. & Poorter, L. (2010b). Functional traits and environmental filtering drive community assembly in a species-rich tropical system. *Ecology*, 91(2), pp. 386-398.
- Lebrija-Trejos, E., Perez-Garcia, E.A., Meave, J.A., Poorter, L. & Bongers, F. (2011). Environmental changes during secondary succession in a tropical dry forest in Mexico. *Journal of Tropical Ecology*, 27(5), pp. 477-489.
- Legendre, P. & Gallagher, E.D. (2001). Ecologically meaningful transformations for ordination of species data. *Oecologia*, 129(2), pp. 271-280.
- Lemenih, M. & Teketay, D. (2005). Effect of prior land use on the recolonization of native woody species under plantation forests in the highlands of Ethiopia. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 218(1-3), pp. 60-73.
- Lepš, J., de Bello, F., Smilauer, P. & Dolezal, J. (2011). Community trait response to environment: disentangling species turnover vs intraspecific trait variability effects. *Ecography*, 34(5), pp. 856-863.
- Letcher, S.G. & Chazdon, R.L. (2009). Rapid recovery of biomass, species richness, and species composition in a forest chronosequence in northeastern Costa Rica. *Biotropica*, 41(5), pp. 608-617.
- Letcher, S.G., Lasky, J.R., Chazdon, R.L., Norden, N., Wright, S.J., Meave, J.A., Pérez-García, E.A., Muñoz, R., Romero-Pérez, E., Andrade, A., Andrade, J.L., Balvanera, P., Becknell, J.M., Bentos, T.V., Bhaskar, R., Bongers, F., Boukili, V., Brancalion, P.H.S., César, R.G., Clark, D.A., Clark, D.B., Craven, D., DeFrancesco, A., Dupuy, J.M., Finegan, B., González-Jiménez, E., Hall, J.S.,

Harms, K.E., Hernández-Stefanoni, J.L., Hietz, P., Kennard, D., Killeen, T.J., Laurance, S.G., Lebrija-Trejos, E.E., Lohbeck, M., Martínez-Ramos, M., Massoca, P.E.S., Mesquita, R.C.G., Mora, F., Muscarella, R., Paz, H., Pineda-García, F., Powers, J.S., Quesada-Monge, R., Rodrigues, R.R., Sandor, M.E., Sanaphre-Villanueva, L., Schüller, E., Swenson, N.G., Tauro, A., Uriarte, M., van Breugel, M., Vargas-Ramírez, O., Viani, R.A.G., Wendt, A.L. & Bruce Williamson, G. (2015). Environmental gradients and the evolution of successional habitat specialization: a test case with 14 Neotropical forest sites. *Journal of Ecology*, 103(5), pp. 1276-1290.

- Lévesque, M., McLaren, K.P. & McDonald, M.A. (2011). Recovery and dynamics of a primary tropical dry forest in Jamaica, 10 years after human disturbance. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 262(5), pp. 817-826.
- Linares-Palomino, R., Oliveira-Filho, A. & Pennington, R.T. (2011). Neotropical seasonally dry forests: diversity, endemism, and biogeography of woody Plants. In: Dirzo, R., Young, H.S., Mooney, H.A. & Ceballos, G. (eds.) *Seasonally dry tropical forests: ecology and conservation*. Washington, USA: Island Press, pp. 3-21.
- Linares-Palomino, R., Pennington, R.T. & Bridgewater, S. (2003). The phytogeography of seasonally dry tropical forests in Equatorial Pacific South America. *Candollea*, 58(2), pp. 473-499.
- Lohbeck, M., Lebrija-Trejos, E., Martínez-Ramos, M., Meave, J.A., Poorter, L. & Bongers, F. (2015). Functional trait strategies of trees in dry and wet tropical forests are similar but differ in their consequences for succession. *PLoS ONE*, 10(4), e0123741.
- Lohbeck, M., Poorter, L., Lebrija-Trejos, E., Martinez-Ramos, M., Meave, J.A., Paz, H., Perez-Garcia, E.A., Romero-Perez, I.E., Tauro, A. & Bongers, F. (2013). Successional changes in functional composition contrast for dry and wet tropical forest. *Ecology*, 94(6), pp. 1211-1216.
- Lopezaraiza-Mikel, M., Quesada, M., Álvarez-Añorve, M., Ávila-Cabadilla, L., Martén-Rodríguez, S., Calvo-Alvarado, J., do Espírito-Santo, M.M., Fernandes, G.W., Sánchez-Azofeifa, A., Aguilar-Aguilar, M.d.J., Balvino-Olvera, F., Brandão, D., Contreras-Sánchez, J.M., Correa-Santos, J., Cristobal-Perez, J., Fernandez, P., Hilje, B., Jacobi, C., Fonseca-Pezzini, F., Rosas, F., Rosas-Guerrero, V., Sánchez-Montoya, G., Sáyago, R. & Vázquez-Ramírez, A. (2013). Phenological patterns of tropical dry forests along latitudinal and successional gradients in the Neotropics. In: Sanchez-Azofeifa, A., Powers, J.S., Wilson Fernandes, G. & Quesada, M. (eds.) *Tropical dry forests in the Americas: ecology, conservation, and management*. Boca Raton, USA: CRC Press, pp. 101-128.
- Lortie, C.J. & Callaway, R.M. (2006). Re-analysis of meta-analysis: support for the stress-gradient hypothesis. *Journal of Ecology*, 94(1), pp. 7-16.
- Lugo, A.E. (1997). The apparent paradox of reestablishing species richness on degraded lands with tree monocultures. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 99(1-2), pp. 9-19.
- Maass, J.M. (1995). Conversion of tropical dry forest to pasture and agriculture. In: Bullock, S.H. (ed.) Seasonally dry tropical forests. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press, pp. 399-422.
- Maass, J.M. & Burgos, A. (2011). Water dynamics at the ecosystem level in seasonally dry tropical forests. In: Dirzo, R., Young, H.S., Mooney, H.A. & Ceballos, G. (eds.) Seasonally dry tropical forests: ecology and conservation. Washington, USA: Island Press, pp. 141-156.

- Maass, J.M., Jordan, C.F. & Sarukhan, J. (1988). Soil erosion and nutrient losses in seasonal tropical agroecosystems under various management techniques. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 25(2), pp. 595-607.
- Maestre, F.T. & Cortina, J. (2004). Do positive interactions increase with abiotic stress? A test from a semi-arid steppe. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences*, 271(Suppl 5), pp. S331–S333.
- Maestre, F.T., Valladares, F. & Reynolds, J.F. (2005). Is the change of plant–plant interactions with abiotic stress predictable? A meta-analysis of field results in arid environments. *Journal of Ecology*, 93(4), pp. 748-757.
- Magurran, A.E. (2005). Measuring biological diversity. Oxford, UK: Blackwell.
- Markesteijn, L., Poorter, L. & Bongers, F. (2007). Light-dependent leaf trait variation in 43 tropical dry forest tree species. *American Journal of Botany*, 94(4), pp. 515-525.
- Markesteijn, L., Poorter, L., Bongers, F., Paz, H. & Sack, L. (2011). Hydraulics and life history of tropical dry forest tree species: coordination of species' drought and shade tolerance. *New Phytologist*, 191(2), pp. 480-495.
- Marod, D., Kutintara, U., Tanaka, H. & Nakashizuka, T. (2002). The effects of drought and fire on seed and seedling dynamics in a tropical seasonal forest in Thailand. *Plant Ecology*, 161(1), pp. 41-57.
- Martin, P.A., Newton, A.C. & Bullock, J.M. (2013). Carbon pools recover more quickly than plant biodiversity in tropical secondary forests. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 280(1773), 20132236.
- Martinez-Garza, C., Bongers, F. & Poorter, L. (2013). Are functional traits good predictors of species performance in restoration plantings in tropical abandoned pastures? *Forest Ecology and Management*, 303, pp. 35-45.
- Martínez-Garza, C., Peña, V., Ricker, M., Campos, A. & Howe, H.F. (2005). Restoring tropical biodiversity: Leaf traits predict growth and survival of late-successional trees in early-successional environments. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 217(2-3), pp. 365-379.
- Martins, A.M. & Engel, V.L. (2007). Soil seed banks in tropical forest fragments with different disturbance histories in southeastern Brazil. *Ecological Engineering*, 31(3), pp. 165-174.
- Maurer, B.A. & McGill, B.J. (2011). Measurement of species diversity. In: Magurran, A.E. & Mc Gill, B.J. (eds.) *Biological diversity - frontiers in measurement and assessment*. New York, USA: Oxford University Press, pp. 55-65.
- Maza-Villalobos, S., Balvanera, P. & Martinez-Ramos, M. (2011a). Early regeneration of tropical dry forest from abandoned pastures: contrasting chronosequence and dynamic approaches. *Biotropica*, 43(6), pp. 666-675.
- Maza-Villalobos, S., Lemus-Herrera, C. & Martinez-Ramos, M. (2011b). Successional trends in soil seed banks of abandoned pastures of a Neotropical dry region. *Journal of Tropical Ecology*, 27(1), pp. 35-49.
- McDonald, M.A., McLaren, K.P. & Newton, A.C. (2010). What are the mechanisms of regeneration post-disturbance in tropical dry forest? *Environmental Evidence*, www.environmentalevidence.org/SR37.html.

- McGill, B.J., Enquist, B.J., Weiher, E. & Westoby, M. (2006). Rebuilding community ecology from functional traits. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 21(4), pp. 178-185.
- McIntosh, R.P. (1999). The succession of succession: a lexical chronology. Bulletin of the Ecological Society of America, 80(4), pp. 256-265.
- McLaren, K.P. & McDonald, M.A. (2003a). The effects of moisture and shade on seed germination and seedling survival in a tropical dry forest in Jamaica. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 183(1-3), pp. 61-75.
- McLaren, K.P. & McDonald, M.A. (2003b). Seedling dynamics after different intensities of human disturbance in a tropical dry limestone forest in Jamaica. *Journal of Tropical Ecology*, 19(5), pp. 567-578.
- McNamara, S., Erskine, P.D., Lamb, D., Chantalangsy, L. & Boyle, S. (2012). Primary tree species diversity in secondary fallow forests of Laos. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 281, pp. 93-99.
- Mengersen, K., Schmid, C.H., Jennions, M.D. & Gurevitch, J. (2013). Statistical models and approaches to inference. In: Koricheva, J., Gurevitch, J. & Mengersen, K. (eds.) *Handbook of metaanalysis in ecology and evolution*. Oxford, UK: Princeton University Press, pp. 89-107.
- Messier, J., McGill, B.J. & Lechowicz, M.J. (2010). How do traits vary across ecological scales? A case for trait-based ecology. *Ecology Letters*, 13(7), pp. 838-848.
- Michalet, R. & Pugnaire, F.I. (2016). Facilitation in communities: underlying mechanisms, community and ecosystem implications. *Functional Ecology*, 30(1), pp. 3-9.
- Miles, L., Newton, A.C., DeFries, R.S., Ravilious, C., May, I., Blyth, S., Kapos, V. & Gordon, J.E. (2006). A global overview of the conservation status of tropical dry forests. *Journal of Biogeography*, 33(3), pp. 491-505.
- Millennium Ecosystem Assessment (2003). *Ecosystems and human well-being : a framework for assessment*. Washington, USA: Island Press.
- Molina Colon, S. & Lugo, A.E. (2006). Recovery of a subtropical dry forest after abandonment of different land uses. *Biotropica*, 38(3), pp. 354-364.
- Mooney, H.A., Bullock, S.H. & Medina, E. (1995). Introduction. In: Bullock, S.H. (ed.) Seasonally dry tropical forests. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press, pp. 1-8.
- Mora, F., Martínez-Ramos, M., Ibarra-Manríquez, G., Pérez-Jiménez, A., Trilleras, J. & Balvanera, P. (2015). Testing chronosequences through dynamic approaches: time and site effects on tropical dry forest succession. *Biotropica*, 47(1), pp. 38-48.
- Mouchet, M.A., Villeger, S., Mason, N.W.H. & Mouillot, D. (2010). Functional diversity measures: an overview of their redundancy and their ability to discriminate community assembly rules. *Functional Ecology*, 24(4), pp. 867-876.
- Mouquet, N., Devictor, V., Meynard, C.N., Munoz, F., Bersier, L.-F., Chave, J., Couteron, P., Dalecky, A., Fontaine, C., Gravel, D., Hardy, O.J., Jabot, F., Lavergne, S., Leibold, M., Mouillot, D., Münkemüller, T., Pavoine, S., Prinzing, A., Rodrigues, A.S.L., Rohr, R.P., Thébault, E. & Thuiller, W. (2012). Ecophylogenetics: advances and perspectives. *Biological Reviews*, 87(4), pp. 769-785.

- Muniz-Castro, M.A., Williams-Linera, G. & Martinez-Ramos, M. (2012). Dispersal mode, shade tolerance, and phytogeographical affinity of tree species during secondary succession in tropical montane cloud forest. *Plant Ecology*, 213(2), pp. 339-353.
- Murcia, C. (1997). Evaluation of Andean alder as a catalyst for the recovery of tropical cloud forests in Colombia. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 99(1–2), pp. 163-170.
- Murphy, P.G. & Lugo, A.E. (1986). Ecology of tropical dry forest. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics, 17, pp. 67-88.
- Murphy, P.G. & Lugo, A.E. (1995). Dry forests of Central America and the Caribbean. In: Bullock, S.H. (ed.) Seasonally dry tropical forests. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press, pp. 9-34.
- Myers, N., Mittermeler, R.A., Mittermeler, C.G., Da Fonseca, G.A.B. & Kent, J. (2000). Biodiversity hotspots for conservation priorities. *Nature*, 403, pp. 853-858.
- Newton, A.C. & Cantarello, E. (2015). Restoration of forest resilience: An achievable goal? New Forests, 46(5-6), pp. 645-668.
- Niklas, K.J. & Cobb, E.D. (2008). Evidence for "diminishing returns" from the scaling of stem diameter and specific leaf area. *American Journal of Botany*, 95(5), pp. 549-557.
- Noble, I.R. & Slatyer, R.O. (1980). The use of vital attributes to predict successional changes in plant communities subject to recurrent disturbances. *Plant Ecology*, 43(1), pp. 5-21.
- Norden, N., Angarita, H.A., Bongers, F., Martínez-Ramos, M., Granzow-de la Cerda, I., van Breugel, M., Lebrija-Trejos, E., Meave, J.A., Vandermeer, J., Williamson, G.B., Finegan, B., Mesquita, R. & Chazdon, R.L. (2015). Successional dynamics in Neotropical forests are as uncertain as they are predictable. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 112(26), pp. 8013-8018.
- Norden, N., Chazdon, R.L., Chao, A., Jiang, Y.H. & Vilchez-Alvarado, B. (2009). Resilience of tropical rain forests: tree community reassembly in secondary forests. *Ecology Letters*, 12(5), pp. 385-394.
- Oksanen, J., Blanchet, G.F., Kindt, R., Legendre, P., Minchin, P.R., O'Hara, R.B., Simpson, G.L., Solymos, P., Stevens, M.H.H. & Wagner, H. vegan: Community Ecology Package. http://CRAN.Rproject.org/package=vegan.
- Opler, P.A., Baker, H.G. & Gordon, W.F. (1980a). Plant reproductive characteristics during secondary succession in Neotropical lowland forest ecosystems. *Biotropica*, 12(2), pp. 40-46.
- Opler, P.A., Gordon, W.F. & Baker, H.G. (1980b). Comparative phenological studies of treelet and shrub species in tropical wet and dry forests in the lowlands of Costa Rica. *Journal of Ecology*, 68(1), pp. 167-188.
- Ostertag, R., Warman, L., Cordell, S. & Vitousek, P.M. (2015). Using plant functional traits to restore Hawaiian rainforest. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 52(4), pp. 805-809.
- Padilla, F.M. & Pugnaire, F.I. (2006). The role of nurse plants in the restoration of degraded environments. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 4(4), pp. 196-202.
- Palmer, M.A., Ambrose, R.F. & Poff, N.L. (1997). Ecological theory and community restoration ecology. *Restoration Ecology*, 5(4), pp. 291-300.
- Parker, G., Tinoco-Ojanguren, C., Martinez-Yrizar, A. & Maass, M. (2005). Seasonal balance and vertical pattern of photosynthetically active radiation within canopies of a tropical dry deciduous forest ecosystem in Mexico. *Journal of Tropical Ecology*, 21(3), pp. 283-295.

- Parrotta, J.A. (1995). Influence of overstory composition on understory colonization by native species in plantations on a degraded tropical site. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 6(5), pp. 627-636.
- Parrotta, J.A., Turnbull, J.W. & Jones, N. (1997). Catalyzing native forest regeneration on degraded tropical lands. *Forestry Ecology and Management*, 99(1-2), pp. 1-7.
- Pennington, R.T., Lavin, M. & Oliveira-Filho, A. (2009). Woody Plant Diversity, Evolution, and Ecology in the Tropics: Perspectives from Seasonally Dry Tropical Forests. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics*, 40(1), pp. 437-457.
- Pennington, R.T., Lewis, G.P. & Ratter, J.A. (2006). An Overview of the Plant Diversity, Biogeography and Conservation of Neotropical Savannas and Seasonally Dry Forests. In: Pennington, R.T., Lewis, G.P. & Ratter, J.A. (eds.) *Neotropical Savannas and Dry Forests: Plant Diversity, Biogeography, and Conservation*. Boca Raton, USA: CRC Press, pp. 1-29.
- Pennington, R.T., Prado, D.E. & Pendry, C.A. (2000). Neotropical seasonally dry forests and Quaternary vegetation changes. *Journal of Biogeography*, 27(2), pp. 261-273.
- Pereira, I.M., Andrade, L.A., Sampaio, E.V.S.B. & Barbosa, M.R.V. (2003). Use-history effects on structure and flora of Caatinga. *Biotropica*, 35(2), pp. 154-165.
- Pérez-García, E.A. & Meave, J.A. (2006). Coexistence and divergence of tropical dry forests and savannas in southern Mexico. *Journal of Biogeography*, 33(3), pp. 438-447.
- Perez-Harguindeguy, N., Diaz, S., Garnier, E., Lavorel, S., Poorter, H., Jaureguiberry, P., Bret-Harte, M.S., Cornwell, W.K., Craine, J.M., Gurvich, D.E., Urcelay, C., Veneklaas, E.J., Reich, P.B., Poorter, L., Wright, I.J., Ray, P., Enrico, L., Pausas, J.G., de Vos, A.C., Buchmann, N., Funes, G., Quetier, F., Hodgson, J.G., Thompson, K., Morgan, H.D., ter Steege, H., van der Heijden, M.G.A., Sack, L., Blonder, B., Poschlod, P., Vaieretti, M.V., Conti, G., Staver, A.C., Aquino, S. & Cornelissen, J.H.C. (2013). New handbook for standardised measurement of plant functional traits worldwide. *Australian Journal of Botany*, 61(3), pp. 167-234.
- Pickett, S.A. (1989). Space-for-time substitution as an alternative to long-term studies. In: Likens, G. (ed.) Long-Term Studies in Ecology. New York, USA: Springer pp. 110-135.
- Poorter, L., Bongers, F., Aide, T.M., Almeyda Zambrano, A.M., Balvanera, P., Becknell, J.M., Boukili, V., Brancalion, P.H.S., Broadbent, E.N., Chazdon, R.L., Craven, D., de Almeida-Cortez, J.S., Cabral, G.A.L., de Jong, B.H.J., Denslow, J.S., Dent, D.H., DeWalt, S.J., Dupuy, J.M., Durán, S.M., Espírito-Santo, M.M., Fandino, M.C., César, R.G., Hall, J.S., Hernandez-Stefanoni, J.L., Jakovac, C.C., Junqueira, A.B., Kennard, D., Letcher, S.G., Licona, J.-C., Lohbeck, M., Marín-Spiotta, E., Martínez-Ramos, M., Massoca, P., Meave, J.A., Mesquita, R., Mora, F., Muñoz, R., Muscarella, R., Nunes, Y.R.F., Ochoa-Gaona, S., de Oliveira, A.A., Orihuela-Belmonte, E., Peña-Claros, M., Pérez-García, E.A., Piotto, D., Powers, J.S., Rodríguez-Velázquez, J., Romero-Pérez, I.E., Ruíz, J., Saldarriaga, J.G., Sanchez-Azofeifa, A., Schwartz, N.B., Steininger, M.K., Swenson, N.G., Toledo, M., Uriarte, M., van Breugel, M., van der Wal, H., Veloso, M.D.M., Vester, H.F.M., Vicentini, A., Vieira, I.C.G., Bentos, T.V., Williamson, G.B. & Rozendaal, D.M.A. (2016). Biomass resilience of Neotropical secondary forests. *Nature*, 530(7589), pp. 211-214.
- Poorter, L. & Markesteijn, L. (2008). Seedling traits determine drought tolerance of tropical tree species. *Biotropica*, 40(3), pp. 321-331.

- Powers, J.S., Becknell, J.M., Irving, J. & Perez Aviles, D. (2009). Diversity and structure of regenerating tropical dry forests in Costa Rica: Geographic patterns and environmental drivers. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 258(6), pp. 959-970.
- Powers, J.S., Corre, M.D., Twine, T.E. & Veldkamp, E. (2011). Geographic bias of field observations of soil carbon stocks with tropical land-use changes precludes spatial extrapolation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 108(15), pp. 6318-6322.
- Powers, J.S. & Tiffin, P. (2010). Plant functional type classifications in tropical dry forests in Costa Rica: leaf habit versus taxonomic approaches. *Functional Ecology*, 24(4), pp. 927-936.
- Prieto, I., Roumet, C., Cardinael, R., Dupraz, C., Jourdan, C., Kim, J.H., Maeght, J.L., Mao, Z., Pierret, A., Portillo, N., Roupsard, O., Thammahacksa, C. & Stokes, A. (2015). Root functional parameters along a land-use gradient: evidence of a community-level economics spectrum. *Journal of Ecology*, 103(2), pp. 361-373.
- Pringle, E.G., Adams, R.I., Broadbent, E., Busby, P.E., Donatti, C.I., Kurten, E.L., Renton, K. & Dirzo, R. (2011). Distinct leaf-trait syndromes of evergreen and deciduous trees in a seasonally dry tropical forest. *Biotropica*, 43(3), pp. 299-308.
- Pullin, A.S. & Stewart, G.B. (2006). Guidelines for systematic review in conservation and environmental management. *Conservation Biology*, 20(6), pp. 1647-1656.
- Purschke, O., Schmid, B.C., Sykes, M.T., Poschlod, P., Michalski, S.G., Durka, W., Kühn, I., Winter, M. & Prentice, H.C. (2013). Contrasting changes in taxonomic, phylogenetic and functional diversity during a long-term succession: insights into assembly processes. *Journal of Ecology*, 101(4), pp. 857-866.
- Putz, F.E. & Redford, K.H. (2010). The importance of defining 'forest': tropical forest degradation, deforestation, long-term phase shifts, and further transitions. *Biotropica*, 42(1), pp. 10-20.
- Quesada, M., Sanchez-Azofeifa, G.A., Alvarez-Anorve, M., Stoner, K.E., Avila-Cabadilla, L., Calvo-Alvarado, J., Castillo, A., Espirito-Santo, M.M., Fagundes, M., Fernandes, G.W., Gamon, J., Lopezaraiza-Mikel, M., Lawrence, D., Morellato, L.P.C., Powers, J.S., Neves, F.D., Rosas-Guerrero, V., Sayago, R. & Sanchez-Montoya, G. (2009). Succession and management of tropical dry forests in the Americas: review and new perspectives. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 258(6), pp. 1014-1024.
- R core team R: A language and environment for statistical computing. -R Foundation for Statistical Computing. http://www.R-project.org/.
- Raunkiaer, C. (1934). *The life forms of plants and statistical plant geography*. Oxford, UK: The Clarendon Press.
- Ray, G.J. & Brown, B.J. (1994). Seed ecology of woody species in a Caribbean dry forest. *Restoration Ecology*, 2(3), pp. 156-163.
- Ray, G.J. & Brown, B.J. (1995). Restoring Caribbean dry forests evaluation of tree propagation techniques. *Restoration Ecology*, 3(2), pp. 86-94.
- Reich, P.B. (2014). The world-wide 'fast-slow' plant economics spectrum: a traits manifesto. *Journal of Ecology*, 102(2), pp. 275-301.

- Reich, P.B., Walters, M.B. & Ellsworth, D.S. (1997). From tropics to tundra: Global convergence in plant functioning. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 94(25), pp. 13730-13734.
- Reich, P.B., Wright, I.J., Cavender-Bares, J., Craine, J.M., Oleksyn, J., Westoby, M. & Walters, M.B. (2003). The evolution of plant functional variation: traits, spectra, and strategies. *International Journal of Plant Sciences*, 164(3 Suppl.), pp. S143-S164.
- Reis, A., Bechara, F.C. & Tres, D.R. (2010). Nucleation in tropical ecological restoration. *Scientia Agricola*, 67(2), pp. 244-250.
- Reyes-Garcia, C., Andrade, J.L., Sima, J.L., Us-Santamaria, R. & Jackson, P. (2012). Sapwood to heartwood ratio affects whole-tree water use in dry forest legume and non-legume trees. *Trees*, 26(4), pp. 1317-1330.
- Rhoades, C.C., Eckert, G.E. & Coleman, D.C. (1998). Effect of pasture trees on soil nitrogen and organic matter: Implications for tropical montane forest restoration. *Restoration Ecology*, 6(3), pp. 262-270.
- Rico-Gray, V. & Garcia-Franco, J.G. (1992). Vegetation and soil seed bank of successional stages in tropical lowland deciduous forest. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 3(5), pp. 617-624.
- Rincón, E. & Huante, P. (1993). Growth responses of tropical deciduous tree seedlings to contrasting light conditions. *Trees*, 7(4), pp. 202-207.
- Rodríguez-Echeverría, S., Lozano, Y.M. & Bardgett, R.D. (2016). Influence of soil microbiota in nurse plant systems. *Functional Ecology*, 30(1), pp. 30-40.
- Romero-Duque, L.P., Jaramillo, V.J. & Perez-Jimenez, A. (2007). Structure and diversity of secondary tropical dry forests in Mexico, differing in their prior land-use history. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 253(1-3), pp. 38-47.
- Root, R.B. (1967). The niche exploitation pattern of the blue-gray gnatcatcher. *Ecological Monographs*, 37(4), pp. 317-350.
- Roumet, C., Birouste, M., Picon-Cochard, C., Ghestem, M., Osman, N., Vrignon-Brenas, S., Cao, K.-f. & Stokes, A. (2016). Root structure–function relationships in 74 species: evidence of a root economics spectrum related to carbon economy. *New Phytologist*, doi 10.1111/nph.13828.
- Sampaio, A.B. (2007). Regeneration of seasonal deciduous forest tree species in long-used pastures in central Brazil. *Biotropica*, 39(5), pp. 655-659.
- Sampaio, A.B., Holl, K.D. & Scariot, A. (2007). Does restoration enhance regeneration of seasonal deciduous forests in pastures in central Brazil? *Restoration Ecology*, 15(3), pp. 462-471.
- Sampaio, E.V.S.B., Salcedo, I.H. & Kauffman, J.B. (1993). Effect of different fire severities on coppicing of caatinga vegetation in Serra Talhada, PE, Brazil. *Biotropica*, 25(4), pp. 452-460.
- Sanchez-Azofeifa, G.A., Kalacska, M., do Espirito-Santo, M.M., Fernandes, G.W. & Schnitzer, S. (2009). Tropical dry forest succession and the contribution of lianas to wood area index (WAI). *Forest Ecology and Management*, 258(6), pp. 941-948.
- Sanchez-Azofeifa, G.A., Quesada, M., Rodriguez, J.P., Nassar, J.M., Stoner, K.E., Castillo, A., Garvin, T., Zent, E.L., Calvo-Alvarado, J.C., Kalacska, M.E.R., Fajardo, L., Gamon, J.A. & Cuevas-Reyes, P. (2005). Research priorities for neotropical dry forests. *Biotropica*, 37(4), pp. 477-485.

- Sandor, M.E. & Chazdon, R.L. (2014). Remnant trees affect species composition but not structure of tropical second-growth forest. *PLoS ONE*, 9(1), e83284.
- Santiago-Garcia, R.J., Colon, S.M., Sollins, P. & Van Bloem, S.J. (2008). The role of nurse trees in mitigating fire effects on tropical dry forest restoration: a case study. *Ambio*, 37(7-8), pp. 604-608.
- Schlawin, J. & Zahawi, R.A. (2008). 'Nucleating' succession in recovering neotropical wet forests: The legacy of remnant trees. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 19(4), pp. 485-492.
- SER (2016). The SER International Primer on Ecological Restoration. http://www.ser.org/resources/resources-detail-view/ser-international-primer-on-ecologicalrestoration [29/02/16].
- Sergio, F., Newton, I., Marchesi, L. & Pedrini, P. (2006). Ecologically justified charisma: preservation of top predators delivers biodiversity conservation. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 43(6), pp. 1049-1055.
- Shiels, A.B. & Walker, L.R. (2003). Bird perches increase forest seeds on Puerto Rican landslides. *Restoration Ecology*, 11(4), pp. 457-465.
- Shono, K., Cadaweng, E.A. & Durst, P.B. (2007). Application of assisted natural regeneration to restore degraded tropical forestlands. *Restoration Ecology*, 15(4), pp. 620-626.
- Siefert, A., Violle, C., Chalmandrier, L., Albert, C.H., Taudiere, A., Fajardo, A., Aarssen, L.W., Baraloto, C., Carlucci, M.B., Cianciaruso, M.V., de L. Dantas, V., de Bello, F., Duarte, L.D.S., Fonseca, C.R., Freschet, G.T., Gaucherand, S., Gross, N., Hikosaka, K., Jackson, B., Jung, V., Kamiyama, C., Katabuchi, M., Kembel, S.W., Kichenin, E., Kraft, N.J.B., Lagerström, A., Bagousse-Pinguet, Y.L., Li, Y., Mason, N., Messier, J., Nakashizuka, T., Overton, J.M., Peltzer, D.A., Pérez-Ramos, I.M., Pillar, V.D., Prentice, H.C., Richardson, S., Sasaki, T., Schamp, B.S., Schöb, C., Shipley, B., Sundqvist, M., Sykes, M.T., Vandewalle, M. & Wardle, D.A. (2015). A global meta-analysis of the relative extent of intraspecific trait variation in plant communities. *Ecology Letters*, 18(12), pp. 1406-1419.
- Siles, G., Rey, P.J. & Alcántara, J.M. (2010). Post-fire restoration of Mediterranean forests: Testing assembly rules mediated by facilitation. *Basic and Applied Ecology*, 11(5), pp. 422-431.
- Simberloff, D. (2004). Community ecology: is it time to move on? (an American Society of Naturalists presidential address). *The American Naturalist*, 163(6), pp. 787-799.
- Singh, K.P. & Kushwaha, C.P. (2006). Diversity of flowering and fruiting phenology of trees in a tropical deciduous forest in India. *Annals of Botany*, 97(2), pp. 265-276.
- Skoglund, J. (1992). The role of seed banks in vegetation dynamics and restoration of dry tropical ecosystems. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 3(3), pp. 357-360.
- Slik, J.W.F., Arroyo-Rodríguez, V., Aiba, S.-I., Alvarez-Loayza, P., Alves, L.F., Ashton, P., Balvanera, P., Bastian, M.L., Bellingham, P.J., van den Berg, E., Bernacci, L., da Conceição Bispo, P., Blanc, L., Böhning-Gaese, K., Boeckx, P., Bongers, F., Boyle, B., Bradford, M., Brearley, F.Q., Breuer-Ndoundou Hockemba, M., Bunyavejchewin, S., Calderado Leal Matos, D., Castillo-Santiago, M., Catharino, E.L.M., Chai, S.-L., Chen, Y., Colwell, R.K., Robin, C.L., Clark, C., Clark, D.B., Clark, D.A., Culmsee, H., Damas, K., Dattaraja, H.S., Dauby, G., Davidar, P., DeWalt, S.J., Doucet, J.-L., Duque, A., Durigan, G., Eichhorn, K.A.O., Eisenlohr, P.V., Eler, E., Ewango, C., Farwig, N.,

Feeley, K.J., Ferreira, L., Field, R., de Oliveira Filho, A.T., Fletcher, C., Forshed, O., Franco, G., Fredriksson, G., Gillespie, T., Gillet, J.-F., Amarnath, G., Griffith, D.M., Grogan, J., Gunatilleke, N., Harris, D., Harrison, R., Hector, A., Homeier, J., Imai, N., Itoh, A., Jansen, P.A., Joly, C.A., de Jong, B.H.J., Kartawinata, K., Kearsley, E., Kelly, D.L., Kenfack, D., Kessler, M., Kitayama, K., Kooyman, R., Larney, E., Laumonier, Y., Laurance, S., Laurance, W.F., Lawes, M.J., Amaral, I.L.d., Letcher, S.G., Lindsell, J., Lu, X., Mansor, A., Marjokorpi, A., Martin, E.H., Meilby, H., Melo, F.P.L., Metcalfe, D.J., Medjibe, V.P., Metzger, J.P., Millet, J., Mohandass, D., Montero, J.C., de Morisson Valeriano, M., Mugerwa, B., Nagamasu, H., Nilus, R., Ochoa-Gaona, S., Onrizal, Page, N., Parolin, P., Parren, M., Parthasarathy, N., Paudel, E., Permana, A., Piedade, M.T.F., Pitman, N.C.A., Poorter, L., Poulsen, A.D., Poulsen, J., Powers, J., Prasad, R.C., Puyravaud, J.-P., Razafimahaimodison, J.-C., Reitsma, J., dos Santos, J.R., Roberto Spironello, W., Romero-Saltos, H., Rovero, F., Rozak, A.H., Ruokolainen, K., Rutishauser, E., Saiter, F., Saner, P., Santos, B.A., Santos, F., Sarker, S.K., Satdichanh, M., Schmitt, C.B., Schöngart, J., Schulze, M., Suganuma, M.S., Sheil, D., da Silva Pinheiro, E., Sist, P., Stevart, T., Sukumar, R., Sun, I.-F., Sunderand, T., Suresh, H.S., Suzuki, E., Tabarelli, M., Tang, J., Targhetta, N., Theilade, I., Thomas, D.W., Tchouto, P., Hurtado, J., Valencia, R., van Valkenburg, J.L.C.H., Van Do, T., Vasquez, R., Verbeeck, H., Adekunle, V., Vieira, S.A., Webb, C.O., Whitfeld, T., Wich, S.A., Williams, J., Wittmann, F., Wöll, H., Yang, X., Adou Yao, C.Y., Yap, S.L., Yoneda, T., Zahawi, R.A., Zakaria, R., Zang, R., de Assis, R.L., Garcia Luize, B. & Venticinque, E.M. (2015). An estimate of the number of tropical tree species. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 112(24), pp. 7472-7477.

- Slocum, M.G. & Horvitz, C.C. (2000). Seed arrival under different genera of trees in a neotropical pasture. *Plant Ecology*, 149(1), pp. 51-62.
- Smith, B. & Wilson, J.B. (1996). A Consumer's Guide to Evenness Indices. Oikos, 76(1), pp. 70-82.
- Sobrado, M.A. (1991). Cost-benefit relationships in deciduous and evergreen leaves of tropical dry forest species. *Functional Ecology*, 5(5), pp. 608-616.
- Sobral Griz, L.M. & Machado, I.C.S. (2001). Fruiting phenology and seed dispersal syndromes in caatinga, a tropical dry forest in the northeast of Brazil. *Journal of Tropical Ecology*, 17(2), pp. 303-321.
- Soliveres, S. & Maestre, F.T. (2014). Plant–plant interactions, environmental gradients and plant diversity: A global synthesis of community-level studies. *Perspectives in Plant Ecology, Evolution* and Systematics, 16(4), pp. 154-163.
- Souza-Silva, H., Machado, L.F., Silva, J.O. & Espirito-Santo, M.M. (2015). Consequences of habitat disturbance on seed fate of a Brazilian tropical dry forest tree *Cavanillesia arborea* (Malvaceae). *Austral Ecology*, 40(6), pp. 726-732.
- Sovu, Tigabu, M., Savadogo, P., Odén, P.C. & Xayvongsa, L. (2009). Recovery of secondary forests on swidden cultivation fallows in Laos. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 258(12), pp. 2666-2675.
- Spasojevic, M.J., Turner, B.L. & Myers, J.A. (2016). When does intraspecific trait variation contribute to functional beta-diversity? *Journal of Ecology*, 104(2), pp. 487-496.
- Spasojevic, M.J., Yablon, E.A., Oberle, B. & Myers, J.A. (2014). Ontogenetic trait variation influences tree community assembly across environmental gradients. *Ecosphere*, 5(10), p. 129.

- Stern, M., Quesada, M. & Stoner, K.E. (2002). Changes in composition and structure of a tropical dry forest following intermittent cattle grazing. *Revista De Biologia Tropical*, 50(3-4), pp. 1021-1034.
- Stocks, G., Seales, L., Paniagua, F., Maehr, E. & Bruna, E.M. (2008). The geographical and institutional distribution of ecological research in the tropics. *Biotropica*, 40(4), pp. 397-404.
- Swenson, N.G., Stegen, J.C., Davies, S.J., Erickson, D.L., Forero-Montana, J., Hurlbert, A.H., Kress, W.J., Thompson, J., Uriarte, M., Wright, S.J. & Zimmerman, J.K. (2012). Temporal turnover in the composition of tropical tree communities: functional determinism and phylogenetic stochasticity. *Ecology*, 93(3), pp. 490-499.
- Teketay, D. (1997). Seedling populations and regeneration of woody species in dry Afromontane forests of Ethiopia. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 98(2), pp. 149-165.
- Temperton, V.M. & Hobbs, R.J. (2004). The search for ecological assembly rules and its relevance to restoration ecology. In: Temperton, V.M., Hobbs, R., Nuttle, T. & Halle, S. (eds.) Assembly rules and restoration ecology: bridging the gap between theory and practice. London, UK: Island Press, pp. 34-54.
- Thaxton, J.M., Cordell, S., Cabin, R.J. & Sandquist, D.R. (2012). Non-native grass removal and shade increase soil moisture and seedling performance during Hawaiian dry forest restoration. *Restoration Ecology*, 20(4), pp. 475-482.
- Thomas, S.C. & Winner, W.E. (2002). Photosynthetic differences between saplings and adult trees: an integration of field results by meta-analysis. *Tree Physiology*, 22(2-3), pp. 117-127.
- Tilman, D. (2004). Niche tradeoffs, neutrality, and community structure: A stochastic theory of resource competition, invasion, and community assembly. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* of the United States of America, 101(30), pp. 10854-10861.
- Tilman, D., Knops, J., Wedin, D., Reich, P., Ritchie, M. & Siemann, E. (1997). The influence of functional diversity and composition on ecosystem processes. *Science*, 277(5330), pp. 1300-1302.
- Tuomisto, H. (2012). An updated consumer's guide to evenness and related indices. *Oikos*, 121(8), pp. 1203-1218.
- Valladares, F., Sanchez-Gomez, D. & Zavala, M.A. (2006). Quantitative estimation of phenotypic plasticity: bridging the gap between the evolutionary concept and its ecological applications. *Journal of Ecology*, 94(6), pp. 1103-1116.
- Van Schaik, C.P., Terborgh, J.W. & Wright, S.J. (1993). The phenology of tropical forests: adaptative significance and consequences for primary consumers. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics*, 24, pp. 353-377.
- Veenendaal, E.M., Torello-Raventos, M., Feldpausch, T.R., Domingues, T.F., Gerard, F., Schrodt, F., Saiz, G., Quesada, C.A., Djagbletey, G., Ford, A., Kemp, J., Marimon, B.S., Marimon-Junior, B.H., Lenza, E., Ratter, J.A., Maracahipes, L., Sasaki, D., Sonke, B., Zapfack, L., Villarroel, D., Schwarz, M., Yoko Ishida, F., Gilpin, M., Nardoto, G.B., Affum-Baffoe, K., Arroyo, L., Bloomfield, K., Ceca, G., Compaore, H., Davies, K., Diallo, A., Fyllas, N.M., Gignoux, J., Hien, F., Johnson, M., Mougin, E., Hiernaux, P., Killeen, T., Metcalfe, D., Miranda, H.S., Steininger, M., Sykora, K., Bird, M.I., Grace, J., Lewis, S., Phillips, O.L. & Lloyd, J. (2015). Structural, physiognomic and above-

ground biomass variation in savanna-forest transition zones on three continents - how different are co-occurring savanna and forest formations? *Biogeosciences*, 12(10), pp. 2927-2951.

- Vellend, M., Srivastava, D.S., Anderson, K.M., Brown, C.D., Jankowski, J.E., Kleynhans, E.J., Kraft, N.J.B., Letaw, A.D., Macdonald, A.A.M., Maclean, J.E., Myers-Smith, I.H., Norris, A.R. & Xue, X. (2014). Assessing the relative importance of neutral stochasticity in ecological communities. *Oikos*, 123(12), pp. 1420-1430.
- Viechtbauer, W. (2010). Conducting meta-analyses in R with the metafor package. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 36(3), pp. 1-48.
- Vieira, D.L.M., de Lima, V.V., Cassio Sevilha, A. & Scariot, A. (2008). Consequences of dry-season seed dispersal on seedling establishment of dry forest trees: should we store seeds until the rains? *Forest Ecology and Management*, 256(3), pp. 471-481.
- Vieira, D.L.M. & Scariot, A. (2006a). Effects of logging, liana tangles and pasture on seed fate of dry forest tree species in Central Brazil. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 230(1-3), pp. 197-205.
- Vieira, D.L.M. & Scariot, A. (2006b). Principles of natural regeneration of tropical dry forests for restoration. *Restoration Ecology*, 14(1), pp. 11-20.
- Vieira, D.L.M., Scariot, A. & Holl, K.D. (2006). Effects of habitat, cattle grazing and selective logging on seedling survival and growth in dry forests of Central Brazil. *Biotropica*, 39(2), pp. 269-274.
- Violle, C., Enquist, B.J., McGill, B.J., Jiang, L., Albert, C.H., Hulshof, C., Jung, V. & Messier, J. (2012). The return of the variance: intraspecific variability in community ecology. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 27(4), pp. 244-252.
- Violle, C., Navas, M.L., Vile, D., Kazakou, E., Fortunel, C., Hummel, I. & Garnier, E. (2007). Let the concept of trait be functional! *Oikos*, 116(5), pp. 882-892.
- Walker, B.H. (1992). Biodiversity and ecological redundancy. Conservation Biology, 6(1), pp. 18-23.
- Walker, L.R.R., Walker, J. & del Moral, R. (2007). Forging a new alliance between succession and restoration. In: Walker, L.R., Walker, J. & Hobbs, R.J. (eds.) *Linking restoration and ecological succession*. New York, USA: Springer, pp. 1-18.
- Wassie, A., Bekele, T., Sterck, F., Teketay, D. & Bongers, F. (2010). Postdispersal seed predation and seed viability in forest soils: implications for the regeneration of tree species in Ethiopian church forests. *African Journal of Ecology*, 48(2), pp. 461-471.
- Westoby, M. (1998). A leaf-height-seed (LHS) plant ecology strategy scheme. *Plant and Soil*, 199(2), pp. 213-227.
- Wesuls, D., Oldeland, J. & Dray, S. (2012). Disentangling plant trait responses to livestock grazing from spatio-temporal variation: the partial RLQ approach. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 23(1), pp. 98-113.
- Williams-Linera, G., Alvarez-Aquino, C., Hernandez-Ascencion, E. & Toledo, M. (2011). Early successional sites and the recovery of vegetation structure and tree species of the tropical dry forest in Veracruz, Mexico. *New Forests*, 42(2), pp. 131-148.
- Wolfe, B.T. & Van Bloem, S.J. (2012). Subtropical dry forest regeneration in grass-invaded areas of Puerto Rico: understanding why *Leucaena leucocephala* dominates and native species fail. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 267, pp. 253-261.

- Woodcock, P., Pullin, A.S. & Kaiser, M.J. (2014). Evaluating and improving the reliability of evidence syntheses in conservation and environmental science: A methodology. *Biological Conservation*, 176, pp. 54-62.
- Wright, I.J., Reich, P.B., Westoby, M., Ackerly, D.D., Baruch, Z., Bongers, F., Cavender-Bares, J., Chapin, T., Cornelissen, J.H.C., Diemer, M., Flexas, J., Garnier, E., Groom, P.K., Gulias, J., Hikosaka, K., Lamont, B.B., Lee, T., Lee, W., Lusk, C., Midgley, J.J., Navas, M.L., Niinemets, U., Oleksyn, J., Osada, N., Poorter, H., Poot, P., Prior, L., Pyankov, V.I., Roumet, C., Thomas, S.C., Tjoelker, M.G., Veneklaas, E.J. & Villar, R. (2004). The worldwide leaf economics spectrum. *Nature*, 428(6985), pp. 821-827.
- Wright, S.J., Kitajima, K., Kraft, N.J.B., Reich, P.B., Wright, I.J., Bunker, D.E., Condit, R., Dalling, J.W., Davies, S.J., Diaz, S., Engelbrecht, B.M.J., Harms, K.E., Hubbell, S.P., Marks, C.O., Ruiz-Jaen, M.C., Salvador, C.M. & Zanne, A.E. (2010). Functional traits and the growth-mortality trade-off in tropical trees. *Ecology*, 91(12), pp. 3664-3674.
- Wright, S.J. & Muller-Landau, H.C. (2006). The future of tropical forest species. *Biotropica*, 38(3), pp. 287-301.
- Wydhayagarn, C., Elliott, S. & Wangpakapattanawong, P. (2009). Bird communities and seedling recruitment in restoring seasonally dry forest using the framework species method in Northern Thailand. *New Forests*, 38(1), pp. 81-97.
- Young, T.P. (2000). Restoration ecology and conservation biology. *Biological Conservation*, 92(1), pp. 73-83.
- Young, T.P., Chase, J.M. & Huddleston, R.T. (2001). Community succession and assembly: comparing, contrasting and combining paradigms in the context of ecological restoration. *Ecological Restoration*, 19(1), pp. 5-18.
- Young, T.P., Petersen, D.A. & Clary, J.J. (2005). The ecology of restoration: historical links, emerging issues and unexplored realms. *Ecology Letters*, 8(6), pp. 662-673.
- Zahawi, R.A., Holl, K.D., Cole, R.J. & Reid, J.L. (2013). Testing applied nucleation as a strategy to facilitate tropical forest recovery. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 50(1), pp. 88-96.
- Zahawi, R.A., Reid, J.L. & Holl, K.D. (2014). Hidden costs of passive restoration. *Restoration Ecology*, 22(3), pp. 284-287.
Acknowledgments

I first wish to acknowledge the European Commission who is the main funder of my PhD research under the FONASO *Erasmus Mundus* Joint Doctorate Programme. I also thank the Coalbourn trust, SENRGY research fund from Bangor University, the Anna-Britta och Vadim Söderströms fund, the Foundation Fund for Forest Science and the Lennart Hjelm fund from SLU for additional financial support.

I feel extremely lucky for the quality of supervision I have received throughout my PhD studies. I am very grateful to John Healey, my main supervisor at Bangor University, for his guidance and support during all stages of my PhD, for challenging me to develop my ideas further and for patiently helping me improve my writing skills. I have learnt so much from him on all aspect of research. I am also grateful to Per Christer Odén and Mulualem Tigabu, my supervisors in SLU, for interesting discussions, and for welcoming me in their team and guiding me through the Swedish system.

I warmly thank Jennifer Powers from the University of Minnesota, as well as her team. Jennifer has trusted me and welcomed me in her extended group from the moment I met her. Thanks to that, I have benefited from an amazing scientific network during my stays in Costa Rica. I am grateful to the very resourceful Daniel Perez Aviles, her field manager, for his extremely valuable help in the field. A big thank you to all her students and post-docs and especially Leland Werden, Christina Smith and Bonnie Waring for interesting scientific discussions, for all the "back-scratching" and for the most needed drives to *El Cruce*. Catherine Hulshof from the University of Puerto Rico Mayagüez is also part of my field research family and I am very grateful for her advice and inspiration. All these people have made my time in Costa Rica an enjoyable and enriching experience.

I am very grateful to all the people who helped me with my fieldwork and especially the very knowledgeable botanist Roberto Espinoza (Lupo), the very committed and friendly Luis Cárdenas Valera, and Erick Calderon Morales, Stina Söderlund and Felipe Alberto Lopez. Thank you to Mario Ruiz Martinez, Ana Feliz and Pedro Alvarado Joares for keeping an eye on my experiment while I was away. A special mention to Beatrix, who, despites her old age, never let me down in the middle of nowhere.

Muchisimas gracias to the staff of the *Área de Conservación de Guanacaste* and especially of the experimental forest station of Horizontes. I am particularly grateful to Milena Gutierrez, Vanessa Brenes Hernández, Pedro Alvarado Joares, Rosbin Rojas Aguilar, Ronald Castro, Doña Maria, Manuela, Ana and the staff of the *brigada de recursos naturales* for their help and friendship. I also thank Roger Blanco and Maria Marta Chavarria Diaz for helping me obtain the required research permits.

I am happy to have been part of the great professional community of the School of Environment, Natural Resources and Geography at Bangor University. I thank all the researchers who kindly advised me, among them are James Gibbons, Morag McDonald, Katherine Steele, Ian Harris, Andrew Packwood and Robert Brook. Richard Coe, from the University of Reading and ICRAF, also provided essential help with statistics. I am very grateful to Helen Simpson, Sarah Chesworth and Jonathan Roberts from Bangor University for their help in the lab. I thank the administrative and support staff at Bangor University and SLU and especially to Alison Evans, Beverley James, Violeta Kokos and Miriam Sjödahl Jakobsen.

I would also like to thank the members of my evaluation committee, David Burslem, Saara DeWalt and Kyle Dexter, for their constructive comments on my thesis.

Some people have been very supportive and encouraging at different times of my professional life and have been instrumental in my decision to embark on this PhD journey. I am particularly grateful to Raphaël Manlay, Maya Leroy, Pierre Couteron, Mark Rayment, Aurélie and Annabelle.

Lastly, I thank all the people whose presence and support have been essential throughout my PhD studies. I feel so lucky and grateful for the friendship of people from all over the world with whom I spent some great moments with in the UK, Sweden, Costa Rica and France. *Un très grand merci* to my family for their affection and support and for understanding my "always-on-the-road" life choice. And an enormous thank you to my partner James whose advice, encouragement and love are so important to me.

Appendices

Species	Family	Seed mass (g) ¹	Seed size (mm ³) ¹	Presence of hard seed coat ¹	Dispersal mode ²	Successional status ³
Astronium graveolens	Anacardiaceae	0.013	13.6	no	anemochorous	late succession
Cochlospermum vitifolium	Bixaceae	0.023	25.4	yes	anemochorous	early succession
Dalbergia retusa	Leguminoseae	090.0	63.5	no	anemochorous	generalist
Hymenaea courbaril	Leguminoseae	3.205	2444.1	yes	zoochorous	mid to late succession
Simarouba amara	Simaroubaceae	0.855	1262.4	yes	zoochorous	mid to late succession
Stemmadenia obovata	Apocynaceae	090.0	69.7	no	zoochorous	mid to late succession
Thouinidium decandrum	Sapindaceae	0.062	181.6	no	anemochorous	generalist
1. Data from Géraldine Derroire (unpubli	shed), average of the measurem	ient of 25 seeds	i			

Appendix 1. Characteristics of the species tested in the study of seed fate.

2. Data provided by Powers and Tiffin (2010) supplemented by information obtained from local experts (Roberto Espinoza and Daniel Perez Avilez).

3. Data provided by Leland Werden and Jennifer Powers (unpublished) based on the analysis of species abundance in a chronosequence of 84 plots in the Área de Conservación de Guanacaste and in Palo Verde (Costa Rica).

	Sites		
	Open site	Young secondary forest	Intermediate-aged secondary forest
Successional age (years)	0	~ 15	~ 30
Proportion deciduous (%) ¹	NA	72.7 ^a	56.7 ^a
Proportion zoochorous (%) ¹	NA	37.4 ^a	70.9 ^a
Canopy height (m)	NA	15.2 ^a	17.8 ^a
Canopy openness (%)			
dry season	100 a	22 ^b	12 °
wet season	100 a	10 ^b	8 c
Air temperature (°C)			
dry season	29.4 ^a	28.1 ^b	26.7 °
wet season	26.7 ^a	25.2 ^b	24.5 °
Red : Far red ratio	0.56 ^a	0.38 ^b	0.77 ^a

Appendix 2. Characteristics of the three sites used in the study of seed fate.

1. Proportion of the basal area of all trees with $DBH \ge 1$ cm measured in a circular plot of 10 m radius centred on the seed plot.

All data from Géraldine Derroire (unpublished).

Letters indicate significantly different values (t-test, ANOVA or Kruskal-Wallis test and post-hoc test).

Appendix 3. Effect of litter treatment and site on microclimatic conditions in the study of seed fate.

	Effect of litter treatment	Effect of site ¹	Effect of interaction site * litter treatment
Soil temperature ²	p = 0.031 litter < no litter	p < 0.001 inter. < young < open	p = 0.898
Soil moisture ²	p = 0.459	p = 0.066	p = 0.331
Air humidity ²	p = 0.017 no litter < litter	p < 0.001 open < young < inter.	p = 0.846
Litter depth	p < 0.001 no litter < litter ³	p < 0.001 open ⁴ < young < inter.	p < 0.001

1. Inter. stands for intermediate-aged forest, young for young forest and open for open site.

2. Measured during the wet season.

3. This is a direct consequence of the litter removal.

4. In the open site, the litter is not woody plant leaf litter but rather dry material from the growth of herbaceous plants (thatch) in the previous year.

All data from Géraldine Derroire (unpublished).

p-values were obtained from two-way ANOVAs, results that are significant at p < 0.05 are shown in bold.